


~ ldidor Friedman
Seury L. Hoffman ~11 28
Bohn A. Foray A 45 54
‘Simon Axler




.

- Simon Axler

Telaer Friedman :
" Mbrenamaxier 98
. Ieidor 'Roicnbor; A 118
: iorru Por:hi.ng , 139
: Ahovul’or
- Dors Goodman’ \151.
Henry F Hoffman 160
; Dera Goodmin 1623

117

130

149

158

161

P
Gl S

\ o S :
138 v 3




PEOPLE s
Before:

. ' i i es HON. ALFRED J., TALLEY,
ABRAHAM AXLER, e
. smeovanm and & Jury.
Nz { B -and- g

IBIDOR ROSENBERG.

. s e T s e e T e e -

New York, December 13th, 1931. .

Indicted for burglary in the third degree.
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hﬂtthd as follows:

 DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. DONOHDE:

A I am the bou. 1 am one of the bosses myself. 4 'x.'

‘top floor. _ : i b

Q Mr. Friedman, what 18 your business? A Furrier.

Q An‘d'nrQ you _cngag'e'd‘in- the fur business on the 24th of \

 Qotober of this year? A Yes, sir.

'Q And with whou‘l A Myself. if o B
Q mt is the name of thée business? A Bohelnuok, rrtod-

man & Applebm

Q And what is your connection uth that firm, what do you “t

¥.

Q And whtt floor is your place of business onT A On tho

Q And where is the address? A 37th Stroot. 186.

Q And you ocoupy tho whole floor? A Yes, the whole floor.

Q VNow, do you _remenber Ootobeg 34th, 19217 A Yn. I olo i
up Octobver 22nd.

Q One moment. I did not ask yu that. Do y_du rmbo? that

date? A 1 remember it, yes. kel
Y

Bl

Q And what time did you leave your place of business that

day? A At four o'clock I oio“d up the place,because it was a

Q Now, please just anmswer my questions. You closed up the




m u a mtuy.
' q M. ‘- didn't uk you mu tho.t.
BY !B COURT:
‘ "Q lw.vu it around a holiday? A I am not wornng the
Q re11 the Distriot AStorney all about the holiday. I wans |
ﬁ to get tnf off your mind. 7 ‘
THE COURT:  He evidently is determined that we -uix
hear about the holiday. : b
‘"‘_A I olosed up Ootober 33nd and on the 31-1:'.1 am nct working, ti‘u
a hondny. and I got a.roundl on October 23:4. about eight o'oloot.
in the lomng. md the door is brokcn and. the lock is brokon.

nd there is a different lock on the door, from the police sta-

s a Al tion house.
- BY MR. DONOHUE: _
- ' ‘( Q Now, when you left there, the af‘termoon before the holi day, |
 just what did you do? Did you look up the place? A WHo, ino.

Q The afternoon before the holiday; I am speaking of np'; |
You tay you olosed the place? A Yes, I closed the place October
.M‘. atout foui o'oclook.

Q And di’d' you lock the door? A Yes.

Q What door? A Upstairs, and I put a lock on the door /




oT _ .um. and I cloud up on Ootom nu. '
it 1s a nouuy. &

¢ " i Q Now, I didn't ask you about that.
ll' m oomr:
B :. PR 8 ln.wu it around a holiday? A I am not working the
b % ‘*l“lv- :
. @ Tell the.Distriod Aftorney all about the bolidey. T hest
10! to get that of! your ’nd. g :
THE COURT: He evidently is determined that we -uu
hear cboht the holiday.
A 1 oloud up October 33nd nnd on the 3lst I am nat wornng. 1t
a holiday, and I got around on October 33rd, about eight o'ohox;;
in the morning, and the door 1is broken and ntho léo‘k, is brokcn." ‘
and there is a diffou’nt lock on the door, from the police sta-

tion house.

i BY MR. DONOHUE:
Q Now, when you left there, the afternmoon before the holiday,

just what did you do? Did you lock up the placet A No, mo.

: s Q The afternoon before the holiday, 1 am speaking of now.
- You say you oclosed the place? A Yes, I closed the place October
33nd, about four o'olook. .

: Q And did you lock the door? A Yes. ?
Q Wnat door? A Upstairs, and I put a loock on the door

-




The door of your

Q Hu door mt you enter from the street? A No. . o

Q lhat door was 1t? The front door of the back door? A
the mnt door. - Pt ; o
' n MR. DOWOHUE:
Q low. what time did you leave, did you say, on the uut
1 On the 33nd, sbout four o'clook.
Q low. what was in your loft when you left, if you rememb
: nﬂ :wl'.l in your place of businees when you loft there? lco'
th‘zo any fm.'_l or anything ofw A “‘Bure I've got#fnr_c. :
' and I've gﬁt 66.80, and neck pieces, and skins, l.".vo got in the
.m’. . , _ .,f Wl "..

“

Q Now, ihon you«returned on the 34th you found a d:l.fk(t\

look on the door? A Yes, sir.

et

Q That was not the same lock you had‘put on on tho n:m

~

A No, it is a lock from the station house.
-Q Did you go into your loft on the 34th? A Yes, sirx.

Q And did you mise afything? A No, I've got nothing in the

- P el
Pigal -
v, 2L .

s

‘m"qw A Iohwn'tgotnynnnymo i

‘.»*A_h&d-l-a_



. BY MR. ROSENBERG: If your Honor please, I have no objection % il

i When you oame baok to your place of businesp, after the -"'f"‘"

lou‘w. did you miss anything? A Yes, the door was bréko._ vud

thqro' was another look on the do?i'. a police look. -
Q Very well, Now, when you gbé into your 1of+ what did

you mies? A I got nothing; ‘everything is stole.

BY MR. DONOHUE:

Q Did iou have any coate that were stolent A Yes.

Q How many coats, how many coats were missing? A I got

seven coats.
THE COURT: Wo. lﬁt’ us suspend this examination. Let y
us get an interpreter. We. are sinply wasting a great dul
6f time, because eviden‘;ly this witness does not un'ciorltndh -
the questions.
(The witness then testified through .tho Official Inter-
preter, Mr. Landau.) : j |
B‘!» MR. DONOHUE:
Q WNow, when ‘you _'cun back on thor 34th, you say you tonn&
a different léck-on tho door? A Yes, a different ioqk. b
Q UNow, what wae missing when ion arrived on- the um

A Goods to the amount of $5,000. °

to the goods being missing, but I objeot to the

statement of the alleged value of the goods.



"mt d“ you mlt A TFour lamb coats.

R e s L S R R

4
¥
e

R 'm what other goods were missing? = A “Three muskrat

111 three were missing and they are worth about $500 ana $600,

the three of them.

" skine.

’Qf'hu were tm worth? A About $500 .p;.,., e

Q And what were they worth? A - About $800, the t'hro_c of them.
Q 'What were they valued at, each of them? , About $300
apiece.

Q And what else was missing? A I had eight finished oolt.‘..f-'-tf"

Q That is, about $300 apiece? A Yes, sir.
Q Now, di;l you have any pieces of fur in there on the 23nd,
that were missing Fo'n the 34th? A Skins.
; Q How many ptoou‘l' A About 70 or 80 skins.

¥ ] . '
Q Do you mean by that piecés of skin? A No, skins; whole

Q How many did you say? A I don't know un.otly.‘ whether it

'wu 60 or 70 or 80. : : N

~ Q What was the value of each of those skins? A About five
i

or six dollars a skin.

Q I see. Now,when you arrived there on the morning of the

_am.- was the loock broken that you had put on there before, on the
’uur A Te lock, with a key mt fitted into u. b rom u ﬁg

a
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door? A Yes.

that will save time, The defendants do not intend to dimiq'?;

A Yee; and it was pried off with a piece of ironm.

Q 1 am not asking you that. But what kind of a lock was 48!

A 1 don't know. It was just like any other look, to which this

 key fitted. I ocan't explain.

Q Well, was it a Yale lock or a bolt? A I can't explain;

1t 1s a long lock.

. . Q Well, was it a padlock? A It was a round lock.

Q On which side of the door was it? On the outside of the -

MR. ROSENBERG: Your Honor, I may make a suggestion

the burglary.

THE OOURT: 1t doee not make- any difference. The
- Distriot Attorney muet prove the burglary before I can’ submit
the case to the jur.y. I:et him go ahead and prove the ?.lpt' )
that a burglary was committed. That is necessary l.ntorq he
.seeks to oogmot the defendants with any bﬁrglniy at that I
place. : : e ‘ .

MR. ROSEWBERG: Very well, sir.

BY MR. DONOHUE: : 7 L

Q That lock was on the outside of the door, was 1t not?

a —

- Q And the other lock wae taken off entirely? A Yes, u,;:-__."g“s-l

i
e o,



.‘. v
.

missing! A Yes.

you get the key from the police? A In the

-'ﬁnﬂ uuun. .

q Il this the ofﬁur. Officer Henry 8. Boft-nn (nuuth'”

3

*..o : 1
Q Au uth the key ﬂut he gave you, you oponed ym door? :

T Tol, uth the help of tho key that I got in the cuuon hquo
1 muc the door.

Q And when you went into youp place were any of your goods

Q And these pieoo- of fur that you have spoken of as muu.-
nr:-:w hanging up 1n yonr place or in boxu vhon yon left? :
A Part of the pigon were in bags, and some of them were hngug-_ »
o | |

Q iov. look at the defendants and tell me whether ‘you ever |
saw them, or either of them, at any time prior to tho'zun of 1
October?! A Wo, sir. |

Q@ Were they in your employ? A Wo, sir.

@ Did they have a right tp be in your loft at any time?

MR. ROSENBERG: If they ever were. i :
MR. DONOHUE: I haven't said that they were there at all.
‘A lo. sir.

Q 'hoa did you first see them? A I see them in the oeuri.

Q How -_ay, stories im that building? A Three stories.



m: ihno is a furrier, and a pluo whoro they m phn

‘door? A I closed my door, and I also closed the downatsiairs

is ﬁ. omu noo: oomiu u? Gn N‘

~ And is that ocoupied by one firms? A Wo. - i , {

1
.
b

Q

VQ How many firms are thoi-e on the third floor? , Two. E]
Q How many firu are thore on the second floor? A Aleo i‘".f
Q

And what business are they 1n1 A Turrier and a phnlng

Q Now, you are on the third floor, are you? A .Yn.
Q - And@ you ocoupy the whole floor? 4 Also. on_my‘ f".loér thoro
is another furrier and myself. 4 : b
Q There is a fourth floor, 1s there; there ie.a fifth.
floort A VNo, sir. |
Q You are on the top floer? A Yes.
CROSS nnuunon BY-MR. ROStlBlRG'
Q When you told the Jndge you had locked the door when m

left at four o olook, did you méan the upstairs or downstairs

door, and the next morning I wasn't there.
Q Do you mean to say you closed the door downstairs, w’hﬁh
wae the entrance to the building, thereby olosing up the whole

building, &t nine o'clock, or eight o'clook, whishever it was?

A Whenever 1 left, there was no one in the building. It was on

a Sunday.

4 -

Q Well, was October 33nd a mmr. A' _!n.' Look u up Q‘



'Q ‘Now, tt lppun that the 33nd of Boptubar m on a luun- \

T‘lv. A No, thnt date was a Sunday that I was talking of .. 'IY'O

T am ll.ttpg a mistake, because I oan't oxplun 1t very well.
e man't y(:n tell the Judge in the other court, cn the 35th

of Ootcbu. that you oloud £t wp and locked 1t up on the notf
A 1laddn't understand lnglnh well, bnt now 1 undorltand Inglid
very well.

Q Well, I think, as g matter of faot, you told the Judge
that yo; locked ‘up your place on the 23rd. A I don't —- I didn't
'underlta.nd' -tho_n. 1 know I olosed my place on Sunday afternoon
at foui' o'cloock.

'Q Have you got an inventory of your --tookt A Vo, I never
‘had such a thing.

Q Well, at any rate, the goods that you claim were stolen

were returned to you by the police, isn't that right? A With
the exception of three coats that was missing,

Q Well, the police lxi those, haven't. they? A No.

Q You say that tﬁrn coate are missing? ‘A Yes, sir.

Q And with the exception of the three coats, everything tha’.t;
~ you claim was stolen you have got back? A Yes. ' »

Q m mt kind of coats are the three that you ny are still

ARTSAMGI | %



auny .-a 3 got my goods buok. thon I found out what was ll.lll.b
q nn didn't the Distriot Attorney ask you what you -u‘.u
in your store, and you told the District Attorney oxnotly what
goods were missing, didn't you? A Yes.
‘ Q Well now, those were coney oo‘tlf A The coats that were
 missing? ‘ '
‘ Q Yes. They were coney coats? A Yes.
Q Are they also called racooon skins? A Yes, raccoon.
HENRY L. HOFFMAN, Main Offiqe Division, a witb‘é
ness on behalf of the people, being duly sworn, testified as s
follows:
DIRIG‘!' lXAIIIATIOl BY MR. DONOHUE:
g Officer, what particular Buresu dre you attached to?
A Safe and loft Divieion,

Q And were you attached to. thast Division on October 24th?

A Yes, sir.
; Q‘ lq:o you out that morning? A I was.
Q And who was with you at that time? A I was alome.
Q Wow, dia you ever see these three defendants before.this
morning? A VYes.
Q When did you firet see them? A. October 3¢th, 3 P. M.

Q Now, where were ‘they at that time? A Standing at l'!l'_fﬁﬁ




. 5 i y J e b ‘

i wors they in anything at the time, any conveyanoe?
o ' A B
; ‘}q ~Well, what did you see them do after that? A 'hcg 1 ‘oaif{
'g;-* " the four of them standing there —- i ' .
gﬁ Q Pardon'nb n.mnnent}'offioer. Were you in uniform or e
; ;
' oltizen's olothes? A In oitiszen's clothes. : : g
?;;——~\\ © ' Q What did you do? A I kept them under observation and -‘.;
; ‘ ‘. they iglkcd west on 37th Sfreqt, andvsimon Axler, he and another o
: defendant that was arrested with him, by the name of Roqonhbrg.
af ter the four of them had a oonvoru;tioﬁ. they orossed over lad
wonf into ﬁh§ building 168 West 37th Street.

Q Who went in, officer? A BSimon Axler and Rosenberg.

FQ They went into the building? A Yes.

@ And you stood outeide? A Yes. .

Q What happened to the other two men at that tinu?‘

THE OOURf:~ Now, let us ggt this oleafiy geforo the j

BY THE COURT:

Q When you are talking about Rosenberg, you are talking
about another man than thono'dofendantl, noé about either of the
defendants? A ﬁoksir; about a man connected withvthil'ouac;

Rosenberg.

BY MR. DONOHUE: | %

Q And who were the other two men? A Abe Axler and Morris .



Avenue to 30th Street, and thoxi went over to 103 Madilon Avenue.

.outside, and went into the building igain. And then they went -

" Axler, crossed over 33rd Street and Fifth Avenue, on the weot -1“,1‘

‘and af ter’ lpuung to the oh;nffour, Blm. who was a olnutfur of ;.-

m m.r and Fershing, and they went down to a ruuuru\t on

nghth Avenue, between 25¢h and 26th Btreet, and they were in there

a :tn minutes and then came out. 'rnoy returned to 37th Btreet

;md aovonth Avenue, and then Simon Axlor and Rounborg stood on

the corner, and Abe Axler and Fershing went into the building at
las'lo,'t 37th Street, and then came out and ofoued the street, and

the four of them had a conversation and continued north on Bcunﬁ;i_ji

Fhey all went in there but one, and Abe Axler went into a teleph

booth and borrowed a coin or lomething from Simon Axler, who was

through the park and went to 23rd Street and Fifth Avenue.
Q And did you have a talk over the telephone with l.nyono v

at that time? A Yes, I called uwp Licutenant Btepleton, of wa B

Bqucgl, and talked with hm, and then my partnory, Dotootivn

Moriarty, Bohmu and rony came up.

Q Meanwhile where were the defendants? A Standing st the
corner of 33rd Street and nfth Avenue.
Q How long did they stay there? A About half an hour.

Q And did you keep them under observation after those other :

detectives came along? A Yes. And then this defendant, Simon

L ' 7 PR .vﬁv‘r‘.



d 33rd ltrut uu'l‘nftﬁ Avenue. And the car continued sast on

ma Street, and it stopped between Fourth Avenue and Broadway,

-building. Abe Axler went into the building first, and then 'Bumii

& few minutes when the four of them came out. And 80 then I went

BY THE COURT:

Te was the oar at the time? A At the southwest cox

" and then the ot‘h‘oi two 'dﬁ_tondant- ~-= Abe Axler, 'Rolinborg and

~ Morris Fershing - the four were in the oar, and continued sast

on 23rd Street to Third Avenue, and turned north on Third Avenue,

~and then I lost track of them. And then I went back to cover the

building in West 37th Street.
Q Who was with you? A My brother officers, ofﬁocro'
Moriarty, Schauss and Foray.
~ Q And when did you get back to the building? A About six

o'clook. And, after being there a short time, the defendast

there, the four of them came walking down the street towards the |

went in, followed by Fershing and Rosenberg. They were in ther

up into the building and I got on the fire escape of & ooncern 4
named Fried & Engel. So I remained on the fire escape with De-

tective rorl.y.'

@ One moment. I don't understand your reference to 33rd ni

13




-‘W ‘80 ihu.t the mmtl wouldn't see me.
u MR. DONOHUE:

" the front door.

A Y‘.. sir.

Q Go mu. ‘officer. A BSo, after bcing up there' a few

b junutu. Wiy W% Mitars oims down aud WNey west 1x \he NeibMial

'Q How d1d they get into the building? A They walked into |

Q And you saw them enter the front door from the street?
Q "l;oro wéro you at that time? A On the fu:a".uoapo_.
Q Of whatbuilding? A On the northwest corner of~8.'lth l'.
and Tth-Avcmu.
BY .. DONOHUE:
Q And how near the corner was the bunding you luv thou
men Ontor? A I should judge about 100 feet.
BY MR. ROSENBERG:
Q 100 feet? A Yes, s8ir; about.
BY MR. DONOHUE:
Q l'roi the corner of 7th Avenue or from ihoro you were?

A '011, I was across the -treet. and I was right oppouto ﬂn

muu; that they. onurod.



‘, m ﬂﬁh ud t seen tho forn of the two ddomunu in the
. MR. ROSEWBERG: I objeot to that, "the form of the two
defendante’. ; |

'BY THE COURT: ,

Q COould you rocog'ﬁiu 'th'u from wh;re you were? - A Yes, sir;

not their faces, but I could recognize their form. i

; THE COURT: - Go on. '
A (Continuing) And I seen them motion over towards that |

side of the wall, the east side of the building (111mtru§1n&). .

And so, after they wu: in there about 15 or 30 ninutoi; m of

them came out and walked to the corner of 37th and 7th Avon\n.
!'hon tho automobile pulled down to 158 West 27th Street, and m.

lounborg and Fershing walked ovor, and after a ohort oonvorn.u, .

.' with the two defendants, the mtomobne drove around on Seventh |

Avenue and north on Seventh Avenue, and stood at-thecorner of

' 38th Btreet; and, af terthe two defendants here and Rosenberg

and Fershing had a ooﬁnrution, then the two defendants here

walked up and blpoko t;: the chauffeur, and Rosenberg a.nd rv'thin' ‘
returned into the building; and then the ohauffeur went east on
28th Street, and came around by Fifth Avenuo.-IA think so, at

~ least,~ to 27th Street, and pulls up in front of the building,
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-Mt you saw ﬁu. ooao out uth bngn A Yes, sir.

A Yes, and then I said to deteotive Foray --

A »Q lﬂ lonvt un us what you uad. Now, officer, wn ..,

Q Which puuonh.r defendants had the bagl? A Rounborg

£ lnd ?orlhtng. And T said to officer --

 Q No, you must mot tell that. And at that time where wesb'.
tini two defendants? A Down between 27th and 38th Streets, on
7th Avenue. ' i '

Q Were they both together? A Yes. ‘

Q ‘ihsn Pershing and Rosenberg came down with the bags, mt

B0 Nkey 4ot 4 Pud them in the sutomobile, and drove by‘ Blwss.

‘/_Q And these were the same men that you had been watohing ;

for an hour or two before? A Yes, sir. |

Q And the building you are talking about 1s 166 West 37th \

Street? ‘A Yes, sir. /

m

' Q And the building out of which these two bags were brau.hﬁ‘
A Yes, sir.

Q Then did you jump on the running board of the automobile?

A Yes, just as it was starting up. i
é And who was in it? A Rosenberg and Fershing. '
: Far
.Q And who was driving 1t?7 A Blume. i , 'i

Q And did you place them under crogf after that, officer?

-

> : \f‘)



~you? A Yes, seir.

-m l«r. 1 u .oug W Tabirars you, «ao
: "tu ym own benefit, tor use in this trial and other t
You u'q not permitted to testify to conversations thu_.t you he
_with peoplé ot'her than the defendants on trial, ‘whin the b
‘defendants were not prount, because 1t does not bind m -

defendants; anything that you lnd. or what anything. mt

anyone said to you, when they were not present; and so,

when ycu attempt to give a conversation with a brnthor‘ o:m. .
ocr. or a nunbor of brother ofncaro, when these dofondnt" :
were not thore, the Bistrict Attorney cannot take that evi-
dence, and dofendmt'l counsel objects to it. Now, mc-m
for you to tes$ify in those matters is to say, "I had a con=
| versation with officer so and so," and then you bun tell wh
happened, not what was said. ‘
BY THE COURT:

Q Now, you had a talk with an officer in the sutomobile, did

Q Now, what happened after that? A So he weﬁt up af ter th?

two defendants. | ) ‘

MR. ROSENBERG: Now, I object to what the officer did.

BY THE COURT: = | R .

Q md you see him go up o.tté; them? A Yes, sir.
THE COURT:  Go ahead.

MR. ROSENBERG: Exception.




Q" ’fu ua’ﬂ see the Axlers again that evening, did you?

A lo, lu. ]
- "';:- [1y : .T N
B ~~  Q When you jﬂod on the mtonobno, punuing Bl.m and
3t e i _ u\:
: lnunborg, were thoy in the automobile? A Yes, ur. 4
Q Was there anything in the automobile besides them, Blume

and Rosenberg? A Yes, two sacks.

Q Are these the two sacks that you refer to (indicating)?
A Yes. 4

Q And whaf wer¢ in the sacké at that time? A Furs and
neck pieces nnd f;u- goods. » 5

Q Now, whut else was in the automobile buidol these butln'
bags, which contained the furs? A Only the three defendants.

Q 1Is there any other propqrtyr A Vo, sir.

Q You didn't fina anythlng in the automobile outside of

~ these burlip bags? A VWNo, sir.

Q Did you talk to the defendants in the sutomobile? A Yes.

~ . Q And did you go back then to 168 West 27th Street? - ;}«w
. A Yes, sir, ;

Q‘ About what .tino did you go back there? A About 7:30.

Q And who were with you? A Foray, Moriarty and thmu.»

Q And what door did you go t.:or A Top floor.

Q

m did you examine the doorl on the way up of dll the

g m u‘ 10!1-1 A Yes.

o L
3



W After it was brokon open 1t had been closed.

) both lid_ol with a kej.

-1t over to him.

;'I__-dt“hu in anoo"no;dqu_utq- the next morning. I left a ”“ﬁif

& W6, Bir) U6 wan cloned BEY WY

I saw thb

hlrkn mro the door had been forced open, | »
Q Marks beside the look, do you mean? A Yes. I didnrs

that there was a padlock on it ungil the next day.

Q What kind of lock was on it when you saw that door at m‘:;

ﬁut A Just an ordinary loock.

Q Some sort of a snap lock? A Well, it had to be locked

Q And what was the condition of that lock on that door at
that time? A You ocould see the marks where the lock had been
foroced back and the door was oponed.. : . |
" Q Did you go through the premu- at that time? ‘A Yes, 84
Q Dia you notioo whethor 1t was in disorder or not? A - lo,
sir. I saw a form luying on the floor, a form wha.t they try a ]
garment on -- and some otha stuff was pulled out into the rog-. ;
some lining. L And I secured the prﬁniuo with a police lock, m

the Lieutenant in the 18th Prainct kept tﬁxe xey, afiter I turned

Q Now, when did you see Mr. Friedman after that? A Next &
Urning. " ..‘rh.?l
- Q .'horo? A At Police Headquarters. He came there. e

Q Did you have the door opened for him there then? A Oh,




' Q 'cl. did you have a.ny conversation with the dofondlntl at

m lnr ct any unt A Yes.

Q '!unt A The next morning after I phoedtu under umi,;a'
in the looond District Court. . 1
Q And did ‘you,phoo them under arrest yourself? A Yes,

at the Jefforion market Court.

e Q And when was that? A About 10:30 in the mrning;

A Q Do you know what was going on in the Second Distriot |

Magistrates' Court fha.t mﬁing? A Yes, sir.

" Q Was t);ore any examination going on in the case of the

; defendante you had arrested the previous evening? A Yes, sir.
Q And that examination was to be held that nominé A 'Yu.;g
Q #nd where did you see the defendants? A Sitting in e 4

audience in the courtroom.

Q And did you then plaoé them under arrest? ' A Yes, eir;

and I brought them down to Headquarters, and said to them, "What

do you know about tis burglary?®  And Abe Axler said, "I don't
k_now any thing about it," and I said, 'B\mﬁo-o I tell y;m your
movements from two o'clock to 7:30 at night, will you tell me ﬁto.
~ truth?" And he said, "Yes," and I told him his movmhti.ina he

. said he 'wont up there, but he got scared away, bothof them got

_. _scared .ul.y.

Q And is there any doubt in your mind, officer, that these #:'




)

~ two of the five men you trailed tha.t afternoont A Wo, sir. *.

L'Ob:nm to. mo fou o! the M v
THE COURT: overruled. i
iﬁ. mm: hoeption. '
- Q 1Is there any doubt in your mind as to these two men boi.q
Q lw, d1d you make a search of the premises of Mr. l‘rnhu i
dtoryou ;rrelted Fershing and Blume? A Yes. :
Q And vhat did you find? A I found that jimmy lnying.on
aAfrork bonoh (1ndioa.t1ng). ¢
Q Where? A 1In the praniuo on the fourth floor of that
b\ulung. Mr. Friedman's place of business.
MR. DONOHUE: I offer the jimmy in evidence.
MR. ROSENBERG: I object, on the ground that it is noi
connected with either of the defentants: '

THE OOUR'r' Does the testimony indicate the floor the

. oompluning witness's loft is on?

MR. DONOHUE: Yes, sir; three flights up, the foﬁrth
floor. '
BY THE OOUR'!"
Q Now, officer, you say you saw these two men 1n tho hallway
on the tourth floor of that building? A Yes,
' Q Is that your te_ltiibny?' A Yes.

.THE COURT: I will receive the exhibit in evidence.

U



(1t 1s marked people's Exhibit 1.)

MR. DONOHUE: la.y 1 show n to the jury?

| _ THE COURT: Yes, certainly. You must show. u.
_ ‘ th“ 1t 48 in evidence. : ' : pa %
e BY MR. DOWORUE: ' '
Q' Now, officer, de ydﬁ roonll how theu two defendants were
ﬁouod? A I do.
AR Ju-t desoribe them, will'you, please? A The defendant
Abe Axler had a green overcoat, tight fitting, with a gray peak !v
the other defendant had a brown overcoat, with a belt in the huk.
apd a brown fedora hat. |

Q And lthn you said you recognized the forms of the dofcnd-_-.
la'n_tl. the forms that you have spoken of, or the two forms had on.

‘a 'quoru hat and a peak cap?
5 (Objected to. Sustained.)

BY THE COURT:

Q Did you not say you saw the two defendants? A WNo, sir; 4
tho forms of tho two men. |
0 - Q You u.id a moment ago that you saw then two defondmtl on
the fourth floor. A Yes, ur. '
BT MR, DONOHUE: Yee, he said he recognized the forms.

THE COURT: Did he see these two men or not? That is -

R : what I want to know.




o of? A m«n the window. It is Eieoned gLise. 1 this
mm horo (uunouung a side \undow of the courtroom.)
. BY ™HE ootmr:

R ‘l'hon you oonld not see o.nythlng through the frosted glm. E
R 'cgu,m yout A Well, the light was strong behind them and I could
~ see the forms, just as plain as if I.__nl across the street, in a
rn.ny dark plnoo.
BY n. DONOHUE: )
Q But you don't noan to say that you could reocgnize the
faces of the two men, do you? A WNo, eir; only the forms. ‘
THE COURT: What I am concerned about 1s the identity
of these two defendants. ~ I do not want any IMO to |
| cover up a iaok of 1dent1ﬁ§at1’on, if thoro‘u not an -
‘mentifioation hore,. I want to know from this witness wheth

he testifies that he saw these two men -- I don't care how

he saw them or how he identifies them —- but I want to know

whether his testimony is tﬂat when he looked in that window
of that adjoining building, he saw these two men in that _éon'
-~ or hall.
BY MR. DONOHUE:
Q Now, did you see these two defendants in the building?

A I seen the fom. I knew it was the two defendants.

e
LAl
A5 A

Q Iin. how did you rhodgniu that foi'nf_ A Why, on their j




ﬂ!m'.' lo mua very ltrught. and I oould tell hn uuonl. , e o

MR. nouom. He 1- your wit_nou. _ S

"‘cnoss EXAMINATION BY MR. nos:ln:nn

Q Now, officer, you say that when you looked up 1nto that

buuding. at 168 West 27th Street, you were on the oppoltto lmo.

_the norteast corner of 37th Street and Seventh Avenue; isn't

that oo;rroott A Ye-,\ sir.

- Q And you were on tlee fir-t floor? 1Is that correct?
A Yes -- not the first floor -- 1 couldn't say really what floor
it was, but the fire escape was almost on a level with the !ourth,i_r
floor of 166. ; .

Q Now, aren't Fried & Engel on the first floort A Yes.
Q _And didn't you say that ;ou got permission from Fried &

~ Engel to stand on their fire escape? A Yes, sir.

Q And then you told the jury you were on the first floor.

looking up, didn't you? A Well, if it is the firlt floor it

is even with the fourth floor of the premue- 166.
Q Now, do you want to tell this jury that the first floor
of tﬁe building iou were in, or on the fire escape of, wiuron a
level with the fourth floor of the building that was burglarized?
B A, Yes, almost.
Q And tha.t is u true as anything else you have said?

(Obaootod to. Sustained. Exception.)

]



er 't rvn intho pr-uu p:opcr. ‘and 8% o:puod on

.ﬂrc otnpﬂ A '011, I'11 tell you -- I will explain -~
Q Yes or no, 7
THE COURT: Let him explain. - Let him finish his

A '(Ooi:tinued,) It is a oclosed {n fire eioapo, 11 is lot;in, and :

1t 18 as deep as from here to the wall (indicating).

Q About ten feet? A Yes, sir.

Q That is enclosed? A Yes, it sets right in like a winM¢"

‘which has no glass, and is e‘xpoud to the weather.
Q The fire noape is oompo-ed of metal? A WNo, of briok.
1 think 1t is made of briok. '
Q I wasn't there and you say- you were, Now, what was the
; u’re- escape was made of?7 A Well, I didn't pay any attention h

the fire escape, what it was made of.

Q And you are unable to say whether it was énclosed in briok

or metal sheeting? A Yes.

Q It runs from the first floor to the top of the building,
is that right? A 1 don's know. '

Q Is that tho. best answer you can give this jury? A Yes.

Q That you don't know? A I don't know. .

Q Well, you got on tho fire escape from rrtqd'l loft, is

. that right? A Yes, that's right. : :




Q Iw. weren't you oxpoud to view from people on the

~ street? A No, sir.

@ Are you sure of that?! A Yes.

Q Now, what kept you from being exposed to view? A It

was dark there.

Q 1Is that the only thing? A That was thée only thing 1

oould see.

Q ‘In‘o_thor words, the fire escape was open and the only

thing that prevented anyone from seeing you was that because 1t :“

was dark, 1e that right? A Yes. -

Q Vow, was thu‘mm sheeting or brick, between you and

the people on the -- between you and the bunding on the oppouuv‘

u«m A No, sir. "

Q It was not? A No, sir.

Q Well, that ie what I would like to have the jury under-

stand, A It is an open window.

Q And, if that had been lighted, anyone walking the street

gould have noticed you?! A No, sir.

MR. DONOHUE: How could he tell? He oould only guess =

at that.
THE COURT: Well, he says it could not been seen,

THE WITWESS: If I could have been seen, I wouldn't

- have been there.




Q How m.n S5 4. fiaet Ticer from Wl Bhreest A O, 1'
eheile judge a8 high as this room, o | -_*"!‘
- Q lon. how high do you ‘think this room is, nbout? A AM
45 fnt. | ;

Q And you think that the fir-t story of that building is 45
fut high? A Yes, lu'. .

Q Now, how about the opposite side of the street? Couldn't |
they see you, if there was light? A Yes, if there was light |
where I,vu.. |

Q If there was light?

BY THE COURT:

Q Counsel means daylight, as distinguished from darkness.
‘ A VNo, booahu I could have manouevered a.pound 80 that they
couldn't have seen me. '

" 'BY MR. ROSENBERG:

Q Now, where ie the buildifiy 166 West 37th Street, with

respect to the building that you were in., Between what avenues .
i8 1t? - A Sixth and Seventh.
Q And on what side of the street? A On the south side of

the ltrpot.

75

Q You were on the north side, is that correct? A Ye-, (3§ P

- Q lu. how near Seventh Avenue is 1667 A I -hould say n

'_m 1” f”"o :

‘i e e o - it o,

P | P




jhiﬁld say u was 100 feet.
Q Oould 1t be 150 feet from where you were? A It might bc.“l
Q Oould it be 200 feet? A No, I don't believe it could be. Q
I was only 50 feet from the building. :You asked me where the .
‘huilding wag, with reference to the corner. )
Q‘ All right. You say the distance is about 150 feet from
Seventh Avenue?! A Yes, about that. |
Q And didn't m tell the jury you were about 100 feet from .:
~ the huilding where the defendants are supposed to have entorod?
A No, sir.
Q Are you sure that you didn't say that in your direct
cxéninition? A Yes, poseitive.
2} Now, the building that you say you stood on was on fh;
northeast corner of 37th Street and Seventh Avenue? A Yes.

' Q And the fire escape is on what part of the building? AOn

the rear, towards Sixth Avenue.
Q \waurdl_tho renrf A Yes, sir.
Q Well, is it on the rear end of the building, or the front,
or the side of the building? A On the rear end of the building, i
at thh_etroet.

Q 1% ie on the 37th Street side? A Yes. .

Q And that 1s'the side of the building, is it mot? A Yes,




, t. or is it on the rear ond of the buldihgt :

| '!'ll oomtr:‘ ' Jult a moment, b_etore you answer thi,t ques-
tion, officer. |
BY THE COURT:
Q Are thero three udu of this building, which you say is
- on the northeaat corner of 37th Street and 7th Avenue? A Well,

1 don'tknow, ybur Honor,

'Q A1l right. There are windows belonging to ‘that Mqu”»’-A}‘ﬁ
‘on Boventl‘ Avenue, are there not? A Yeg, sir. |

' Q And windows that run down 60 or 100 feet, to the depth of ’
" the building, on 37th Street, towards 6th Avenue? A Yes, sir.
Q Now, the rear of a Seventh Aveime corner building mla : ’
“be the Bhle ARkh i e Ahe SiPaet, b e ite AnaEe _
fu.oe Sixth Avenue, and the wall facing Sixth Avenue would keep m
same relative poo;tton as the wall of the building floing deonth';

Avenue, Do you understand that? A Yes, sir.

Q And when counsel asks you about the fire escape, whether
1t 48 on the rear of the building or not. -He wants to know whether :'
it ie on the wall facing Sixth Avenu_e.- When you speak of the

rear, is it the wall facing Sixth Avenue or “37th Street, or

4

Seventh Avenue? A It is the wall facing Sixth Avenue. - B

THE COURT: Does that bring out what you wanted, oounun{
: 2 2l o

MR. ROSENBERG: Yes, sir; that is what I wanted.
(The Court admonished the jury and iook a recess
,utn two o'elnk.)



mo f ? '8 A l. BT uews muuou

: muuﬂl. mufud as follows: ;
QIBII mrfml (Oonnnuod) BY un. nosmm: B |

Q 0“1001'- when you left the witness stand before ruou, #
BE . you epoks to your brother officers, asdn't your A Wo, sir.
- Q Didn't you speak to them after you left the witness otnd,!

-~

A Oh. yes.

'Q You were with ‘thm, both of them, during recess? A V Yes. ; s
.Q Both Moriarty and Foray? A Yes. .

[Q And they are lilte'ning %o your tes' mony now, are thcy'
MR. DONOHUE: Objected to.  How doee he know? _
. Q Are they in the courtroom now! A I don't know. 1 do‘n"t-l_;
see ‘thun.b : 4
'Q Were they in the courtroom this morning? A Well, 1 dont :?"
know. |
Q lell when you left the stand you went over and spoke to J
'.roro.y, daid you not? A Yes. . '
Q Didn't you compare notes ae to your testimony? A lo,.u;._ a

Q Didn't you discuss th; oué at a.ny time? A Wo, sir. ‘
Q Did either of the officers discuss the case with you? !
A VWNo, sir. 3 - . Y :
Q WNow, 18 oi ther of those officers in ocourt nowt A I dcm"tﬁil
.. | " g 48

MR, ROSEWBERG: I will oall them, There isno res

o N S y gy . 5 . hon oS R



‘the defendants, as you have testified to here? A Yes. ¥

tho following of these defendants? A WNo, sir.

‘Just now.

theyr A 1 believe so.

Q B&d you tuuﬁod in the Magistrates' Court to followuc

@ You are sure of that? A Yes, positive.
‘ Q@ You have a memorandum book required to be kept by the
Police Dcpartnént? A Yes, .ur. .
Q Have you got that umormdum book bere? A Yel, lu-.

Q- Doel that mcmorandm book show the different steps as to

Q Does it 1n01nde the alleged confession that you say you
had, that the defendant Abe Axler made to yout A WNo, sir.
. Q And your memorandum book is required td be kept by you
at all times while on“ duty? A No, only the pedigree, and the
name of the complainant, and where the.burglo,ry was commi tted.
Q What does the Book of Rules of the Depnrtnentluy as te

kuping the memorandum book? A I don't know. I don't reoollut

Q Amd does the Rule Book require you to keep that Book of
Rulee on your person at a,_llv times? :
: (Objected to, Allowed.)
A No, sir. |

Q . The rules require you to have a memorandum book, don't

~ Q Whast is your answer? A I believe so.

L
3



n How 1“. have wn boon a dotoougpt A Since March,

q Since last March? A Yes, sir.

'q‘ And how 1ong have you been a policeman? A light and a

half y_cu'u. _ _ /
~ Q And how long have you been on this Loft and Safe Squad? . |

b‘ o A Bince March. T had been on 1t prcvi;:ul. ‘

| Q You had been on it for a great many years, is that cor-

.rect? A Oh, I was on .it for three years before.

e
E‘ Q Am Moriarty hds been your partner for how long? A He
;' haen't been my partner at all. | | ‘
E Q And how long has Foray been your partner? A Since Itroh.;
: Q And you work together? A Yes. -

| Q Now, is there @ytbing in that memorandum book about
L : following the defendants? A No, sir. ' .
:;; ' Q That mmrmdun was made whent A There is nothing in 1i
E : abont :tollowing them.
E ' Q Well, whatever is in your book, when was the memorlndnn
" made? A The night of ‘the arrest, the 24th and 35th. |

Q And there is no record in that book as to following'tlu

A defendants? A No, sir.
R Qs Or about the alleged confeseion made to you? A WNo, sir.

Q By the way, will you kindly read the entry that you have |

there? A ?o-, sure.

TR e S N

@ Take the entry of October 34th.



: _ 84th, Isidor 'ldionﬁoris of 189 Ol nt
mn. ll. l. l.. -1:;10. a plumber. ‘Sam Blum. 684 8¢t. llni-n.-‘

Place, ﬂ, u. 8., married, a a hatter.  Morris rouhing, 89 Avm,v e
iy e, " Austria, urriod 4 salesman. Abe Axler, 51 COlinton
s lttut. 19, u. 8., single, salesman. Simon Axler, 83 Clinten

Street, 19, U. S., single, a pedler. Were arrested in froiit of
S premises 166 West 27th Street, a.f:ter foroing door leading from
A hall to loft on the fourth floor. and stealing furs valued at

“$4,000. _Property: five fur ooatl, seven fur coats, unlinod.

nine unfinished neck pieces, 19 small fur skins, a small quantity
: ﬁffur trimmings. November and, 1921, Second Oourt, hgio- d
trate lloQunde. 310 000 for Grand Jury."
B . ..Q 80 that you ‘have two entries in ihat book; One is
October 34th and the other is November 3nd? 1Is that correct?
A WNo, sir, ’ .
Q lol'l, didn"t you read the onfry of October AB_-uhv? A Yes,
‘October 34th. s _ .
Q And the next entry is November 2nd? A That is whei; they
weio held for the grand Jury in the Magistrates' Court,
'Q Don't you underltaﬁd English, Mr. Hoffman? A Yes, sure.
Q Didn't I ask you whether there were two dates in your
mundun book? A Yes, sir. : L
Q One is October 24th and the other is lovomber 2nd?
A : !u. ur.

~ BY THE COURT: o i o i
‘g&y”..k'l_.w_' . o : & o f § 2 e




& .u i&l ll‘tlttlt.l' Court for the Gr-nd Jury. ; g Lo

BY MR. ROSENBERG: _ : .
Q And when did you m. the ontry ‘of the 341&:? A On tho
35th. _
Q Didn't I ask you whether you made the entry on the day utm

they purport to have been made? A I am positive I made them on

the 35th.. -

Q Both entries? A No, I didn't me the one in the 'Sooonl',;’(
Court until loiu_ibor 2nd. T

Q And then you say that on October 3B8th you made the entry “
dated October 34th? A Yes, sir. ; .

Q 1Is that correct? A Yes, sir.

Q And it wasaf ter you made the a.rroit of thess two d.fonl-'-v;'l
ants that you Mo that entry, ‘1- tﬁat correct? A Why, I -‘u |
poutin'. I don't know whether I made 1t in the morning; and

; and added- .
then 1 took/the other two on in the afternoon. 1 am not sure.

Q Well, what 18 your best recollection as to when you made
those entries? A I can't recall.

Q Now, you made a further report to the Commissioner lholt :.
this alleged burglary, didn't you? Ab No, sir. Vk

Q Dida't you sign the report to the Oommuuouﬂ A D.B.

Q The jury don't knowwhat D. B. 5 is. A Well, I em

: msug the faots.




X D R e -
make out a card --

q" ‘Io.'wh'tt did you do? A I made out a report.

l! moo\mz

e A
Ay

Q And you made 1t out on a oard. which is deugnnod D. B
No. 51 A Yes. ‘

Q D. B. maning Detective Bureau? A Yes, sir.

Q And you uote out a :oport and filed 1t according to tho
;-ﬁlol of the Police Department? A Yes.. -
BY MR. ROSENBERG: : | _

Q Where can that report be had? A At Police Beadqu;'rtorl._::

Q And it is known as"D B 51 A D B, They make the D B §
i dh‘n ‘the case 18 closed.

Q And how ie that report indexed? A I don't know. You ¢
ask for D-B 4 and DB S and my signature.

Q And it bears only your signature? A The commandi ng
officer's also. Sl

Q And it was made out for the arrest of the defendants?

A Yes, sir. 7

Q Did you say anything in that report about fol]lowiug the | il
defendants? A WNo, sir, ‘

Q Did you say lnything in that report about the ulogod

oonfouion made by thu defendant? A WNo, sir. 1//’

Q And that report is in nitingl‘ A In typewriting.

' Q Im tyv"quu_ngt",‘ Yes. ‘




Q ‘Were you in the front of the building or the rear, when

»m wanod up? ‘A About the: oentor.
: Q So that the hallway is in tho oentcr of the builung‘l
f _ ,.. . A No, the stairway is in the center of the b\nlnng. 1 should
' Q You should Mg. ANe. Seaieway 16 1a (N6 owavis 4L Wi
building? A Yes, sir. '
Q Ie tha‘t correct? A Yes, sir. :
| | & 84 shex you go¥ %o the fourth Slsor -~ 1s that the top
floort A Yes. | ‘
Q The hallway runs north and south, is that correoct?
- A Thate right.r
s | ~ ' Q Does it run from the outer wall on the south lidci‘éf am
2 j Street, loﬁ_th towards 36th Street,.is that correct? A I don't .

Pe” quite understand m.

Q - Well, when you got up on the fourth floor, there is a
hallway? A Yes, sir. '

Q And when you leave the staircase, don't you go immediately

s

into the room of the complainants? A You walk a few foet..
Q In which direction? A North. _ ke« |

Q A few feet north? A Yes, sir.

Q Towards the center of the building? A Yes, sir.

Q And that is where the entrance to the complainant’s pla f.;f‘



that entrance from the window eu‘ the o ’

Qfﬂl‘hﬂdhg. l‘ni'ng' tﬁo-ffont of the butld:ng"l A
‘uz or sight foot. | e '
Q ,Aro yonu mro of that? A Pretty sure. .
Q ln.n ycu measure 167 ; No, -u. \
' Q How deep is the building? A 1 domt know.
- ‘ Q Well, now, do you want to tell the jury that you saw thur«
. two defendants in 'tho hallway bgforo they entered “the prginu, , :

as you claim? A Yes, sir.

Q You do? A I do.

Q From the position you ocoupted on the opposite side of

. the street? A Yes.

Q In the hallway? A Yes.

Q It wae dark, was it not? A WNot in their hall, They
1lighted the light.
Q In the hallway? A Yes.

Q You are sure of that? A Pdsitiv_o.

Q Was there any light in the complainant's place of business?
A No, sir.
ek Q You are sure of that? A Yes.

Q Then you didn't see any shadows or forms in the ocnplun- 3

ut'l pllO. of business? A No, sir. ‘ ‘

Q And what ever you did see was in the hallway? A Yes,
Q Do you know where that hallway runs to? Do you know

. R,
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door was oloud .

A No, I don't think it's that high.

" height from the floor to the ceiling in the complainant's loft,

d hliuu lnd the undow. there is a toilet? A Yeu, ur.

Q Do,ot that obstruct part of the hallway? A Oh. if the

~

Q WNow, the window in the front of the building on the fourﬂl

floor, how high is that wlndov from the floor itself, do.you knowt

A I don't recall.

Q You say you were in the building, don't you? A Yol,ur;
QV And didn't you examine it? , Yes, sir.
Q Is it as high as this window from the floor in thie’

oourtroon (indicating the window behind the witness ‘chair)?

Q How high would you judge it was? A I should judge from
where 1 was that the room is about eight or nine feet high, thQ"‘
and I should judge whe window was set about six feet high, and - ’

about two foot or two foot and a half from the level of the floor;_-i

Q Do you know how high the floors are in that Vbuilding?
THE COURT: What do you mean by how high. the floors are?
MR. ROSENBERG: I mean from the floor to the ceiling. ‘
A About eight or nine foot, I should judge.
Q Tat is your best judgment, that the ceilings are about - ;. .

eight or nine feet hight A Yes, sir.

@ And if the window is six fee{ high, that would leave ht



But you say you were theret A But I didn't -uiu‘-' 14,

door, and I explained who I was and what I .wu watching, and he

Q ln. toilg back to the fire escape, do you know the s

: u!foronoo bow«n a nu escape and an air oha.ft? A 1 think so

Q lov. areyou sure there 18 ns a nrc escape on the prmniﬁ*

on the northeast oornor of Seventh Avonuo and 37th? A ‘Well, W.

18 one gquestion I would like to get a.nlwered, Has an eir shaft

any staire in 1t?
Q Now, will you please tell me --
MR. DONOHUE: I think he ought to bo allowed to have
answer.
THE WITNESS: I am asking if there are stairs 1n~|vn‘
air shaft, ;
BY MR, ROBﬁBERG:

Q Will you tell fhu jury whether you were in an liril!'mft
or on a fire escape of the buAil.dixg that you have been deoéribin‘n
here this morning? A Well, I would say the fire escape.

Q Now, in order to get what you ca'l a fire escape, how dit
you get up there? A I went through a <door, right opposite the g

freight
fxxst/entrance to the building, and went up the stairs to the
firet floor, and went to the rear door, and a man ocame to the 7 ;,‘;)
e

n.id. "Very well, you can stay there as long as you ux., md yoM

e

can open the door when you are going down."
q And you were with three other detectives at tut time?

LS u,______..\...ﬂ.";‘




) W-M-u’oppoun. 166, the three detectives m yoursel
”m in those premises, 1s that right? A Yes, sir.

q Now, when you got from the froight olovator. you otmot

~ inito an enolosure, is that right? A I didn't go into any frotjl;_,
. : elevator. : : ) i - . ‘

Q ﬁon you -=- : |

THE COURT: He said he went in the fr;tght cntrmc.'
B . : and up the stairs to the first floor, and then through a
x : ~ floor ¥ What he oalls the fire escape.
BY MR. ROSENBERG: '
Q And that is where you ha.d gone, 1‘ it not? A Yes.

Q 'l'hroughdut the whole time? A No, sir,

“-—:4?‘—"—-‘;;_'.!“«%;15‘;"’.-‘ 'f_".-(.‘_ s Lot R T ]

Q Now, in ‘that enclosure which you call a fire escape, u.:.‘;.-
there any glass windows? . A WNo, sir.

‘Q VWell, how oould you see on tbo outude? A Well, it's
a window, with only a frame in it.

‘BY THE COURT:

Q :_lt is an open spgoot A Yes, sir.

Q And there is no substance, no glass, between it and the.
outer air? A No, sir. There is only a round 1rob rhl that
runs from side to side. T s
| Q Just an open space, like an (;ﬁen window would be? A !u‘_._ /

BY MR. nosumm'




does the wall of that building oome to wher
m“m mum A on,‘aout' aix foot.

' Q And thn building runs how hight A I don't km.

£%. 5 QY Oln't you give tho jury an idea of how high it is? A Do
~ you mean the building I was in?

| Q WNo, the building next to the one you say you yire % .

~ A I don't kriow anything about it.

g Q Was it one story hight A I couldn't tell you. I didn't

; notice.

i

& : : Q Two? A 1 don't know.
E Q Three? A I don't know.

Q Four? A I don't know.

Q Five! A I didn't notice.

: Q Now, when you look from the place that you say is the
E fire escape, to the east, don't you look at tho side of that
F i _Abnnding. the nex'f building? A lo; I don't.

Q If a person is on &he fire escape thut you have denoribod.;
and he looks eastward, wouldn't he be looking into the side wall
the neit building? A WNo, sir; not where I wai. The way I was
looking out the front looked out on 374h. Btrest, noy Sixth
Avenue. - ‘

Q Then in order to look towards 37th Street, p; had to 'tn'rn

and look south? A Yes, I had to stand south to look out. I m 4

lnuu in a ‘'southerly direction, out of tho window that I was
. G s ‘«H!‘R‘“- ¢



ding on the - side of
. sﬁ a lnuuu on the -outh side? A !u. '“.,

BY MR. ROSEWBERG: | L,
' Q And’ you want this jury to und-ntm that the buuung
east

A, lot sir.
8 W v twrther westt & & A3vile ves,.
BY THE oomt'r
é Was it nearer 7th Avenue? A Yes, sir.
BY MR. ROSENBERG:

Q Nearer 7th Avenue?! A Yes, sir.

;‘1' Q Now, let us get that right. You &re sure that th.ml‘f"?
. ing you say you were watching, 166, was nearer to th_ovsoven’th ]
Avenue than th§ position you occupied at the rear of the bunuﬁ
on the northeut oorﬁer of 27th Street? A Yes, sir. | 3
Q How mﬁoh nearer to 7th Avénue was that building than you
were? | :
YHE COURYT: = HNow, wait & minute, officer. When you ask
a question calling for a comparison of that character, Mr. .
Rosenberg, you have got to indicate what part of these
buildings ydu ‘reter to. You mean the most we-torly-n.n 6!

166, do you mean the entrance, or the most easterly lnn?

What part of the building do you mean? One of these huld—

ings might bo a loft building, 300 feet in depth, ond - ol
: y <l 4




jﬁlﬁ;!rpit;gi'ﬁlifty.flis building, -haktt i g
"Q ’1'-'1'« a modern loft building? A No, it appears u me

‘to be an 0ld tenement house rer;évatod into a loft.
Q And you think it is about 30 feet front? A Yes, sir.
'Q And runs back how deep? A I don't know.

Q About?

THE COURT: Now, this is a police officer and he is
not an architect or surveyor. Don't expect too lixoh on tln
matter of measursments from a police officuv'.‘ The only
reason why I make these remarks 1s»that I think too muoch ;
e - | time is being consumed in this matter to require exact
uam:omoxﬁt. from a policeiofﬁoer. who is not an arohitoo‘t
or surveyor. . |
~;‘-"_:' e MR. ROSENBERG: I object and Ao”xooptrto the rmrk.n-ot_ k

~ the Oourt. ;
BY MR. ROSENBERG: |

Q WNow, how deep is the buildixig in 37th Sfrootr A1 Aoo.ultd» ;
not say. : a0

Q Well, it runs a long way from Seventh Avenue to Sixth
Avenue, doesn't it? A Yes, it's quite a big building. T

Q And 1t is at least 100 feet deep, is 1£ nott A fu, 1
- S should judge 75 or 100. |

o

E : ¢ Q And you _iu_li insist that you i‘ro on what floor of m o



A
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DIREOT EXAMINATION BY MR. DONOHUE:

Q Iw. do you uaderotlnd that qunuonr A Yn.
- MR, DOlouUt' He said so, three t_imo.
'Q low. the window in the hallway of the premisess, 166

West B'H.'h Street, which you say you looked through, and saw the

_shadows of the defendants, was a frosted window? A Yes, sir.

Q Not tranaﬁnent? A- No, oir;_
BY THE GOURT: :

Q Not like these windows in this courtroom? A WNo, itr;. |
BY MR. ROSENBERG:

Q ot a window like that back of you (ipfiicating)?

THE COURT: Well, that magnificeny’looking object is

painted, I don't think I-would use that as an illustration. :

MR, ROSENBERG: Wo, eir. I withdran the qualttoi'l:"- 1

1- punted, and badly painted, at that.

Q Iell the glass in the window was ordinary frontod. gluﬂ .

A Yeo, oir. :

MR. ROSENBERG: That's all, .

JOHTN A. FORAY, of the Main Office Division,
a witness called on behalf of the People, being duly mri.

testified as follows:

R e




Q And ‘you are what is gomonly knolm as the partnor of

-

: au-oun llortnun. are you? A Yes, sir.

q ma you have a oonvorution with somebody in the a.ftm T.
 of October 34th of this year, and were you told to meet Hoffman?
A : !el; sir. : | -

Q Where did you meet, What day? A 33rd Street and Fifth

. Avenue, about 5 P. M.

Q And when you a.rrived ‘there did you meet himr A !el, liro:_

Q And who was with you at that time? A Ofnoor lloru.rty :
l.nd ofnoor Sohwls.

Q Andwhere was Hoffman standing at the time? A 23ra Strooé
and Fifth Avenue. ’ | '

Q‘ Anﬁ did you go any pla.oeA after that? A Yesa.

Q 'h'qre did you go? A Into the hallway of a bu:l.lding?

.Q What building? A I can't recollect what building.

Q Where was it? A On !'ifth Avenue.

Q And who was with yu at that time‘l A Officer Hof fman,
officer lloriarty and Sohauss.

Q And you had a talk, did you not, with officer Hoffman at
that time? A Yes,sir.

Q And did you subsequently see fheu defendants? A | Yes.

Q At that time? A Yes. s, ' ; 3

. Q Ama did you subsequently see these defendants? e & aw




where Simon Axler and Blume had been with the car. All three

" then went back --

q What were they doing at that tmo? A ‘nuy were ctna

; ulr tho oornor.

Q What corner? A llou the corner of 23rd Street nnd Fif:

lnnuo .

Q And what did you see them do at thet time? A About 35 Q!

30 minuﬁel later, the defendant Sion Axler walked to tho oom:'.'.
of 23ra Street and tifth ‘Avenue, where hé meefs the defendant
Blume, with a Pa.ckard car, uo. 373003, New York.

Q‘ Go on. A And Simon Axler gets 1nto tho touring car, a
the touring car drives east on 33rd Btreet. and stops bctwecn‘
Third Avenue and Broadwn_y.

Q Who were in that car at the time -- did you see, ofﬁoo’r.
while 1% was moving?! A The defendant Blume, the chauffeur, and 4
no ono else was in there until Simon Axler got 1n. at Hf‘th |
Avonuo and 33rd Street. The other three stood on the oornc ot
23rd Street and Fifth Avenue.

Q Go aho.d. A Shortly after the defendant Abe Axler,

Fershing and Rosenberg walked east on 33rd Street, and starts

thepbntered the touring car, and the touring car then starte

east on 23rd Street, and then went north on Third Avenue. We
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- Abe Axler, Fershing, Rounberg and Blume, -‘the chauffeur.

RS R T Uy BT s L

Q M‘ you uuoo 'hloh wq 1t turn on Thid Annuof A !v
llﬂ uﬂh . ' ; bt
. _Q" Were yoﬁ and thé other officere in &n automobile?
‘ No, sir; wo‘ were on a streetocar. |

BY MR. DONOHUE:

Q Now, when you saw o 4appear north on Mird Avonu-o‘._'
at 33rd Street, who was in 17 The defendant Simon Axler, |

Q When did you see them again af ter thqt‘t A We thon went .
back to 37th Street and oovarod the premises 186, We were there
about 15 or 20 minutes when the defendants, Stmon and Abe Axler,
wefo walking wbpt on 37th Street, and stopped in front ;of‘ the
premises 166, and looked up at the premises. Then they turmd
back ‘éﬁt and go east on 37th Street, about '100 or 150 feet, m
the oﬁr was -taﬁding at the ourb.

Q What car? A The touring car.

Q ‘l'he same car that you saw the five men disappear in, up
Third Avenue? A Yes, the same men were in the car that I had om \

get into 1t when it disappeared at 23rd Street and Third Avenue.
- & ’ v‘:;!
Then there was a short conversation, and the defeniant Fershing

&

and Rosenberg and Abe and Simon Axler come back and enter the = *-‘ﬁ

pr-un 166 West 37th Street.

s Q Yes. A 1In there a few minutes and all four ocome "



 first uﬂrod ‘hh prnnuo- 188 West 37th Btrnt. tonmd

i
2
.

'uoouing to the top floor, the fourth floor of the ‘premises.

floor? A Yes, sir. -

~all the way up the building? A All but the top floor, that was

Eo-Faleh el - L et $E._ 2 - e

J : uorny after by Simon Axler. 'nuy g0 into the premises. ‘;'horq ‘

u a light on the uoond floor in tha hanny. You could see them

' @ And did the light appear after they entersd? A The lignt |

; had been on the second floor. And they passed up to the fourth

floor ﬁd the light then appeared on the fourth floor. ¥

BY THE COURT:
Q Officer, you say they entered the building, and you say

that you could see them going up from the first to the fourth »
Q How could you see that? A By the shadows, by their forms
You could see the light in the hall, through the glass.

Q 1Is there a light, which throws light on the stairway

out.

Q And that glass looks out on 37th Street? A Yes, sir.

Q And you say when you saw these two defendants enteri;xg
the building you could see them going up the stairway? A _Yol;
gir; passing around the window om ’eaoh floor.

Q And you say thej got to the fourth flo;r? A Yes, sir;
and the light appeared on the fourth floor. ; ; "“'"'“Q
BY MR. DONOHUE: ;
‘ Q l.bn. officer.




; ﬁd ne ';“s

; THE COURT: oﬁjcbﬁon sustained.

BY THE COURT: '

¥ Q Did you see the forms of these defendants, these two :

defendants here, on the‘f'oﬁrth floor? A 1 did. . : g0,

‘BY MR. DONOHUE:. G '
Q Go ahead, officer. A They were in the Abuilding'cbout

15 minutes, when the touring car drives up and-ltopl about 35 or

1 e i i .
30 feet east of the premises 166. Rosenberg and Fershing had

walked to Seventh Avenue, and stopped on thAe‘ northwest corner of -
.Sovonth Avenue and 37th Street, They were there about ten minut
when the defendants Abe and Simon Axler come out of the pru‘ni.uq ",'
166, and walked over to the defendan ts Fershing u.nd(l!onh‘nb;r_g,
who were standing on the northwest corner of 27th Street and
Seventh Avenue. The touring oar, in the meantime, followed th-‘
up and turned .x'xorth on Seventh Avenue;,; and ltopiaod on the oomq
of 38th Street and Seventh Avenue, The defendants Abe Axlcf ,n‘.
Biion Axler and Rosenberg and Fershing, after a short conversati
- Abe and Simon Axler walked over to the defendant Blume, who was
stadding at 38th Street and Seventh Avenue, and, after l.'lhori's "
oomorl;tion with him, thé car turned east on 38th Bj:raet. '
The doton&mto Rosenberg and Fershing oome back and entered the

R

premises 166. In there a few minutes, and the car is coming

5

west on 37th Strest, and stops in front of the pmo”m



Q. ‘hﬂu me nuunt. Do you see this man now at the rai
: (nuuuting s man standing at the Bar)? A Yes.

Q 1Is this the man you have ocalled Roaenborgr A Yes, sir.

MR. DONOHUE: Please note, Mr. Stenographer, that
Isidor Rosenberg appears at the rail.

B _ ~ Q Now, go ahead, officer. A A few minutes later the

defendant Rosenberg comes out of the premises 166 West 37th Street, .

with a liigo burlap bag, followed shortly by Fershing, wi th an-
k. other large burlap bag, and they place the bags into the luto»uﬂfj:}
ol " Jump into the auto, and the auto was starting west, when offioo:_.";~
'Hoftw and me jumps on the running boards and placed them under
arrest. 'hen I seen they were covered by officer Hoffman,

I jumped off the auto and chased Abe and Simon Axler, w;:o were
running towards 38th Street on .Soventh Avenue, and I fired at b

And the:re is a subway station there, and they disappeared on me. b‘

1 followed them down into the subway, but the train had just

;,:' , started, and I didn't see anything of them.
Q And you say that Fershing and Rosenberg entered the bui’ld,-r;i-

ing, and came out wit.h the bags? A Yes, sir. i |

i Q Where w'ero the Axlers when they came out with th'o bagﬂ

A I should judge about 100 or 135 feet from the building.

i! THE COURT:

Q Now, you say that these defendants came amt of the bll:ll‘- ;

:
7
;

:




jci lUVOnih lvcamn-

_Street on Seventh Avenue? A Well, nearer to 37th Street.

have described put in the car, you jumped on the éar, did you?

Q Did th.y walk back on Seventh Avcnuo to 37th Btrntr :

A Not quite 37th Strut

' Q Then they were in the block between 37th and 28th Shntd;

_l Yes, ‘sir. ' : - B

Q Did they ‘stop and linger there? A Yes, sir. e x
Q What did they do? A They stood there. Possibly they

were watching the other two.

'Q No. We don't want that., Strike that out. What were they
doing there? A Talking between themselves. '

Q And do you know whether they stopped nearer 28th or 27th '3

Q When you jumped on the ocar, which had gone ‘through 38th

A Yes.

Q And what was the last you saw of the two defendante?

A Running towarde 38th Street. s ot |

Q On Seventh Avenue? A Yes, sir; on Seventh Avenue. .
Q And then you jumped from the car and pursued them? A Yo.._:*’z
Q To what point? 5 28th Street, and they turned east on &g

a38th Btroot.

Q Did they run through 28th Street? A I don't M

it OO e



ey Y0 B

A On Seventh Avenue. -

et

Sy ‘Q m:. were you when you say you fired the shot or l'hotﬂ"_

Q' And they kept on running? A Yes, sir; they kept on '

e

running.
Q Did you shout anything at them? A No.

‘Q How near were you to them at the time you fired the ohotr'ig"-l- ;

A Oh, aﬁout 75 or 100 feet.
: Q Abouﬁ_ what t-ime of night was thil-fl A This was abou't.
7%3,0 or 7:30. .
BY MR. DONOHUE: 3
Q And that was .tho last you saw of them that night? A VY”'."
Q Now, were you présent when officer Hoffman put them under ;r?
arrest? A I was.
Q Did you have any talk with them? A Wo, sir. 1
b - Q Did you hear Hoffman have any talk with khem? A No, lil’oi
. Q You didn't hear any talk from them ‘or with them at any .
time, did you? A No, sir.
Q Now, is there any doubt in your mind that these are the :

two men that you have been calling the Axlers? A Vo, sir. . g ;

BY THE COURT:
Q And are you sure they are the men whose _kwtiono you have
desoribed? A Positive.




. Q lun you spoken with ofnbr Hoffman about this caset’
A ihavo.
Q How of_tont‘ A About twice. .
Q Wnen? A I don't recall the dates.
Q Did you -peak»with him about it today? A Wo.

Q Did he speak with yo{x about the case today? A No. S

Q You were present in the courtroom and heard his toit‘imi’
- this morning? A No,'ur-. .
Q Weren't you in this gourtroom when he was on the ;tmdt »

A Wo, sir; I came in later on. ’ ; ,
! Q qucn'1; you in the courtroom before recess, when Hoffman
was testifying? A .I was here before recess, yes. - :
- Q And you heard him testify? A No, sir; : 1 was outeide
 at the ‘time, 1 went down for the evidence.
Q Then before the Court took the recess, you were sitting 1
the 66urtroom. a.nd‘ heard hin testify? A WNo, eir; 1 wu‘n'f in

the room when ho was on the stand.

Q And when he got off the stand you spoke to him, didn't ynt%
A Yes, he spoke to me. : R
Q Did you speak to him about his testimony? A Vo, .sir.
_And about what you were going to say? A -No, sir.

Q
.Q Did you speak about the firo escape? A WNo.
Q

:,lo nu-t -put at all lbout ‘the omt A lo. [ ol



A

:

‘of paper that I ‘had.

on your person while you are on dutyt A Not in the Datoonu»

o= i

. Q An'd'you didn't speak a‘bout. tho case af ter rvoo'o‘ui A lo p
q As to who.t you were going to say, or what lloriuty was
coing to uyt A Vo.
q Did you refresh your recollection as to what you were gomgir
to say? A I did thu morning. A

Q While Hoffman was there? A No.

'Q Why did you refresh your recollection? A I refreshed it
at home, A ‘ 2

'q But why? A So I would know what I would have 1‘:o nly.

Q Now, 4y0u‘ refruhcd }our recc':neotion from your mqnorm,dﬂ'r‘
book, didn't you‘r A No, sir.

Q- len, what did you refresh your reoolleotion from? A

Q Where ie that slip of paper? A I left it houo.

Q Have you a memorandum book showing an entry showing an
entry about this case? A  HNot with me. .

Q Don't the rules require that you should keep the mcmorlndn{

Bureau, no. f"

Q Well, wﬁen you were a patrolman didn't you have to do sot
A TYes, sir.
BY THE COURT:
| q Is 4t or is it not a rule that detectives are




-w your person. i | ’
' BY WR. ROSEWBERG: . T T

Q And the rules require you to put the different thing- m‘

i
- ey

-tunlpiro about a case into the memorand\n book, 80 that ‘when m

e

ouo comes up, a long time after the ooourrenoe, you can refresh

5 yeur recollection? A Ye-.

‘,,

Q low, you wrote ounothing on a piece of paper. didn't yon?

~Is that right? A Yes.

Q_ And you refreshed your recolleotion from & pieoo of pap:
ie that right? A Well, that's all the momorandum book is, noth -‘
‘ing but a piece of paper. |
. BY THE COURf: '
2 ' Q No. Now, you know the di.tferendo between a piece of p .

and a book. lon, answer the counsel's queltioh; Did you have

vmo_randun on a 8lip of paper, or written in a memorandum book?

A A 8lip of paper.

Q And what you put down on the 8lip of paper wasn't in m
memorandum book? A The names of the defendants I have in my
memorandum book.

Q (Repeated.) A Wo.

. BY MR. ROSENBERG: ' |
: . Q Now, you were present when Hoffman made tho arrcﬂ. weren '

you? A I was.

Q Wnere was the arrest made? A The arrest was made in

- eourtroom.
W L T 3 . .



Q Did you assist? A Well, there was no ,uu-nnoo'ao"u'ug ‘

N

‘part of the audience, and what did you do with them? A Officer

lm,‘—r yes, I ulutod.

Q And you took these two young men from the courtroom as *

Hof fman _toqk them down to l;ol‘ioe Headquarters.
0 Didn't you go with him? W
“Q Are you sure of that? A I am positively sure.
Q Didn't Hoffman have a talk with the defendants, then and
there? A Not in my presence. .I don't know whether RKe ﬁid or no
Q Did he have any ta.lk withi them while you were tﬁcro? A 4
Q Did you witness any talks between the -dofendantl and
Hoffman? A Wo. ‘

Q And while you were there, didn't Hoffman take them to m.

p0n of that court house, tha Jefferson Market Court Houut A lo.

Q Well, where did he bring them then? A He brought them 1
to Police Beadquartorl. ' |

Q Who accompanied them, outside of Hoffman? A I don'f kne

Q Now, when you say Blime, -Rdlonberg, Fershing and‘thno
defendants got into the viocinity of 168 'e-tl 27th Street, whér'-
ioro you? A When Simon and Abe Axlor.j got in front of the pr-uu“..
168, and looked up at }the' premises, I was standing on the corner
of 37th Street and Seventh Avenue, on the southeast corner -- h..

no, the northeast corner, on the street.

'AQ Where was Hoffman at that time? A He was with me.



A m Gfﬁoor mm-.

Q 'N then you were 1.11 there? A" Yn.
- Q And how long had you been fonovung thou several men

- ﬁu you hl'l described, from nve () olook until when?-- how long

1n a11 were you tonoung them? You got to Fifth Avanuo and 3m

ltrut about five o'clock? A Yes, sir.
Q With Moriarty and Schauss? A Yes, sir.

Q Is that corr_aot? A Yes, sir.

Q And.you got some :I.r'xfomﬁtion from Hof fman about tﬁeu no
18 that correct? A Yes, sir. :
Q 'hi.oh led you to believe that they were going to oo-at t
. - orime? A !u. sir. |

: Q Ii that correct? A Yes, sir.

Q Hoffman told you, didn't he? A Yes, sir..

Lt Q And he told you where they were going to oomit the crir

Ay

ﬁ%gv,'" didn't he? A He did. ;
£y Q Where did he tell you they were going to commit the orime
}&,. A 186 West 27tn Street, :
, ViR Q'“ And that was at'five o'clock, is that rig'ht?‘ A About

© five. : .

Q And then you finally followed these defendants, with
others, to the premises 166 West 37th Street? A From Fifth

Avenue and 33rd Street, ,
Q You finally followed them to these prauul in l'fth ltr. ]




G

';2,—o-o it is important.

Q flst 1-. nononberg, rorlhing and the. two dcfondlnﬁl. 1‘ 1

-ihtt eorzoot? A Oorroot.

Q Now, whore were you when thcy went upstairs? A On the

opposite side of the ltroet. on the first floor.

- Q Who was with you? A OfficersHoffman, Moriarty and Schau

Q How long had you been on the first floor on the opposite
cidd>qf’the street before the flour men entered the premises?
A About five or ten minutes.

Q You are sure of that? A Positive.

t qQ Now, what part of the first floor of those premises wor@‘ﬁu

the four men onf Xou rqurAmon? A Thefire escape. There 1i a

fire escape there that is in the building, and doeen't extend out
‘of the building, and we were in that fire escape. It has an

- opening in front, right opposite the éreﬁi-cc 166, almost level

with the fourth floor.

Q The first floor of those prémiaeo is almost level with

the fourth floor of the premises 1667 A Yes, sir, The prcnilolni

1686 1-7:amodoled tenemant house, I think,

Q And have you diloulued with Hoffman the loou::on of the
first floor with reference to the premises 1867 A ‘No, sir.

'Q Atno timet A Wo, sir.

Q And you didn't think it important to impress upon the

jury the relative positions of those premises, did you? A 'oll;

-
et g el Sl




§ "m mu lhadoin - 18 ﬂut corrootf A Yu. eir.

ok 4 _By vtho way, you were in those prémises, 166, weren't you?
A 1 was. g

Q And the hallway runs from north to south, doesn't 1+t?

:
2 :
BRI e e

; Yot

‘Q When you enter, you enter into a hallway? A Yes.

Q And how far back do you go before you reach the ltOP.-
leading upstairst A About 15 feet.

Q And then the stairs run perpendicularly upward? A Yes. 3

Q And the -tnrl-are about .15 feet from the front of the
premisee? A You have got to come around this way (iilnntr;ﬁing)-:;-{;'

Q (Repeated.) A Yes. : ]

Q Is that aorroat‘l A Yes, correct.

: +Q And when you go around, as you say, how near do you om
to the front of the premies, when you are turning the aturl.
up? A About four or five foot.

Q You are sure of that? A Yes.
= Q 4And now high is the window from the floor in the hulﬁﬂ #
A About three feet. |
Q And how large ies the window? A About six feet.

: } Q 4nd you didn't discuss the question of dimensions at

’ 'u:yf:loor Hoffmant A Never.

Q. Now, on the top floor, how far is the door leeding inte

PRI




Q m:;r Mt? A About.

Q Well, you say ‘about? 1 Could 1t be lqn’ or uoro?

m COURT: Well now, we all know what "gbout' nuu.

? " I think that every juror understands what the -‘tneu means
: by that expression. e A
BY MR. ROSENBERG: | 3
Q At any rate, when these men enj:ored the building, you
were across the itr’e‘et. in thie fire u:oa.po?- A Yes.
Q Wasn't thefe.any talk between you and Hoffman about the
use of the term "fire exit"? A Wo, sir.
| Q" Well, how do Jou get into this fire exit? A From & lott
and also from a hallway. I got into 1+t through the loft. :
Q Didn't you all . up together, you officers? A No, P
Q Were they th'ore&o you got up there? A Yes. Two or/{:_
three minutes e_l,paod»botween.. | E
,- A Q Now then, there was a time when the chauffeur was down
at 38th Street and Seventh Avenue, while you were at the cormer 7
of 37th FStroet and Seventh, on the street? 1e that correct?
A That's correct. ] |
@

Q And you had a good idea that he was there for am unlaw-

ful purpose, didn't you‘l» A Yes.

Q From what Hoffman told you* A WNo, from what I had uon.'

V mt mnﬂ Yes, sir.
...,ﬁiégy B e

<

FAS Q There wa®s a time when the four men were in the building,

3
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, !w 'of1ih- was tn thoﬂ.

Q M how long would 1t take you to get from tho escape
B across the street? A About three or four ninutgl, 1 guess.
9. b Q By the wey, was the loft of fned open when you got
:thcro? A qu. sir.
.  Q Didn't this thing happen on Sunday? A WNo, eir.
i Q What day did it happen on? A October 34th.

Q What day of the week was thaty A 1 think 1t was on Mon=

Q Monday? A TYes,

Q Are you sure of that? A I think so, yes,

Q Well, 1t would take you j;wo or three minutes to get wrof
the street from the mortheast corner of 27th Street, to go across :
t& street to 1667 1Is that correct? A There is an entrance ri

o opposi te 1686.

Lk R

e e
s E“‘_

Q I know that., A Two or three minutes to go down the stair=
b way and acrose the street. The stairway was dark where we were, r
and we didn't want to break our necks, and we wanted to be o_a.remg‘f
and it took several minutes.

Q Was there a tht in the building where you were? A In

the building there was plenty of light, up in the other lofts, ; i

tut the light was shut off where we were. : i ‘;‘
A : b
Q A1l right. There was a time, then, when the four men, ks

' imlndnc the two dofendn.ntn, u you say, were in 1667 A !”.s e
) =1 - _s....;...ud-l’



11 S lont, yn.

Q -low. ofnur. you examined the pronuu 188 West 87th

7!'620:“, af ter tm- burglary was oommittod. d.tdn't you? A Yu.

Q And you found that thore was an entrance, and went 1no£d.

of thou premises, un't that correct? A Yes. e ;

Q The entrance whore you say the four men went into? A 'u.v.. '

Q The rear entrance wasbolted and barred, is that oorrodt.-
e

or was there a rear entrance? A Not that & know of.

Q WNow, when you were in this fire escape, or fire exit, in
order to see the premises 166, in which direction would you havov |
to loock? A South on 37th Street. |

Q Now, is there not a building whioh adjoins these premises
where you were in, immediately in the rear of those premises, is

there not a side wﬁt of another premises -or another building?
’ A Yes, sure. .

Q How high is that other building? A Oh, I donjt know,

Q But the opening you say faces the premises on tho. oppoltﬁf
lide of the street? A The fire exit and the opening face 37th |
Street. It is on the 27th street‘ulda of the building I haee -
been in. ,

Q By the way, ie that fire exit enclosed? A 1t is onolom

in the ude and back, yeo, ‘but the front of it is open. It's uk. -'

an open window, but there is no opening in it.



llfiﬁlitii A lo. ltr; you would fall to the lidcunlk.

i

ey
e
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A Oh, I lhould judge B0 or 75 feet.

A 8, about 508 feet

e N S A PRI Ny LSt 3

418 like a railing there, a low railing.

" BY MR. ROSENBERG:

Q Aa‘ how far would you fall f rom where you were ltaadingf

*Q Do you nnnn an exit for people to get out of the buildin.;
1n case of fire? A Ye-, lir. .

Q And to get out they would have to drop 75 foot? A Well, ?h

I guess thoy use 1adderl._ The fire engines would get thore.

stand out there till the fire engines get there, and then they

puf up the ladders and take them down,

BY MR. ROSENBERG:

Q Do the jury there ipa 75 feet drop there?
Q And you didn't seée any ladder there? A WNo, sir.
BY THX COURT:

Q Officer, do you mean that you were looking out of ..p1-n..}

and that if any one of you officers had lplt your balance you

would have fallen ouf and down in- the stréeet? A No, sir; there

Q To prevent anybody from walking out of the building and i
falling into the street below? A Wo, sir; there is a railing

there.

I there mot an electric light on the corner of B7th ﬁj



B
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e

v

o ligh ,qu‘.ﬂfﬁdi'o-:on.W" '
Q yill. thor. 19 one on the morthesst corner, is .‘hu"“;
.‘ 1 waen't interested in the electric lights on the ooﬁun; :

THE COURT: If you do nbt'knaw, just say you do not

know, That is the answer. ' " ,
THE WITNESS: I don't know. 9
BY MR. ROSENBERG: : AL &

not? A Yes, sir. ‘
~ Q And there is a oa.f line running on that street?! A On
Seventh .Av'onuo. yes, j
MR. ROSENBERG: That's all.
MR. DONOHUE: That is the fooplo "l case, if your |

Honor please.

(Mr. Rosenberg then opened the case for the defense:l




.';ill.lg duly norn as a witnon in’ bohhlf .f

h!ondmt.. tutiﬁod as follows:
: v umr mlIlA‘l'IOI BY m. ROSENBERG:

B Q iow. keop ‘your voice up, What 1s your full name? A

Q Where do you live? A @ Olinton Stroet.r i -
Q. How oid are you? A lmefeen.
& a When were you nineteen? A October 2nd.
Q lith.whom d§ you live? A My people;,
Q !'ather and notherr A Father,mother, sisters md brothe:
Q low. were you in the neighborhood of 37th Street or 28th
Btreet. on October 24th? A Vo, eir. , »
Q Were you in the neighborhood of 33rd Street and Fifth —=
A Yo, sir, | ' }

QR - on that day? A -No, sir.

1 T EH | . Q Please wait until I finish my quen-tion, and then answer.
] A No, eir.
Q Do you know a man who was brought to the bar. just now,
by the name of Rosenberg? A lo, sir.
| Q Do you know a man by the name of llorril Fershing? A lo..._
Q Do you h_xow any chauffeur by the name of Samuel Blume?
A No, sir. | “ .

Q Did you ever talk to the chauffeur -- A I did not.

. Q Qn 28th Street and Seventh Avenue, on the evening of




A No, sir.

i 'M‘f W any stuff, because it was too high; and we f

: Q ,'or'»o- yoﬁ ever in the premises 166 West 37th Street?

' Q@ Did you commit a burglary in those premises, or sssist =

anyone else to ocommit a burglary there? A No, sir. !
Q On the might of October 34th, or at any other time? A Ne.
Q Did you mean that Vyou did not commit any burglary? A I j":':
did not. :
" Q Did you steal any furs? A I dici not.
Q@ Did you walk up the stairs on that a!ternooﬁ or evening,
with other men?. A I was never around there. |
| Q Are fou sure of that?t A I am.
:_Q And you have been in jail ever sihce yu were arrested?
A Yes, I've been in the Tombs, ' ‘
Q Tat is, awaiting trial? A Yes, sir.
Q@ When were you arrested? A We were arrested on October i
it was a Tuesday morming. I don't recollect the datg;ﬁ‘
Q Well, youwere arruf;ed Tuesday following the alleged
burglary, which would be the 35th? A Yes. :
Q Where? A 1In Jefferson Market Court. " o
Q What were ybu doing that day? A We wex;o supposed to "w

pedling that day, and we went down to Washington mrtét, and R




;0 i ﬁq took us into mon snd satd BEEREted 4 ke us o ﬁ"
.lon.dqurtu-. and we asked them what for. and they said for & {

_m‘),m in 37th Street, and we said we didnt't know unything bout

1%, and they got punching us around. - i AL 5‘
o Q Is the co-defendant your brother? A No, sir; my ooulla;

Q Were you on Seventh Ayenue that evening, and were you
rnnﬁingf and were you pursued by an officer who fired a shot?
lf No, sir. : ' |

Q Were you ever convicted of any orime? A Never.

Q Now, what have you been doing wifh yourself for the last
few youﬂm. A I was wornpg—:tor a dress manufacturer uptown.

Q What was his name? A Charles Bernstein & Oompany .

Q What is the addrguf A 3231 West 21st Street.
Q Doiixg Whl.t;l A As shippiné clerk.
Q

Did you work for anyone else? A When there was no work

to be done, I got a license and went out pedling fruit.
Q Have you got the license with you?! A No, eir; not with
mg., It is at home. .
Q And was your own name used in the license? A Yes. I've
hsd a license for years. When I wun't working 1 would jm out

v e 1,
‘with a horse and wagon and buy & load of fruit, and sell it.

MR, ROSENBERG: He is your witness.




‘ i' 'hm ym 11"? A 1 don't know him, ;
Q -‘You. don't know him? A No, sir.

Q. Don't you know he lives at 189 Clinton Street? A 1 nev

seen him before, only when I seen him in the Tombs,
; Q .Didn't you talk with him in the “Tombs? A WNo, sir.

Q Did you ever see him in the Tombs? A I ddd.

;,5-,; ~ q Didn't you talk to him? A WNo, sir.

}4;:7377 Q Di.d.n'-t you go to him and tell him to say that he wun"t‘

"“ with you that night? A I never did. I never even talked with

nim,

.( : ‘ Q He was on the same tier that you were ont A That's mw

\ no difference. . ' i

;‘ @ He was in almost the adjoining cell? A Well, that den‘t'g

:’ mean any thix':g. | |

3 Q And you met dnriné the exercise hour every day? .‘ Yng
Q And aidn't you talk to him sbout this case at all? A No,s
Q@ Didn't you ask him how he came to be arrested and tried

< for the same indictment with you? A Yes, He said he didn't he'a

me at all. He said to me, "Do you know me at all; lyou don't ;
know me, do you!" And I said "No:" ?3

Q Did you ask him whether he was concerned in this burgl

A lo, ur.

Q m you don't know l'orcung utur, do yon? A lo, lu |



: » ‘you doing, this Mondey night? A I was out
" agirl, me and Abe Axler. ' -
| Q TYou and this defendant? A Yes, sir.

Q Out with the same girl? A Yes. 7 e

ot | !ha.t time did you start out? A We started out qmlg
f f seven ;)'olook. i ‘ b ,L
57 5 Q - About seven o'clock? A Yes, sir.

Q That was on a Monday night? A Yes,sir.

Q Weren't fon working on that day? A No, lir;. it was a | ,
holiday.

Q Oh, it was a Jewish holiday? A Yes.

Q And where did you go that night? A Well, we took the ‘;""

i - for a bus ride.

| Q Where did you go? A We got off at --
& 0y Where did you start from? A Wasliington Square.
: Q Did you walk down to 'aaixington Square? A Yes, sir. .
Q Who was u.th you?! A Me and Abe Axler.
Q And what was the girl's name?n A Mary,.
-~ Q What is her last meme? A I don't know. I flirted with ~:

her and picked her up.
Q And how long were you with her? A I left her at ten
5{-::; # - ° .CIOOk. 'S

Q You were with her from seven to ten? A Yes, sir.

Q Did youask her for her name? A Yes.



,.tmu mﬂ A 1 Con'! ruﬁblr.

Q Where dld she 11'.? A 1 d.on't kno'. 'han I tookd her

hm I took her as far as tho sulway at Bpring und Lafayette.

Q Huvo you lookod her up sinoo that nightr. A llo,, sir..

%  .‘} '@ Did you get Mary's telephone number? A No, sir. . i
i ' f Q Didn't you want to meet Mary after that night? 2 Well, 'i
I don't know, I dighi'f make no special date with her. |
Q And didn't get her addreu'r A No, sir.
Q And you have no idea where she lives at a.ll? A No, sir.

Q Now, you were on this bus from seven to tan, were you?

A No. At seven o'clock we started to tu:e the bus ride, and whll"
| we got uptovm we stopped 1n to have coffee and oake. |
,QA Where? A At a restaurant on St. Nicholas Avenue and
155th Street. | i 4 o |
Q How far did the bus go up? A 155th Street, j
i Q What streetsdid -yog g0 through? A Up Fifth .Avenuc, %
then she goes over to Columbus Circle, through 'Safh Street.
0 Are you sure it is 59th Street? A Or 58th Street or
57th Street, I tnink 1t is. ‘ ‘ . ”'
e R Q And how far west did you go on 57th Street? A To River- |
side 6r1vo. :

- Q On 57th Street to Riverside Drive? A VYes.

Q iell, part of the Drive is on 57th Street? A She went

through 57th Street

Q To what avenue? A To Riverside Dr:lvo.



| Q Keeping on the Drive all the time? A On the Drive w1
. the time. A fir ot : .
. q Ana, as you went throlgh 57th Street, did you go over i
‘towards the water? A Yes, sir; that is Riverside Driver.
Q And how far did you go along the water! Up %o St. Nicholas
:’ e Avenue, you qd&? A Well, I don't recollect how fn ' &
;L e Q Well, about how far up the waterfront did you go from ' *
. 57th Street? A From 57th Street? |
Q@ Yes. A Maybe about up to 135¢h Street.
Q And which way did you go after that? A She turned in
e StL Nicholas Avenue. '
R Q Is that west or east? A West.
Q You went west from the Drive to 8t, Nicholas Avenue?
* A Yes, and got off at 155th Street.

B
? Q And Amsterdam Avenue? A St, Nicholas Avenue.
5 Q Does the bus stop there? A VYes.

Q Have you any idea of what hotel is on the corner there?
A I didn't take notice.

C'Q Is there not a big building there, a great big white
building? A I can't say.

1

Q Don't you remember whether there was one or not? A I d.il

not look u-o\u_:d.

Q@ Youdidn't notice? A Ho, sir,

" Were you so interested in Mary t}hsti you oon_ld-!.- see ayq



‘attention %o tho gu'l. that was 111.
Q na where did you go at St. Nicholas Avenue? A 'l.lkod
1nto a rutl.urmt. on the left hand side of the street.

Q On the corner? A No, about the middle of the blook.

‘restaurant.

“thought? A Yes.

qQ 'hat block? A Between 155th and 158th Btroetl.
Q On St.vlioholu Avenue? A VYes, sir.

Q@ And you went into a restaurant? A Yes.

ot |
1
(a7 |
&
¢
3

Q And was it a great big restaurant? A A plain ordinary

‘Q - Were there any t#ﬁle cloths on .t.he tables? A There mﬁt 3
imvﬁ been. .
Q@ Well, don't you remember? A Sure.

Q You wanted to give Mary a good time, didn't you? ~A Yes.

Q And you were bringing her to a swell place, as you

Q You wanted to bring her to a high claes restaurant, didn's
you? A Yes.

Q And what kind of a restaurant did you pick out? Just:

notice. |

Q Well, you were looking for a high class restaurant?
.A ‘1 don't know. They charged the same as tl;ey would in a high
class restaurant. .

. Q What did they charge? A A dollar.
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BY THE COURT:

‘Washington Square? A About seven o'clock.

of 1u m oof!qt and cake? A Yes.

Q And ﬁu rutwunt is on the right hmd udo. you say? -
A Yes.

Q Going up or down? A The right hand side going up.
l‘! MR. DONOHUE:

Q The right hend side going up? A Yes, sir.

Q Now, you are,‘l'uro of that? A Yes, sir.

Q Now, how long wer& you up there? About how long did you 1
stay in thie restaurant? A About half an hour. 3

Q About what time wu it that you got on the bus, at

Q And when did you reach 155th Street?- A Eight o'clock.
Q Were you on the same bus all the time? A Yes.
Q Didn't trl.nlfer at all? A That'e where you truufor,

from St. lioholu Avenue.

Q- iow, af ter you got up there, and you had your coffee and

cake, or whatever it was, where did you go? A Took the bus and
went home. : M ' i
Q Who took the bust A Me and him and the girl.

Q And when you say "went home", Where did'you go tot A Wy,

we took her down to Washington Square, and walked her over to the
subway. i _ ' |

Q 1 thought she lived uptown? A Vell, she wanted to go
vmnmm.tumna. ' )




e, |

: u{t'-ﬁé'uvdr el dm;'t tow, 1 st S

: front ot'-y Nouss,

Q In Olinton Street? A Yes.

Q And you just said, 'Oome; and have a ride," and she u’ai’ .

Q And you got dolin as far as 'qspington Square with ho_ri
A 'Yol‘. . |
0 And where did you go then? A We walked her to the'lub;
way station, at Spring and Lafayette Street.
Q ‘!'o‘wr'uo.h subway did she want to go, do you know? " The

up town subway.

Q Well, didm t she say the west side or east side? A io, ."'

Q She told you she wanted to go to that partioular ttatioh, '
Bpnng and Lafayette Street, did she? A Yes, sir.

Q And when did you get to the subway station? A _Bmi
around ten o'glock, or half past nmo...

Q And where did you go khen?. A Hanc.‘

Q What do you mean by home? A Stepped in to ‘get a pack of
cigarettes and #9et o el | | . e |

Q Did you hafe any more coffee? A No, sir. - ; |

Q What time did.ym_z go home to bed that night? A About
half past pen. :

q You .lway- go home about half past ten and go to bed. don'_‘:
you? A Yes, sir.

Q You are very seldom out later than half past ten?




&

: was at home when you got home? A Father, mothe

Q Father, mother, sisters and brothers? A Yes.

Q And do im say you'wero’ in the house that .ni'ght, from ten -

~ o'clock until the following morning? A Yes.

Q Who did you sleep with that night? A My brother, a
older than I am. :

Q What is his name? A Irving Ader.

t.i Is he here in court? A No, sir.

Q You slept together in the same room, you and Irving?
A TYes, Wi '

Q Anybody else in the smé room with you?t A No, sir.

.Q What did you do the next morning? A Got up at five
o'clock in the morning.

Q Where were you going?, A Going down to buy fruit.

Q But you didn't have any money, did you? A I could get

money off my people.
Q Did you get any money? A Yes.

Q How much did you get? A $100.

Q And what kind of a wagon did you have? A Didn't get the

wagon yet.

. Q What were you going to dot To buy a wagon? A : ilo. sir;
we don't hire the wagon until we get the stuff.

Q You first g0 to the market and buy the fruit? A Yes, si :

Q And then you buy the wagon? A No, we don't buy the

1ittle

o

b e

e




'1" A On'tlloii

‘ Were ,1« M'l ovor on tho Intﬂido to buy yonr fmt :
'Tbtirni?

A Yu. ¥

. Q And how were you gung to get 1t‘over in this wagon on ﬁl‘
& lllt S8ide? A The people I buy the stuff frbm were going to

e : deliver it, the stuff, to my houu.‘

'Q The wholesale dealers in the market were going to deliver '
the stuff to you, cart it over to your house? A Yes.
Q What were you going i;o buy? How many oranges? A Ten or _.

fifteen boxes, but the stuff was too high.

Q What was the price of the stuff? A $4.50 for a box of

: oranges,

e _ Q How many boxes did you intend to buy that morning?
A Ten or fifteen boxes,
Q Ten or fifteen boxes} A Yes.

Q And you say, when you got over there, the price was too

R R T T TR N < WL ey oM

high? A Yes.

Q Well, $4.50 waen't too high, was 1t? A Well, it was oo

much money for me to pay. :
- Q Well, didn't you have $100 with you?. A Certainly I had,

but that ha- nothing to do with 1t.

Q leu, why did you borrow $100 from your people? A To uy 3

'otaff. but the stuff was too high.

Q Were the oranges jany higher than usual that morning?




. Q@ TWnere did you stand to sell them? A Ninth Avenue and

© Q What day was 14?7 A The last Friday.
Q No, But I am speaking of when you were a.rrute&. You
arrested on Tuesday morning? A Yes.

SR L

'Q Now, when Bofora that did you buy oranges overA there at
_the market? A A couple of days before.
Q Well, don't jyou know what day? A Well, Friday, say.
- Q@ What did you pay for them? A $2.50 a box.
Q How many boxes did you buy? A Ten cases.
Q Did you sell them? A Yes.
Q fhat did you do with the money? A » lell;' as much as I 14 ~'
I give it at home to my people.
Q Well, you said you were broke, and had to borrow money f'
your mother. A Well, whatever money I make I give to my father
or my mother, and I went to her aod sn;i, "I want money to buy | :
stuff," and she said, "He're'l $100, go and buy the stuff." :
Q Did she intend you to invest $100 in érangolt' A No, 013;
only if I found some cheap ;rangea I could buy them.
BY THE GOURT:
Q How much did you invest in oranges the last time you pur—
chased 6nn_gel, before your ;.rrestr A §35. |

BY MR. DONOHUE:

Q@ What did you sell them for? A Eight #r a quarter.




Q AM huw moh profu did you make out of l load nko tha
A I might lwn m $20 proﬁt.

Q Hn lluoh did the truck cost your A $3.
Q Did you drive 1t yourulf? VR o P ‘ i
Q And you only made $30 by selling them that way? A Yes, -u;
Q And when is the next day before that that you were ut
pedling? A Saturday.
Q Well, what did you do when you didn't go out? Did you 'o
to the Magistrates' Court, listening to cases? A HNo, 1 go up u
work for this Birnbaum. |
Q Is he in the lilk business? A No; dréu.u.
'Q "Iu’re is his plaoo of business? A 3l West 21-t8treet.
Q And you say yov: worked for him? A Yeo, when they havo ‘
work. _ . | '
Q_ And otherwise you go out pedling orang?o, is that oorroo}f

: AVYOl.

Q Now, how did you happen to be in the Magistrates' Court
that day? What caused you to go in there that partioular day?

A Well, I used to go in there when I got a summons for standing

-Q

' .on the wrong side of the street, and I went there to pay a fine, Ak

- some times. . : 5
| L 2

Q Well, how of ten did that happen? A Very sdldom, once in :
a 'ulo.

Q_ '011. how otton did it happon in 311 your 11:.1 ‘ '.3,1,'13"




Q lon. how many summonses aLd you got ntogothu-? A

| 0 And io you had nothing to do on this putioﬁlar d'oy, m ’,{
 you walld in there? A Yes. S
Q And you had never been there before as a spectator, had
e ~ you? A Wo, sir -- yes, I had been there vefore. |
: . Q Wnen were you there the last time before that? A A
couple of months before.

Q Haven't you any idea when it was? A I can't recouaa‘t. i

Q What Judge was sitting, do fou remember? A I don't e
remember his name. |

Q You have no idea? A No, sir.

Q Well, had you been there before that occasion -~ as. a
spectator I mean now? A VNo, sir.

Q The only timesyou were in court, then, were once four

months ago, and once again on October 35th? A Yes.

O And you had no interest there at all on October 35thr
A No, sir.
" 3 Q You were no there because your friénd Rosenberg, .who
1ived in Clinton Street, and your friend rershipg, who nvo& in
"’ R Avenue C, and your friend Blume, who lived in St. Marks Pliao; |

were on for examination that morning? A WNo, sir,

Q You were not interested in them at all? A No, sir.




Mn. you left thorc? A Not right m M
ﬁntt open nntu mt put 8ix or six o clook there.

Q Aud‘whst hud you do when you made up your mind not to bw

bor twelve boxes at a time? A There might be fifty or lixtj.

through the market? A No, sir; it ien't.

any oranges?! A !lon, walked around, looking at the different .
stands. '1 ' 0

L. , et
‘Q When did you leave the market? A About half past eight.

“ #
Q You were not two hours in the Washington Market with the

_orange dealers' that morning, were you? A -Yes.

.
g

Q How many men are there who sell oranges by the oa.rtload, :

BY MR. DONOHUE:
Q And did you take up all this time going around to ask the 4
pricesof these men? A I did.

Q And, as matter of fact, ien't the price the same all

Q And you went from stall to stall, feeling each orange,

examining it, and then havirg the price told you? A Yes.

Q And when you got through with that, you had nothing else
to do, and you.deoided ‘w g0 to the Magistrates' Court? A No, ' ..
put I just passed by the court and thought I would step in. .

Qi What time did you get there? A About nine o'clook.

Q And the oourt had not hpom at t.hat time. had 1%7 A .o'.“hi

Q And you sat around there for it to opent A Yes, sir. i ; ;g
B | -

BY m_ownr:




;
o
i

A Right alongeide of me, 83 Clinton.

s fnt!nr.

- Q Well, Mﬁ Street and Sixth Avenue 1s not in th; ai
of uih‘on_ituoér A No, eir; but you have to pass Jefferson .
Market, n.tt'-or you leave the Washington Harket, to get to Clinton
Street. ' ‘
‘BY ﬁn. DOloubtz

Q Did you go through Eighth Street? A No, sir; th‘rougﬁ

Tenth Street, : : : ' e

Q Well, why didn't you go down through Seventh _Aveﬂue, 'nnd

: go through Eighth Street to the Ea'st éide? ik just' happened tov"f:
walk through Tenth Street. : ‘:
Q@ And you recognized the court building, as you passed it,

as being a oouré house? A Yes, sir. |
Q And you lived at that time at 81 Clinton Street? A Yoo;";?'

r Q- And between what streets is that? A Between Rivington '
and Stanton. | ' A

Q And, by the way, where does this other defendant liver

Q What is this man's name you worked for, as I mderlﬁod'
you to say? A Charles.Birnbaum. |
Q 31 West 218t sﬁeet? A Yes, sir.
/ @ He 18 a relative of yours, ien't he? A He is not.

Q 1Ien't he a relative of yours? A No, sir.

-

Q A fgi.ond of your family's? A He might be a friend of my




yt A Wo, seir.
q Ion. he is a friend of your fathor'c‘r A He might be a

,‘tum of my father's.

" (Repeated.) A Yes.

Q4 As matter of fact, did.nttvy'ou send onel §f your relatives
up fo'lu him.a.ndl'uk him to come Amm here and say that you
llbrked for him, while, as a matter of fact, you never worked for

~him? A WNo, sir. ' | i

Q Di.d you ever hear of anybody going up there to do that
for yout A WNo, sir.

Q How old a man 18 he? A A man about 85.

Q A man about 357 A Yes, sir.

Q About how of ten did he come to your house? A I haven't
seen him in our house for a long time, » _

.Q. Pardﬁn‘m? A I haven't seen him there éor a long time .

Q Well, before you were arrested, how often did you seehim?

A Maybe a year ago.

Q@ What do you mean, that you haven't seen him? Didn't you

work for him? A I didn't see him, that is, I didn't see him at

my ‘h/p . .
Q How long did you work for him before your arrest?

A Two yeu'l.

ks _;m years before that.




Q Just a minute. Do you mean to say that you hdda pedler's
~ license when -you were 13 years old? You say you are 19 yod;l‘oig

'»Q e ,' now., A Well, when I was 14 yoﬂ.u of age I had a pedler's uoon_u_( i

- Q You have had a pedler's license every year since? A Yes, "‘j

: I renewed it every yiu'.
Q Althought you worked steadily for the last two years, you|

say, for Birnbsum? A Yes.

‘

: wqok‘l A Yes, sir.

Q PFor two years? A Yes, sir.

Q That is, for the year 1920 and\ the year 1921, is that
right? A Well, I peddled before I was arrested. .
) Q How many days in th§ month of October did you pednletv
A About a week, :
~ Q ‘That is, every day for a week? A No -- well, in the ilon;_h_i
- of October I peddled for about a week. | A
Q And in the month of September how ;nany days did you pcddlofj
A 1 didn't peddle at all. b

Q VWor for the month of Augu-t. you did not peddle? A No,sir.

3

#-‘ ‘

Q@ So in two youi the only peddling you did m 3\(.1; a 1'”__’_)];3?'5



.hcro no work.

‘A lon. oortunln whm there was no work I wun't ml.oyod. i

,nm. DONOHUE: ' el | .

L3

0 Didn't you just tell his Honor that by ltoa.dy -nployunt
you mean six days a week? A WNot steady. If I had no work for a ‘y '
day or two I peddled. '
Q Well, you didn't peddle during July, August and September,
did yout A WNo, sir. ' j
Q And you only peddled thfee day‘ in the month of October, '-3
ﬁdo_ro ybu were arrested? A Yes. ' P

Q And one of the days happened to be a day you were in the

Magistrates' Court as a witnen? A No, I didn't peddle that uy..
I went to buy stuff, but I dida't peddle. | '

Q Well, why didn't you go to work that day? A Well, I m
down to buy stuff, a.nd I couldn't buy any stuff.

Q Well, why didn't you go to your steady job? Had you
givenit up? A No, because it was slow.
BY THE COURT:

.Q What 'wo‘rk did you do for Birnbaum? A Shippixig clerk;
but he didn't have no work in October, on account of the shipping

strile — no, it wasn't on account of the strike, but he didn't

2

Q 'hon were you.laid offbefore the 23nd of October?

e
I+
4
&
4
|

[
Jﬁ&._
5

A mn he had work he would let me know -hon to come up. o

ort————



'BY MR. DOWOWUE:

Q M also dnring that month you only peddlod three. dgy.. i

'you -ud botoro? A Yes, sir.

RS

Q 'lut were you doing the rest of the time? A I don't know 1

%

what you mean.
Q You_told'hil Honor before that you were laid off'on
Oc tober let? A Yes, sir. '
Q Now, i8 that so ér not? A Yes, sir. 7
Q You told me before that you only ,peddlojd three days the 5 1
month of October? A I did. _ |
Q And what yeré you doing for the other 19 days? A I 'u
working at moving pictures. 3
Q Oh, doing what there? A Usher.

ihero? A The Odeon Theatre.

Where 18 that? A 58 Clinton Street.

Q
Q How do iou spedl that? A O-d-e-o-n.
Q
Q

‘Who owns that place? A The M. & S. Corporation. ~
Q‘ Who is the M & S Corporation composed of? A Meyer and
Schnéider. That's the corporation.
Q Who else owns that theatre, b'eqidos those men? A I d'ou'!_'i
xnow.

Q Il'your brother one of the owners? A No, sir.
L4

; Q- Or is any other member of your family? A Wo, sir. i



._o--whondidyougo towork thon? A Aay

hi n’mt & man, ho took me on.

Q When did you go to work there? A The 1st of . 00tobu- -
no, the 2nd of October.

Q Which is 1t? A The 2nd.
And d14 you work there on the 2nd? A I did. e
Doing who,tr A As an usher.

‘Did you work there on the 3rd? A I did.

The 5th and 6tht A Yes, sir.

Q
Q-
Q
Q The 4th? A I did.
Q
o

; And for the rest of the month until the 32nd? A Wo, -ns'{"'
._np to about the 30th -- the 30th.
' Q Why did you stop working there on October 20th? A The

man that I took his place AN sick, and he come back.

Q What was the man's name? A Mr. Pherley. A

Q Did you call him Mr. Phorley? A I think that wae his
name. I'm not sure.

Q Was he an usher? A Yes. 3

Q Well, what did you call him? A I used to call him Phorh;
but I didn't know what his name was. -

Q !!ow long did he work there? A I don't know.

Q How long had you known him? A The time I was working ' |

‘there, a couple of days before he got sick. -

: Q Did you know that he was going to r_oport 'l:l.ck_‘l Ab



-

Q hd 'hat date was that, that you asked the boss? A On

uund.

Q Didn't you say that you knew hin a oouble of du‘yo Boforg

you went to work?! A 1 asked him on October 2nd for the job,
to pPut me on.

Q But did you ask him on the 2nd, or a couple of days
before that? A On the 3nd.

(-} " And was the man sick at that time? A He was going to

goaway that day.

Q And you only asked on that day, although youeknew he was

going away, because he was sick? A I didn't kpow he was going
to be uok.' He waid he wasn't feeling well.

Q How big is that theatre? A Oh, a thouund seats,

Q And did they have all men ushers, or did they have girls

as ushere? A Men ushers.
Q Do you wear a uniform there? A Wo, sir.

Q As an usher? A Wo, sir.

"
LJ

Q Did your friend, Mr. Phlrey, wear a uhif@rm 7" A No, sir.

Q What did you do on the 30th, when you didn't work there?
T might have gone
A T don't remember. Xxwasxgximg/to a show,
Q Well, but you might have gone podling. or marketing, and
you might not?t A VWo, I didn't.

_Q umtmmmaoﬁr 'u uutummt

g e —




the 30th was on? A No,
"Bivvou rd-uibn! ihut you aid on tho 30th? A !o. :12.

You say you ltoppoa work on the 30thr A Yes,

You didn't do nnything that day at all? A WNo.

Q WNow, do you remember what you did on the 21lst? A !ﬁo 'ﬁ

Q Yes? A I think it is on a Friday, and I was pedling.
Q You peddling, that day? A Yes, sir.
Q Now, what did you do on the 33nd? A I think that was a

holiday.

Q No. The 33nd was not a holiday. The 34th or 33rd was a
holliday. A Well, it was two of those days before this was uA»‘-
holiday.

q Wow, what were you doing on Saturday? A I was pedling
at Gand Street and Ninth Avenno.
pay for
Q What did you pmddis/your oranges for that day? A Throo

E dollars.

Q And the very next day they were $4.50 a box? A Yes,

and sometimes they were raised more than $3 a box.

J
b ~ BY THE COURT:

ii, Q How many days altogether in October did you peddle orangoll?

A How many days? i
Q Yee. A Two dayl, Friday and Saturday.

Q And before that you‘had not bought oranges :oi several

: ,m, m yun A No, u:.

A A T e S
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48 the first day you had tried to buy oranges away over on the

PRI L AR
T N T
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1t on Saturday.

Q hd who did you buy them from on thou two days? A 1011. :

= jroduao duhr.

Q Give us the name. A Joe Rosenberg.

Q 1Is that in Washington Market? A WNo, over in the Attorney

Street market.

Q Joe Rosenberg's store is in Abtorney Street? A Yes, ui.

Q That is on the east side? A Yes, sir.
Q And on both the days that you bought oranges, did you buy 3
them over at Attorney Street? A Yes, eir.

' Q Then this day that you went over to Washington Market

west side; was 1t not? A No, I always bought stuff thero; m
when I seen the -tuff was high there, I would jump over to tho :
Attorney Street Market.

Q But did you do that on the day of your arrest? A I done b

Q (Repeated.) A What's that?
'Q Did you jump over from Washington Market, West Washington i

Market, to the Attorney Street Market, after you found the prices

thn.t day.

lY MR. DONOHUE:
B ‘!lu m MM to Ma the pedling mueu !u




~ MR. DONOHUE: iﬁu& is all.
. MR. ROSENBERG: That is all.

oy

THE COURT:  Now, gonfimn, we will take a recess
until tomorrow morning at 10:45 o'oldok, Be in your seats, s

please at a quarter to 11 o'clook.

8

(The Court then admonished the jury in moor@o i -
witﬁ Section 415 of the Code of grimimap Procedure,
and adjourned the further trial of the case to
Tuesday morning, December 13th, 1931, at ten-

forty-five o'clook.)




'_.l: XLER, his crén.uﬁt'u'ufo}n tua' m

. testified as follows:
b 1 l’l MR. noloum:-

: : Q Now, yutord&y. Axlor. you told me that you worked for S,«

L AT

&

ot the Odeon. ‘n:oa.i_zro. on October lst and 3nd, and up to and 1nolmﬁ'
; Oc tober 'léth. of this yoar‘r A Yes. |
Q Do you still 1nl1.t upon thaty A Yes, sir. '
Q Did you ever see this gontlmn before (1ndioat1ng)7 A !
Q Do you recognize him? A Yes. 3
MR. DONOHUE: It is Mr. Sodowsky.
Q Now, do 'you know who this gentleman is? A I do.
Q And what is his name? A Mr. Sodowsky.
Q And he is the manager of the Odeon rheatre; is he nott
A Yes, | '
Q And was he at the theatre while you were working there?
A No, sir. !

Q You were there during the month of October, you say? A Y

Q You started on the 3nd and ended on the 19th? A Yes, s

Q Acting as usher? A Yes, sir.

) -

Q And you were there every night? A Yes, sir.

A A STV

Q #nd wasn't this man there (indicating Mr. Sodowsky)? |

e

Py
£t
g

A I didn't see him,

Q Don't you know that this man is the manager of that

ey tm. and has bna there for ton yuut A I'n seen him 'j,

L T e - Szl S
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Al u«'tmn-m the
m lm m you work there? A rron tho time I tollw ,
From the Bnd to the 191:117 i Yes, sir.

But you didn't know who ‘the manager was? A No, sir.

B ey e

But you sew this man around there? A Yes, sir. By
- Q VNow, .7ou also told you, yesterday, that you worked for
Mr. Birnbaum, of 31 West zlltt A 31 West 2lst. | |
MR. DONOHUE: Mr., Birnbaum, will you stand up. plmor
Q And you o.loo said that llr. Birnbaum was no relative of
yours, is that right? A (No answer.)
Q Didn't you say that yesterday? A I don't _r-nqnbor whe ,»
I did or not.
Q Didn't you say yesterday that he was not a relative of
yours? A I don't remember whether 1 did or not.
Q Is he related to you?t A Yes.

What relation is he of yours? A My brother in lu.'

.

And the firm is Birnbaum & Axler, 18 it not? A Yu,ur_;i

Q

Q

Q And who is the Axler in that firm? A A brother of lllin.,f-
Q. Andhyou saw that you workod for that firm? A Yei. sir.

Q

When did you work for that firm? A When did I work for
: ; 4

them?’ i

3
ke
!u. A A oouple of yeu- ago. ‘5

£

A oouplo of years ago? A Yes, sir.

Q But don't you remember S yesterday whem you
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* best recollection of what y

erdsyt A o years sgo. A R

Q Ana d;da't you say yesterday ‘mn- you worked for two

eteadil,y up to Ootobnz'"lnd; when pou were laid offf because thon

was no work for you to do? A I don't remember whether .I did °’ ._:;{

not. |
THE COURT: Wait a moment.

 BY THE GOURT: '

Q Didn't you tell me that you worked for two years, up to

Oc tober this year; don't you remember me asking you something

about that? ‘A Yes, si2; and T sntd —- e Distriot Attorney

just asked me if I worked there -tem. | ‘

Q Didn't you tell me that you worked there continuously
ﬁr two years and that the only peddling you did was about two
 days before the date mentioned in this indictment? A I don't -
rﬁombor telling yt.:auh that. . . ; :
' THE OOURT: Well, maybe you did not. Proceed.

BY MR. DONOHUE: :

Q Don't you remember his Honor asking you whether you wor Y

steadily, and you said yes, just twice a week? 5 No, I didn't.; J;
. ‘/I;}}

Q WNow, when did you work for Birnbaum & Axler? A " 1In 18189,
I started to work for them.
Q 1In 19197 A Yes, sir.

Q And when did yu finish? A Last June.
Q Last June? A Working on and off.



i

0 Don't you remember telling his Honor yesterday thltyeu

Ol d1dn't do any 5.5&11_;3 in July, Augult. and Stheanr_. and only

| pmlod three days in October? A 1 don't remember t'olling hil "
& | ' i

Q But is that the fact? Didn't you peddle in the months

of June and July? A Not every day. When I had stuff I went

' out and peddled 1t.

MR, DONOHUE: That is all.

MR. ROSENBERG: That is all.

IBIDOR FRIEDMAN, being recalled for further
oross examingtion, testified (through the Offiocial Inter-

preter, Mr. Landau) as follows:

OROSS EXAMINATION (Continued) BY MR. ROSENBERG:
' Q Now, Friedman, will you tell the location, the exact loc

‘tion of the stairs with respect to the hallway? How far did you

have to walk back from the hallway to come to the stairs? A Abo;t 5
s five or six feet. : s

0 Now, are the stairs enclosed, or are they all open, so
that you can see a person walking up?! A Yes, if you walk up,
one can see you.

 Q Yes, when you are in the hallway one oan see you; i




!un. tﬂ- the tront of tho muu.t A I don't quuo wm--

wtand what you mean by that. | |
Q Well, when you get on the fourth floor, where your loft u.;_,_._:
i’w,tag do_you have to walk to reach the @tranoo to your loft?
Jah A About four feet. |
| Q And how far is the entrance to your shop or loft from the
front window, faoi_ng on 37th Street? A Also about lilf.o‘lt..

Q And how high is the ceiling from the floor, on the fourth
_floor, in the loft? A-vlt'i_a a low ceiling. It ien't tall, 1t \
.-hn'-t'high. ' ‘

Q OCan you tell the jury about how high it is? A Well, from

the floor a little above the. two lights ﬁere (indicating the side |
lighte of the courtroom. b
lm. nosmsmc- Would you make it ten or eleven feet? ,‘
7 A R nouoml:- Whatever you like about that. Lot the
N | Foreman say. .

THE COURT: Mr, Foreman, will you stand up, please,

turn around and look at the height between the foot of the

baseboard, the floor, and that electric light, and gl.vé us

.
%
S

your best estimate of what that is.
THE FOREMAN: Ten feet. i

MR. ROSENBERG: We all agree it is ten feet, then?

Q And is the hallway on the fourth floor the same height? ;
) ; - . 3 ‘5_',7‘ :
A Sure, the same. e - g




- on ﬂu !ourth noozt A l‘m the fire escape there 10

’k.’.
gL

. on 31.. ;

unu. ud tron tho toilet you can enter tho shop. ) i g ,' 1
Q And is thn toilet between the front of the ﬂou;o andﬂu
stairs? A Yol. 1n the middlo. o : i 3
Q WNow then, how far -- oh, you still insist that ‘there nro‘
three coats ‘missing? A Yes, three coats are muing.
Q Well, who did you get the other property from. the ponoof
A Yes, sir; f_rcm Headquarters.

MR. ROSENBERG: That is all.

ABRAHEAM  AXLER, _of 66 Clinton Street, one of the
dofonda.nt-, called as a witness in his own behalf, being
duly sworn, testified as follows: | '

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. ROSENBERG:

‘, Q How old are yoﬁ, Axler? A Going on 231.

' z

Q Telk loud, so that the last juror can hear you. A Going

Q Now, you are charged with having burglarized these pruno--:' =
es, 166 West 37th Street, on the '‘24th day of obtobor of this year.
Were you concerned in that burglary in any way} A No, sir.

Q Were you in the premises on that day or any other day?

A No, sir.
. Q Or that evening? A No, sir.

- Q loro you in the mtonobuo uth Blume, as duoribod by

o g



tihcw pcrtono llntlonod ho:o? A lb.'-ir.

Q . Were you on B?th Btrnt. and spoke to the Ohuuﬁmr
A lo. sir.

Q Or on 38th Street and 37th Street and Seventh Avenue, M
Qoto to the chauffeur Blume? A Wo, eir.

Q Do you know Rosenberg or Fershing? A WNo, sir.

Q Did you commit the burglary or larceny referred to here? |
A lb. 8ir. |

Q With fhun or either of them? A No, Vlir.

MR. ROSEWBERG: That is all.

CROSS nm.ATIOl BY MR. DONOHUE:
‘What do you do for a living? A I am an assistant outto’r.,
Who do you work fort A L. loingr. ' ki
And where is that? A 11 West 17th.

And how long have you lived in 63 Clinton Street?

» © © © ©

18 years.

Nre you a relative of Simon Axler? A Yes.
What relaton are you?t A Cousin,

Cousin? A Yes,

-~
St

Do you know Mr. Birnbaum? A Who!?

® © © ®» ©

Mr. Birnbaum? A Yes.

;- Q What relation is he to yout A 1 don't know,- some cousin,

I bonovc. :

Q !u'i he your hro&u- ul hvr A lo, sir. .

s "J.N



Q Who !’_aﬁn”‘l’ A Simon's father.

@ Now, where were you on this day? A On what day?

~ BY THE COURT: | il s 3
Q What day do you think we ar§ talking about here? A I donﬂ;

know, your Honor.

1

THE COURT:  GPe him the day and the date and the time.
BY MR. DONOHUE: . ‘
Q llioro were you about eix o'clock on the afternoon of

October .34tht A 1 was around Clinton Street, that time.

Q You were around Clinton’ Street? A Yes. :

Q And where were you working at that time? A For L. Weir

Q And what kind of work did you do? A Assistant outto_r’w.

Q Aesistant cutter? A Yes, sir.

Q And what time did you get off from work? A Five o'clos |

Q And were you off at five o'olock that day? A Yn.‘ur.A

Q Did you go to work on October 351;h? A I didn't work :
that day. ATy '

Q Why didn't you work on the 35th?t A I didn't feel like N
5 - going to work, I tock off that day. ‘ : E :

3

Because you were tired? A WNo, I _didn't feel like worki.ac.'

i
i
: £
Why not? A Because I wanted to take a day off. ]

Well, was there work for you to do? A I don't know.

You didn't go over to the shop? A Wo, sir.

© © © © ©

Then that happened to you of ten, that you don't go to s e
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and went downstairs.

t11 half past ten. - e _

Q Well, that is not umusual with you, is 1t? A HNo, sir; -

I usually go to bed about half past ten.

Q. And when did you wake up on that. morning? A Nine o'olook.

Q And what did you do when you woke up? A 1 droued myself

Q You dressed yourself and went downstairs? A Yes.
Q About what tiﬁe did youvget“downltutﬂ A About hdf-
past nino. ,
' Q And where did you go? A I was 1.n front of my houio.

Q Just standing there? A Yes. |

Q Who were you talking to? A Myself. ’
Q ‘l'uliing to yourself? A Yes.

'Q And how long did you keep on talking to yourself? A About

half an hour.

Q And then it wu. about ten o'oclock when you stopped talk.tng
to yourself? A Yes, sir. -

Q Where did you go then? A I didn't go anywheres.

Q : Ioli, what d:ld you do? A  About 11 o'clock I went t;ver to
the Odeon Theatre, to see the pictures.

Q Well, weren't you u'rutod in the Magistrates' Court. on

RS S S =

~ that dayr 2 1 don't know what m you are lpuking at. You :é



e & % s,
i q _lﬁy’. weren't you arrested in the lhgiotiatu' Oo'uiv-t’ on
the 35th?t A I don't recollect what day I was arrested. s :
s THE COURT: Just a minute. : : _‘sf
BY THE COURT: | .
= Q ldll, if you don't reoolleot, don't say positively and
dlof'i.n.itcly that you were u're-l'cod on a certain day. A Well, I
dpn't recollect now. |
THE MURT: Well, then, say that you do not recollect.
BY MR. DONOHUE: |
Q Is that your liguture (indicating the Magistrates' Oour‘l»&;"-“;
papers)? A Yes, sir.
Q Now, does that refresh your recollection as to the day
were arrested? A Yes, sir.
| Q Now, when were you arrested? A 1 was arrested @n the j
KXztx 35th, 1 didn't know what you were talking about.
Q Well, that's the day you have been telling me about, is :
it not? You got up ;t nine o'clock ana stood _talking to youridlf"

for half an hour or so, at the street door, is 1t not? 8o you

LI Ol  T

“have been talking about the 34th? j Yes, sir; I didn't goto

work on Sunday, but on Monday I did go to work. That was the -BStIl.A

Q Now, I will look at the dalen_d_ar and show it to you. mm

385th of October #as on Tuesday. A Monday or Tuesday.

Q Wait a minute, please. And the 24th was on a Monday.




m 0‘0 lont from work at what time? A At ﬁvo ;

Q And where did you go then? A Wentup ta the house and ate

b e 5:)%1!? :,ﬁ-’p—';'_qT $28.
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. again.

mﬁor. and went downstairs ‘and went into the piotures.

Q What time did you get out of fbe pictures? Aﬁout half
pﬁt seven. | v _ '

Q And then where did you go? A I stood around the blook.

Q Yes. A And I went to sleep. | .

Q loﬁ, did you hear Simon say yesterday that on the ztfh o
you and ho_ nef a girl outside of his door, and you took a ride !.u'f';Z
a bus? A Yes.

' q 1s thattrue? A Yes. A

Q Then you didn't go into the moving pictures at half puf-

seven? A Well, I went in to the theatre and he called me out

Q So that when you said you went to the moving pictures and

saw the show, and went home and wcnt to bed, you were wrong?

A No, you didn't ask me that question,
Q What time did you go into the moving pioturel‘l A I don't
know; 1 can't recollect.
Q Was it before six o'clock?. A I don't know.
Q Was it bafore'ﬁ.ve o'clock? A I don't know.

Q You left work at five o'clock, didn't you? A Yes, sir.

Bl g 2 !
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Q What time did you get home? A Half past five.




q. And where did you go next, at six o'clook? A To the pie
tures. : L e

Q, D1d'81ﬁh tnow whéré you were goingf- A He did, because I
left word with the oandy store man whoro 1 was going. the muug
pioturu, and he came ‘and found out !here I was.

Q Did he have the girl with him when wu met him? A Yes, ho
had the girl and he called for me.

Q What did he say? A He said he was taking a bus ride.

Q ind_v_nnted you to >go with him? A Yes.

Q Did you go-‘l A Yee;

Q Where did you geton the bus? A Washington Square.

Q How a1d you get over there? A Walked over.

Q How didMyou walk over? A lifh my feet.

Q But through what streets? A I don't remember wh;t it‘r
I ia_lkad through. : . 4

"~ Q You have no idea? A No, sir.

Q Did you walk with the girl? 5 I walked with the girl and -

he walked.
i Q Do you rqnanbor what side of the girl &ou walked? A I
‘don's know, I guess. the left hand side.
'Q But you walked over? A Yes.
Q | #nd got on the bus? A _Yea, sir.
. Q What time? A About hglf past seven or a quarter to
eight. | ’ '




Drive, too? A I wasn't 1ntoroltod in the streets.

 side of St. Nicholas Avenue, is it not? A It is on tho west

Q lal T luppeco you. wbutln:oul 59th Street to nivcrladu .

- Q You were interested in Inry the girl I suppose? A Yes.
Q Where aza you go at 155th Street? A Went to.a restaurant ﬂ
there. ( : il
" Q On what side of the avenue? A Righf hand side, between
ibsth and 156th Streets.
Q And, atter‘you had something to eat in thie r;sfnurlnt,'
where did you go? A Went home.
BY THE COURT: ; |
Q lh;n you say the right nandlaide, which side do you»lnln?ﬁ;
Going up town? A Yes. : i
Q That is what side of the avenue? That is on the e;lt"

lid..

Q Are you speaking now of a restaurant on the right hand

side of St. Nicholas Avenue? A Yes.

Q WNow, if you were walking up St. Nicholas Avenue, wouldn't
it be the east side of the avenue that you would have on your
right hand 8ide? A Yes, sir.

Q And then you say it was the easterly side of St. Nicholas

Sekiageiest

Avenue that you are now talking about? A Yes, sir. i

BY MR. DOIOHUE

Q lu; af ter you had something to e;t, did you got hank ug?ﬁf




1de dow -ﬁhnt A To 'ighington .squu"o\., 5
‘ ““‘_'ﬁ..'you went home? A No; ‘tirl't we took tie girl
over to the subway. .

Q What time did you get home? A 1 don't kndw what time;

- I didn't have no watch.
@ About what timef You don't mind my asking you' these ques-
tions, do you? A WNo, eir. | '

e pn Q What time did you get homey p Around, near ten o'clock,

Q And you went to bed, didn't you? A Well, first I went

~home from the subway, then I went to bed.
Q And you got to bed about ten o'clock? A Yes, sir.

Q And that is your usual hour for going to bed? You a.ro‘

ﬁlually in bed at ten o'clock? A No, sir; ten or half past

ten, or eleven, any time I feel like going to bed.

Gl Q@ But you go to bed‘u-ually very early, don't you?r A S
. , ﬁﬁ-. :

Q And the next morning yoﬁ woke up and felt tired, and |
didn't want to go to work?_ A WNo, sir.
i’; : Q And there was no reason for it at all, was there? A 't_
‘ it was slow in my line of business, and I thought 1 woul‘d take .‘ i F
a; day off. . .

Q Well, didn't you say juet now that you did not take off

) o
the duy_beoau-o it was slow, but because you wanted_‘to take a -

~ day offt A No, sir; I don't think so. I don't remember sayi




.h'

ihtro 'll no work.<

Q And that's the reason why you stayed off then? A Yes.

Q And you say you got up at nine o'clock, is that rightf

A I don't reoolleot whut time I got up.

SRR L

BY THE COURT:
: Q Didn't you say you got up at nine o'clock? A Well, bei,’oro‘.‘»
I did say that; but I dqn't rebollcct what time I got up.b |
A Q Ahd now your answer is that you don't know whether you

got up at nine o'dlook or‘ndt‘r A WNo, sir.
BY MR. DONOHUE: |

Q Well, was it ten o'lock? A I don't know.

Q CAn t you give us any idea of what time you got up?
A lo, sir.

Q Well, what did you do after you .got up? A Well, the d;y -—;
before 1 wes arruted - ;

: at
Q No, I don't care about that/all I am speaking of the d

you were arrested, A The day I was arrested, he sent me down
to the market. , : ; T
Q Now, please wait a moment. D; you remember thg day bofoic;%
you were arrested? A Yes, sir. |
'Q You told me you remembered it well. -‘A Yes.

Q What time did you get up in the morning, that day? A I

don't rmbir; _whcthor it wai five, or six or nine o'clock.

ol
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Q ~i§‘?ybu_n¢rooﬁ tb‘gpﬁ‘up at five o'clock? ; Yes.
Q : lo".tl, that was a most unu;ﬁnl hour for' you to "got up, -
M"-t- 1t A -nll. I don't know. Some'i-;imq_a I get up earlier . |
thu; that, i . g

‘ Q But not when you were working for Mr. Weiner?t A WNo, sir} |

I get up at seven o'clock when I am working for him.

Q Why did you get up so early then? A Because he said I

was going to market with him and he would give me & chance %o
make a few dollars. | |
Q How much did you get, how much salary do you get, in yourf
employment with Mr. Weiner? A $35 a week. o
Q' And yet you wanted to go out peddling oranges? , Ion,_f
I wanted to hﬁve a day out with my cousin, I wanted to be out t
the air, I'm all the week in the shop. ' '
Q And that was the first time you had ever done anything
like that? A Yes. '
Q You never peddled with him before? A I pe&dled a long o
time before, before 'I :got the job. '
. Q Well, did youd?er peddle with him? A Yes, three or
four years ago.
'Q Dia you have a license? A No, sir.

Q How did you peddle then? A On hie license.

Q He had a license four years ago? A Yes, sir.

-~
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Inn, n;ht next to each other? A No, sir.

Q Ion. how long do you live right next door to hmt A A
" oouple of years. Al : ; 5

Q f_'hy. in the Magistrates' Court, didn't you say fhit you :
vl &% 63 Clinton Strest for 16 years? A Well, I sdmitved WheiEl
't 11 ' ' ‘
Q And didn't you hear Simon say that he lived nexf door,
at 61, toi' 19 years? A I didn't hear Bim say that,

Q@ Do jou recognize his signature on this paper ‘(1ndiotting

Magistrates' Court papers)? 4 Yes, sir. ’ »

Q Where he says that? A Yeé.

Q And so that on this particular night you. decided to go 1t
in the morhing to peddle oi-angol, to get the air, though you nad
a job to go to? A Yes. ‘

Q WNow, what time did you get up? A Five or six o'cloock,

I don't remember.

Q Haven't you any idea? A No, sir.

@ It wasn't as late as seven o'clock? A I don't think 1%

Q You think it was between five and six? A - Yes, sir.

Q‘ And when you woke up where did you go? A We went over ,-_'f

to 'uhington Market.

- Q But where did you go immediately after you 'ot Iﬂ o |



B Doangiie Tues BN Ve gt
.

" hl1f. ’ A

Q Did you see m- mother ngo‘nm‘noor A I didn't see

nothing. A . ' My T f ';lﬁ}-

(B i} A

Q Did you knéh‘ihothor-hn had any money or not? A No, sir

W

Q md fou have any ioneyr A No, sir.

Q Not a nickel? A Not a nickel.

.Q And yoﬂ just got up to go over there to help him} A Yes.

Q And how long did you stay in laanzngtbn Market? A Abou ,f
two h'burl, 1 gud.'-l. '

Q bolng what? A Walking around, trying to buy stuff, .

Q And I suppose you were feelfng the oranges and pricing
them? A 1 didn't do nothing. : |

Q But you saw him doing that, didn't you? A Yes.

Q How long were you doing that! A About two hours and a .

Q Did you see a clook over there? A No, sir.

Q Well, how do you know how long it took you? A About '

that. . I didn't see no clock. : ’ o
Q And during the two hours and a half Simon was going .
around pricing the oranges? A Yes, sir. |

<

Q And it was about eight o'clock when you got ‘through?

A About half past seven or guarter to eight, I think.
Q What time did you leave the market? A About half past
seven. I didni't have no watch to look at. .



stop at all between the time you went to &t
' market and the time you arrived at Tenth Strest, or did you k
' on walking? A Just went in for coffee. /

| Q How long did that take you? A" About half an hour or

three quarters of an hour. o e
Q And what time did you arrive at Tenth Street? A I don'tffl
know.

Q@ You have no idea? A No, sir,

Q What part of Tenth Street did you arrive at? A Tenth '

.vl' Street and Sixth Avenue.

to hear some cases.

£ %

1: Q@ Well, you were busy that day? A I waen't busy that day.

¥

Q@ I mean, you had a job to go to? A I didn't go to work

that day.
. | Q@ Well, when you found there were no oranges to be Pnroi-’i 
v to be sold again, aﬁg you found.that.you couldn't spend fho day <Y
in the open air, why didn't you go to work? A VWell, I figured 1fb?

was too late when I got to the court house. %

0 Well, why didn't you go direct from the market? A I »Tﬁ

didn't feel like it. I figured I would take off one day.

b ] :
Q You figured you would take off one day? A Yes.

Q. You had no money? A No, sir.

. Q Youneeded money very badly, didn't you? A Oh, I can

o R



ﬂoa ropu’ud ) A 1 didn't need no mnoy.

:q You didn't neod myf A To, siz. : - 2 S B
' Q And at half paut seven you deoided that you would not ; yﬁj :' i
go to wnrk because you didn t feol liko 11:1 A No, sir. : 4
ka R 10 Q You could have gone to work if you had wanted to? A Yes. ﬁ
Q 'But you decided to go around to the Magistrates' Court
to 0‘9 what wa§ going on? A Well, I suggested it. We wanted to
waste some time:.
Q Had you ever been there before? A A few times.
Q When were you there the last time?‘ A-_In 1930._-
Q Were fou in the habit of going into these courts and
watching what was going on? A No, sir.
v < Why did you go in, this morniné? A Beo;.no it was téo : 4
' oariy to stand around the block, and I decided not to 36 to wp:kgi
@/ 1 thought you wanted to stay out for fresh air? 1 unde =

~ stood you. to say that you staysd off from your regular job bOOl.‘i

you wanted to get some fresh air. A Yes, because I was }pdoorl ‘
all the week,

Q Then why did you go to the Magistrates' Court at nine

o ki Wt

o'clook, when you wanted fresh air? A Well, I had all the day

- 5
before me, didn't I? , e

¥ v

Q Well, it was orowd.ed, was it notk the llagistratoo' Oourﬂ::;a

2 S
A ! X g “!,[ :

- A I don't know, I got a seat.

Q- loll. wasn't it orawded? A Well, I didn't look around

- %o see if it was orowded or not. There was pcoplo in the

i o, BB



Q Were there as many people over there that morming as

_ihoro'ir-'hnro how? A Well, I ocouldn't say. That courtroom is A8

smaller than this.
Q !cuiworp not interested, by any chance, in Mr. Isidor
Rosenberg; were you?t A No, sir.

Q He lives at 189 Clinton Street; didn't you know that?

A No, sir.

Q You were not interested in him at all? A Vo, sir.

Q And you were not interested in Morris Ferlhihg.,who 1170.;'

right around the corner from you, at 89 Avenue C? A No, sir,
MR. ROSEVBERG: 1 object to that question, because the

District Attorney assumes something in his question, iamothiir

' that has not been proven.

THE COURT: Objection sustained.

BY MR. DONOHUE:
Q Where is 89 Avenue C? A Around Sixth or Sevpnth Btrdot}'f
Q Wow far from where you live? A About 7 or 8 blooks. -
é | . Q How far is 68 St., Marks Place from where you livo? A Aboﬁt;L,'
7 ten blook;. ;
Q And you were not interested in any of those men, by any

chance? A No, sir.

Q - And how long did you intend to stay in the court? A

an hour, or perhape until eleven o'clock, and then I Ibuld‘gﬁlt. @f

ﬁyp_niciirou.




~ arrested? A Yes, sir.

.‘..'ihi”diiﬂind oourtruo- nnu.inicul to
H (.m*,w show? Why didn't you stay out in the opu :
A '011, I felt just like doing that.

Q You hadn't taken a day off for some time, had you? : A
A I have Sunday oﬁ' all the time. ' 5

Q Were you ever off any other day than Sunday, during tho F.
yn.r bdoro? A I ocan't ronombar.

Q And yet you took this day off to get the air? A Yol,lir. i

e But you decided to see the pioturelt"a Well, I didn't |
‘know whether I would go or not.

Q At any rate, you were in the Magistrates' Gourt for abont,
two hours, weren't you? ‘A Yes,

Q Were you both arrested together, you-two men? A Yes. _,i
And 1 asked the officer what he arrested_me for.

Q You were quite surprised? A Yes.

Q Ii_mndeﬂquite an impression on your mind, didn't‘it. to ‘J

.Q St;ll a little while ago you couldn't  tell us on what‘dly 3
if was? ‘A Because I didn't know what day you were ¢ élking.at. E
Q How old are you! A 3l. :
Q Have you ever been convicted of a orime? A WNo, sir.
@ Aren't you on parole now? A No, sir. ' : P
Q

Never have been conviocted before? A Wo, sir.

MR. DONOHU:E That is all.

T el i Lo



m umd‘r A No, sir.

q or unything to that effect? A No, sir. '

Q Did you tell him that you wereguilty of the orime oharﬁ‘l_
‘againet you here?t A WNo, sir. pou ._A.; dhy |
gl ..Q You heu'd.l_nm foetif.y here yesterday to that otfeotf
A Yes. ; |
| Q Did y.ou make the statement he gave here yesterday, or

anything to that effect? A No, sir.

v Q" Now, the District Attornoy' you about one occasion when m:#’:
lu_d‘you were talking to yourself about hglf iln»'hour. Did you
~ understand what you were saying? p Yes.
% Q Well, were you talking to yourself? A Well, if 1 was
standing alone I couldn't be talking to nobody, could I?
. Q Well, but you told the District Attorney and these jury
I men that you were talking to yourself for a.bout ‘half an hour.
A It was a fc'm;igh question to ask me, when I wasn't talnng to
hobody; _ :
Q Well, were you tn.lking to yourulf?‘ A No, sir.
REGROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. DONOHUE:
Q Now, do you want me to understand that you were working |
for L. Weiner -~ A Yes. |
Q One moment, please. -- and that you workod-;or him on ‘é

October 34th? Now, think that over ouo’fuily. Did you work

e

il

Y.

“ ;
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ek | iﬁ,-;no you sure?! A Yes. :
e not 5
Q Now, as matter of feot, did you/lou.vo loiner over a yow
n‘cr A I :unr Iert loinor.
Q Wait a minute. Weren't you discharged by Weiner over a
year ago? A Wo, sir.
| Q Vow, think'i_t over very carefully. When was the lut'

time you worked for Weiner? A One day before I was arrested.

‘ Q What dywas 1t? A The 34th.

) You worked on the 34th? A Yes, sir; until the 24th,
That was on a Monday? A Yes.

Did you work for him the Baturday before? , Yes.
And the Friday before that? A Yes.

And ever day for two yoars before that? A Yes.

O O O£ L O

Are you sure of that? A Ye-.

Q VNow, as matter of fact, weren't you disoha.rgod, two yoml'

- ago, and you haven't been working there since? A No, sir.

e s

Q What work did you do there? A Assistant cutter.

~-Q And what.was your salary?. : A $35 a week.
Q And were you paid $35 for every week for the last two

years, up to October 34th? A Yes, sir.

Q Are you sure of that? A Yes, sir.

il
L
1
SEEE

Q Where did you work before that? A For M. Fisher.

MR. DOIIORU!: May I suspend the oross examination hor., o

your Honor, and may 1 recall the witness for further




MR. DOWOHUE: Then that is all now, But I would like
' to recall him later.

BY MR. ﬁOB;IBIRQ! : o . ‘ b

Q Now, do iou‘innt to correct your testimony oonoorniig yait”%
“Allployn;it ;t Weiner's place? A I was working there until tho‘-“
 34th.
Now, were you working there all the time? A Yes.
For two years? A Yes.
Or only off and on? A For two ynaxi.

Now, are you sure of that? A Yes,

O O O L O

Or are you mistaken? A I ain't mistaken,

MR. ROSENBERG: A1l right. That's all.

ISIDOR ROSENBERG, of 189 Clinton Strees,
a witness called on behalf of the defense, being duly ..,,,‘?
testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAHIIATION_BY MR. ROSENBERG:

Q Rosenberg, are you related in any way to thoio dofondantofdr

A VNo, sir. . I
Q Or to counsel in the case? ‘A What's that, sir?
Q Are you related to anybody here? A Wo, eir.

Q You are not related to me, are you? A No, sir.

' Q You happen to have my name, ',mt'-‘nn A tu.



iﬁ. “'you know os.lur of thuo men on trial hont ’

‘ 'o. “ro

.\1 b

Tl

‘}fb;' A Q Now, you are charged with the burglary in tho premises llt

] ) 'nt z'm: Street, the particular premises of Mr. l'riednun. whm
nvquan_tity of furs were stolen, is that correct? You are 6hug¢d.-‘~'

_with that orime? A Yes, sir. ' ¢ »

Q And you have pleaded guilty, is that ooi're.o.t? A Yoi.lix;;
~ Q Now, were $hese defendants with youat the tih .you oon- '

mitted that orime? A WNo, sir. |

Q Were either of them with ybu? A No, sir.
Q Do you know thio defendants, or either of them? A lo,ur.
Q Are you sure of that. Rosenberg? A Yes, sir. |
MR. ROSENBERG: That is all.

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. DONWOHUE: |
Q How long have you lived at 189 cliﬁton Streetf A In thi
last five years. |

Q You know these defendanta, don't yout A No, sir.

Q Now, didn't you tell me yesterday -- A I didn't tell you
any thing.

Q -- that if you saw your lawyer you might tell me the
truth about this thing? A No, sir. .

Q What did you tell me on that subject? A I didn't tell

you nothing. Yom asked me if I knew these men and I said I didn't
know them at all. '




Q What did you say about your lawyer? A I didn't say

' anything about my lawyer at all.
. TGRS | You'.iudn't mention your lawyer's name to me? A .No, sir
' § And you didn't ask me to wait, to give you time to talk
to your lawyer, and you would tell me the truth in this case? : %
A No, sir. ; . Ve |
Q @nd you didn't say anything like thnt) A No, sir.
Q ‘How old are you? A 36,
'Q And you have béen convicted a couple of times before,
‘haven't you? A Oncq_, for unlgwfu.l entry. :
: Q low; think. How many times have you been convioted of
orime? A I was in the House of Refuge when a child.
Q (Repe_utod.) A Twice.
Q ‘Nic.? A Yes, sir. |
Q There i8 no queltion but that you committed the burglm :
in this case? A Yes, I did 1it.

1

Q And this 1nltruncnt People's Exhibit 1, bolongﬂ to you?

A It don't belong to me, but to another man, Max Schwartz. The

- other gentleman had that.
Q The other gentleman had 1t? A Yes. ' :
Q And you mean Mr. Fershing? A (lo answer. ) :
Q Who had this 1ﬁtrmnt1 A Max Schwartz had it.

‘f Q Who is he? A I met him over at the Academy of lhuo.
EQ"E" mmdum.muunauumsmxnam
sﬁfmi
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- q tlhﬂ l friend of yours? - A No, eir; I met him just .

. q Didn't you know that he had been in Sing Sing many, m, 31% S
 times? A Vo, sir. T ‘ ~ el

Q ‘ihy. dbdn't you know that he was convioted four. times d o
“on.ﬂ A No, sir,
Q Didn't you know that his Ao m also Murray? A Y.l'.l’.ru"‘l'-
Q And iiso Schwartz? A No, sir. » '
. Q Why, didn't you 0all him Sohuurts just now?t A No, ﬂuro '—
was another man by the name of Max Schwartz.
Q .When was this burglary arranged? A Well, I was just
taking a walk. e
Q And you were an innocent peflor; and were induced %o oo'l
this bu.rglary? A No, sir. | 7
Q Ihan were you firat told about this burgh.ry? A We m‘b

Ia.x Schwartz at the Aoadany of Music, and it was about 3 30 1n

the af ternoon, 'and we were: going to the pictures.

Q Now, you say "we". Who was with you? A Me and rer-hing."g.

Ql And up to that time the burglary was not suggested to ym:ur".c
A It wasn't suggested to me at all then, no. ' . )

Q Up to the timﬁ you went to the moving picture house, at f

half past two, did you have any intention of committing a burgl

a8
1

A No, sir. We met Max Schwar tz, me aﬁd !erohihg. We were just o,

i
Mi to p in, ubout 3:30 in the af ternoon. é

&ﬂ%m;L i



glary at ¢

£ Q And you ptlﬁtod to go for a sociable walk? A Well,

Sohwartz suggested ta.kIng a 1little sooiable walk.
| Q ‘An"d where did you go? A And we walked up Broadway as
far as 37th Street.

: ' Q I see. A And then he suggested to walk over west, a8

, far as the Penqulvm;a Railroad tunnel; and he got as far as
Seventh Avenue and told us to wait on the corner, ‘and we d;d.
And he said he wanted to see some girls, that he wanted to take |

home that evening; and, about 15 minutes af ter he came down and 4

coming west through 33rd Street, and he halted the machine -

BY THE COURT:

'Q Was 1t a taxicab? A No, eir; he halted a touring ocar,

_and he happened to jump on it,- he knew thed fellow,~ and ho'd,idn'ﬁm‘“

stop a minute, and he went through toe 33rd Street, between .
Fourth and Bi'oadw:ay, and he atopped in the miMle of the blook, i

" and he asked us to have a little ride with him and we got'in & m)is

machine; and at 14th Street and Third Avenue the mh!.‘_ne halted

.ﬁn’q; and he went away, and he come back with a package. M‘g



: wt hc wase - goug to get soms gtrl.

to be a burglary? A Wo, sir.

i plaoo at all? A No, sir.

uo ‘WeAY ¥p: foF abous 18 minuves in the 1«m.

and then ho had some-
thing for us, l'eruhing and me, to take out from the hall lnd o
put in tho whino. And then he said we should meet him at ltth
Street and Third Avqnue. 'rha.tr'c all I know about it.

Q Go ahead. A As soon as we got the two bagu'from~'tho
hallway into the car, he said he would meet us there.

Q Go ahead, A That's all, sir.

Q Well, up until this time you didn't know there was going

Q@ And you didn't gnow there was ons? A No, sir. ‘
Q Well, why did you plead guilty? A Well, naturally, when
I eeen 1 was in the automobile where the furs were, 1 figured I &
mit be guilty, because it must be stolen material, but I d.*idn',t
realize that at first, i e A

BY THE COURT:

Q What did you plead guilty to? ‘A Attempted burglary in
the third degree.
BY MR. DONOWUE:

Q You had no idea that theburglary was oommifted in this

Q The first you knew that a burgla.ry had been committed was

‘when the officers jumped on the oar and charged you with it

A Yes.




‘ uo tﬁo ‘pollio;ofﬁobrn piock 1“t up

: A No, sir; it was wrapped up. So far as I know, it was wrapp

.in a packsge, but I didn't know what the pakage contained.

Q  Well, hov do you know what was in the package if you didn'

e e e s
. !‘\ "

open the package? A No, sir; I didn't examine it at all. h.

officer walked with it in his hand. 1 never knew it was in the

Q How long have you knovm Fershing? A About four weok.
I was introduced to him by a friend of mine at Dolanooy and Alm
Street. |

Q And do you say now that you had nobidu that a burglary b
was being committed? A Yes, e |

qQ Ai}d the car went down 23rd Street and Third Avenue? A ¥

Q And where did you go then? A r‘le'u; side.

Q And did 1t go back to 37th Street? A No, sir; it sgop
at 14th Street and Third Avenue, afterwards. ‘ .

Q Well, some time after that you went 'baok to FB'Ith Street?
A Yes, about 15 or 30 minutes. He suggeited going to takq a ride
up town. £

Q And didn't the car go around the block? A Wo, sir; 1%
was in about the middle of the bloock.

Q Anﬁ what were you doing at that time? A Qitting in the
.mhinc. , : i), =8 B V

Q Who went up in the building? A Max Schwarts. iR




Q «M ﬂor did you l;y you were on in tlu m.f.y Prioon?

5 l‘ourth tier, : i o
Q' And on lthﬂt tier are these defendants? A The same tier.
Q And didn't you and these defendants éot together, and
gudn't'you q:g»ﬁ to tm the blame of the situation beoaﬁu:wn :
had a oriminal fecord? A No, sir. %

Q Didn't you say that? A VNo,sir; I never spoke to them '

on the tier at all. I onmly -aid,nollo and 8o on. I just seen
" them pass by a.ngl said the word "Hello" to them. ;

Q Why, weren't you out exercising during the same time tﬁoy
were?! A Yes, but I don't know them at all. I didn't talk to
them ut_ all, except to say Hello, 3

>Q You‘ knew that they were charged with the same or'im(thl.t
you were charged with? , Yes, but I don't really know them. b

Q Did you have anybody ta.lk to yout A No, ur. :

Q _Did they talk to you at allt A No, sir.

. Q And did Mr. Rosenberg, counsel for the defense, say any~
. thing to you? .A No, sir. ‘

Q Before you took that stand? A No, sir. .

Q 1Ie there anybody in the world who knew what you were goia.':
 to say ;rhen you took that stand, except iourlalf‘r A VNo, sir.
Q Nobody knew? A - No, sir.

Q Mr, Roaonbtrg had no idea of what you were go:lng to u.yl

~ (Objected to. Sus tained.)
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‘berg? A No, sir.

Sk Aty A e

. there not? A Yes, sir,

them in the car?t A VNo, sir.

_I Mﬂ A lo, eir. e
Q Did you send your hwnr to Mr. Rosenberg? A lo, u:.

Q nu your lawyer tell you tha.t he ha.d talked to Mr. Ronn-

Q Or theu ddondmts here? A No, sir.

Q Well, did you get a subpoena to oome here? A I dox;'t
inow. sir. I was just called down from the cell to come over h.

Q You were arrested, were you not, by ofﬁoen Hof fman and
Foray} A Yes, sir. -

Q In the machine? A Yes, sir.

Q And when you were arrested you had this burlap bag with
you? A Yes, sir.

Q And quite a few furs were in the bage at the time, were

BY THE COURT:

.-Q Ydu did not knbw what was in these bags that you had, :

did you? A Vo, sir. 1 'wu j\ut told to ocarry the bage out
from the hallway. A

Q And you did not know the contents of the bags? A ll'o,u.r;h‘- :
BY MR. DONOHUE:

Q You did not, by anyoli_dnoe, examine them af ter yod'go_t |

Q And you did not see the policemen examine them in the } : ﬁ

SR - 2



- my lawyer told me to.

“BY MR . DONOHUE:

iy ﬂuo n ﬂut time.

Q And you woro oonvioted of burglu-y h!oro. were you not?

A o: \mlurful entry.

Q Weren't you oonviotod of burgh.ry betor. Judge 'adh-l,
in 19157 A Unlawtul entry, sir. : " 4

Q And you were oonv;otod in 1909, again, woren't' you? A lcllﬂ
1 was sent over to the House of Refuge at that time; That was
more of a charge against a child. |

Q But you had a revolver with you at the time, didn't you? :
A No, eir; it ﬁa only a piece of lead pipeé, and I only toog
it home, or was taking it home, to use for fishing purpo-o'i.
BY m-—OOUR‘l':

Q Did you plead guilty at that time? A Yes, sir; because 4

Q Well then it was not a weapon? A No, sir; a piece of

lead pipe for fishing purposes.

Q Rosenberg, were you working? A Yes, sir. -

Q But you were not working this day, were you? A Well,

in the Jewish holidays we have‘ two days., My boes, Harry Schwartz,

don't work on the Jewish holidays.

Q@ The 34th and 35th were both Jewish holidays? A Yes, and
on Sunday was also.



,muumw u MR. msmm:
q loll. you uhit that you are gunty of the ormo of wh
m phmd guilty?
| THE COURT: No, Mr. Rosemberg. He denies Ahed 1 04

guilty of the orime of whioh he pleadsd guilty. He has -
denied that on this stand and the result of his denial is

that the Court ocannot allow an innooent man to plead guilty

; : of a orime that he did not commit, and I am waiting for you
gehtlemen to complete your examination to advise the Clerk

that the plea entered by this witnees is withdrawn. The

Gourt will not acopt the plea of guilty of burglary, in view

of this witness's testimony that he did not know that any'

s S e
[ ey

burglary was bbing committed and that he was merely asked

to convey a bundle from a hallwa.y 1nto an wtonobno.
nmrefore, tho pPlea that has been entered for thic dofonan
Bf THE COURT:
- Q You have not been sentenced, have you, Rosenberg? Alo,_un":

THE COURT: The plea hitherto entered by this 1

g

defendant, Ilidor\ Rosenberg, of guilty & attempted burglary,
is withdrawn, and the case of the People against Isidor :
" Rosenberg will be replaced upon the calendar, and tried as

speedily as the District Attorney is ready for trial, he -

being indicted for burglary in the third degree, and grlnd




!onr lonor uud.orltmdt thﬂ 1

m !u lnunborg?
"

ay

THE GCOURT:  Yes, I understand. Dut you ruud the
'quuuon ae to whether he was guuty of the orime of whioh»
pludod guilty.

THE lIﬁl‘BS: I am guilty, your Honor.

THE COURT: But he has sworn tﬁat he was innocent of

the orime to which he.pieadod. and I 'win.not permit an
innocent man to plead guilty in this court.
THE WITNESS: Well, I am really guilty, your Honor.
ks % - THE COURT: You will go to trial on your 1ndiohint
: for burglary in the third degree.

.BY MR. ROSENBERG: |
Q Now, you say that youl never spoke to me about putting yen“
on the stand, is that correct? A Yes, eir. - .
i<t Q Now, don't you remember ever seeing me before? A I thi
I have seen you, ovii 'ut Tenth Street and Sixth Avenue, if I am

not mistaken.

Q 'l'here was some question about a Rosenbers appearing for
for you over at Tenth Street, was there not? A Yn. eir.

Q And the lawyer who is now examining you, Mr, Rosenberg,
saw ydu over in Jefferson Market, in fie lawyers' room, didn't 1t

A Yes, sir.

Q But I didn't appear for you ae your lawyer at any time,




fép had ipothor- lawyer named Rosenberg, didn't you? A ‘
A man named Henry Rosenberg? A Yes.

I'-V that right? A Yes, eir.

o o

And was it because of the confusion of tho 1dent1ty o!
names that 1 oalled. to see you, is that right?
MR. DONOHUE: How could he tell that?
BY MR. ROSEWBERG: |
Q Wow, boomie of the confusion of names, 1 was asked to
B ‘g0 uxd see you? A Yes. . ]
' | Q But you didn't talk to me about the. case, did.you? A
Q Now, did these defendants, or ei ther of them, a'.ooompany‘ ‘7
you at any time -- A Nok sir. ' 4
.Q == to commit the burglary of which ybu pleaded gﬁilm,
i A No, sir.
‘ MR. ROSENBERG: That is all.
BY THE COURT:
g Who i ypur lawyer? A Rudolph Stand.
THE COURT: Send word to him io be prepar8d to try yo
case, burglary in the third degree. Proceed, yr. Donohue,
with the Rosenberg case as soon as this case is finilhud. =
fou had better notify counsel at once that you intend to.

proceed with that case.

MR. DOWOHUE: Yes, sir; I will,




‘the Gode of Criminal Procedure.) 4
' AFTER RECESS: igh i ‘;i}"

MORRIS FERSHING, of89 Avenue C, a witness _7%
osuod on bohalf of the defense, being duly sworn, tuttttu
as follows: i

MR, ROS“BERG: If your Honor please, this witness is

i ' in a aifferent position than the last witness, and I think
it is only fair to the witness that he ought to be admonisk
by the Court.

THE COURT: I was just about to do that, You have

not plea.ded‘.-- he has not pleaded, has he?
E‘T MR. ROSENBERG: No, sir.
Eﬁ; ' BY THE COURT:

- Q Fershing, you are under indictment for the same burglu"y*’;:

thl.t uvon trial here, are you not? p Yes, sir.
‘Q And you have not pleaded to 1t? A 'No, sir.
Q ‘Ybu are not required to answer questions that are put »b
you; but, if you refuse to answer any questions 'that may be pnt’_
to you in this trial, you can onlf refuse to answer on the grm %
' that the answers will tend to incriminate or degrade you. Do y“
"’ o understand? A Yeo. your Honor.
E  Q And so that if any question 1s asked vmioh. in your-

opiaun. will incriminate or degrade you, you may refuse to

that gquestion. bat only on that ground. Is that plain to M



Ilih day of October of this year, you underltand? A Yu, sir.

about the premisee 166 West 237th Street? A No, sir.

INATION BY MR. ROSENBERG:

Q What 1i your namet A Morris Pershing.

'Q And you are now a prisomer in the City Pruonr A !u,b'

Q Am.uing trial on the ohu'gc of having oomittod a bur-
ch.ry u.t 166 West 37th Street? , Yes, sir.

Q And the burglary is alleged to have taken place on the

 Q Were you in the company of these defendants, or either of
them, on the 34th day of October -- A No, sir.
'Q Wait a minﬁto. == 1981? jp VNo, sir.
Q Were you in the vicinity of Fifth Avenue and 23rd Btrnt. 3
with them orxr éither of them on that day? A No, -11;.‘.
Q Or that afternoon? A No, sir.
Q Or evening? A No, sir.

Q Were you with these defendants, or either of them, in and ’

Q On the evening or afternoon of October 34th, 19317 A No,8
MR. ROSENBERG: That is all. 1

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. DONOHUE: ' e

Did anybody speak to you about this case? A No, sf, 'y

Q

Q About your testifyig here? p WNo, sir.

Q Did anybody ask you to testify? A WNo, sir.
Q

Did nybody ask you if these men had been with you on th t




‘1ife? A Yes, sir.

' QE Did you ever loo'thcn before today? & Well, the 1..*_\3”§

. was -- that last I seen them was in Jefferson Market -~ the e

first time, uthor. Kb _ - ; ."

that was ~ e
Q Do you remmbor/tha firet time you ever saw them in ycnr ‘

Q And gou have seen them frequent sinoe then, have you not?
A Wo, sir. 7 : ‘ A

Q@ Why did you have to hesitate about answering that questic
Why did you wait so long? A (No answer.)

».Q You have seen them in the Oitﬁ Prison nea.riy every day, :
haven't yout A Not since I was transferred to the eighth tier. A

Q aov; long were you with them on the s_éme tier? A Three
weeks. . |

Q Prmtioally in the next oellf A Ye-. gir.

Q And you could talk to them from cell to cell? A Yes,si p

Q And you could look out through the bars and talk to th- .,
in the next cell? A No, eir.

Q Why not? A Beost 1 néver talk to nobody through e :
cell.’

Q But you could have talked to them if you had wanted to?

!
They oould have easily heard you?! A Yes. ) "ﬁ
Q And the only reason you didn't talk to them was because %

~ you auu't want to talk to them, is that right? A That's u.n‘_j

R e



d with them in the City Prison at

Q lm't your case? A VWo.
Axlers, :
Q You walked around with the/affismxsxy exercising, dldn‘t

P .
bt 08 o

‘ 'mr A No, un.
: Q Never walked near them? A No, sir. :
Q Weren't you oxeroiling with them in tho  Tombs; weren't .
you walked around the yard with them? A {Io. sir.
Q You‘were never in the ya.rd when they were exercising?

‘ 'O, '1!.

Q Or in the corridor? A WNo, sir.
Q And n_qvef stood outeide of the cell, when the cell was
 heing cleaned? A I did, yes.
: Q Well, a.rep't you gllowed the freedom of 'the corridors Ln.',}'
.. the City Prison at certain times of the day? A Yes.
Q And don't all the prisoners use the oorrmor; at the

M

'-mo time? A They certainly do.

-

Q M@nd do you mean to say that while you were on the same

SRR

" t¢ier with them for three weeks you didn't talk to the Axlers £
- 2 : '.’;1
at allt A No, sir; I didn't talk with nobody about that case in '.

the Tombs, because I don't trust any of the inmates.

: Q Didn't you know that they were arrested and indicted for’_;-f\?g
the seme orime that you were? A Wo, sir.

Q And they were in the next cell to you in the Oity'hioég!?"f




A Some people give it to me.

A I un tuu ooﬂuohd twice before. : R —

Q mt 18 your right name? A uou-u Fershing. . gt
Q And you u-o also known by the name of lurru.y? A lop.llru |

e
Q Area't you? A l”,lu'.

Q Why are you called Murray? A Because some people call

me that.

Q@ Well, it ien't with the idea of getting away from a
criminal rooor;-d, is 1t? A No, sir.
. Q Now, you were convicted in 1915 of grand larceny, before 4
Judge Rosalsky, weren't you! A Yos. v,
Q What nm? did you give then? A Morris Fershing.
Q And were you ﬁd; convicted in 1919 again? A Yes, sir. -
Q For what? A Grand larceny. l
| 0 "And you were sent to 8ing Biné for that, weren't you?
A Yes. | '
Q Under what name? A Morris Fershing.

Q Now, when were you known by the name of Murray? A At no

Q You know Isidor Rosenberg? A Yes, eir.
~Q Didn't he know you by the name of Murray? A He did. ‘,
Q Well, what was your reason for taking the name of Murray?

Q Oh, they just gave it to you? A Yes.

Q And you took it? A Yes.



-No. I beg p.u'rd.on. He didn't say

tmom':' 1 said that he said he was no'é there.
' MR, ROSENBERG: Oh, yes, that's all #ight.
A 1 was in 83rd Street but not with these defendants.

BY MR. DONOHUE: -

Q@ Who was with you at the time? A Rosenberg.
Q And who else? , A fellow by the name of Max sonmi' ! ;
Q And where did you go from there? |
THE COURT: Just a minute.
BY THE COURT:
' Q What wase the name of the men’ who was driving the car? -
A Samel Blume. ' '
: ' Q And there was nobody else with you, other than Roncnb,r"
: and Schwar tz? A ‘Nobody else. - &

Q And Blume, the driver of the car? A Yes, sir.

BY MR. DONOHUE:
Q Now, who called up Blume? A I don't know.

Q Well, how did you get-ahold of him? A Met him on 33rd |

L iR R o S L

Street,

Q By wpoinﬁn_ent? A I don't know, sir.

kg kb R

Q%idyou know him before? A No,eir.
Q TYou had never seen him before? , lq. s'ir.

Q Who @oko to himt A Rosenberg.

 Q Rosenberg spoke to him? A Yes.




Q Or did hp ltop him :I.n the otreet? A I don't knﬁ.
S Iao Blume's automobile stopped when Rosenberg lpoke o
;’-A : you? A I don't know.
’E',' THE COURT: Now, let us clear this'up, - least in my
| own mind.
BY THE COURT:
Q Was Blume a friend of yours or Rosenberg's? A Not a
friend of mine, sir. I never seen the man before.
Q And how did you come to get into hie car? A I was wait-
ing at Fiftn Avenue and 83rd Street, at the United Cigar Btore. |
Coming from 37th Street, we got to 33rd Street, and Mr. Schwartzs
suggested getting a taxicab. »
@ You don't mean Mr, Schwartz, do you? A Max Schwartz.
| : Q 'But what I want to know is how you came to get into Blul.al;
t : car. A As I stated before, I was at 33rd Street and Hfth Ave :

and I happened to stop in the United Cigar sStore to buy a pack

of cigarettes; and meamvhile Mr. Rosenberg had come af ter me and
said, "I'm looking for you," and 1 walked down .23rd Street to
réurth Avenue, and I stepped into the car.
Q How did you come to otep into the car? Xou u.y Blune
was a stranger to you, A l(r. Rosenberg asked me to go uth him,
Q And Roao:nberg_ led you to Blume's car? A Yes, sir.
P BY MR. DONOHUE:

E . ~ Q And what time was that, about? A 1 don't remember.



"!httt ivouno. and turnod south on Third Avenue to l4th Btr.ot,
M the en stopped.

Q Yes, und What h-pponed there? A The ca.r ltoppodo 1 de;
J ' just remember the corner,- I remember it was at Third Avenue and -

14th Street,

LR =

Q Yes. A Mr. Sehwartz told the ohauffour to stop, and he
ltoppod at that corner, and Mr. Schwartz utopped out and said we
should wait a 11 ttle while, and in about ten minutes he returned
e - @nd he had a package in his h#nd. i
| @ What kind of a package was 1t? A A emall package, about J
that big (nlu-tnting). _

Q You knowwhat People's l:xhibit 1 is, don't you? A lo,lir.:

Q You never saw one like tha.t before? You would be sur-

prised, if I told you that was a jimmy, would you? A 1 'nqvcr

had one.

B Q WNow, you knew what that was, didn't you? A No, sir.

Q ¥"Wad no idea? A /o, sir. Only I h_andledvonbo a thing
: nxQ that. '
Q | Q Doing what? A 0pen1ng cases.
Q You never opened iny doors with 1t, did you? A No, sir.
BY m: COURT:
Q Whodid you work for when you oponed cases with a thing sl

lik. that? A Mr. hts.

0 What was his business? A Flowers and rnthcrl. on



T m.)‘i.y“ as? A I was numbh;ol‘rk o

nim,

Q When? A Six yeare ago.

Q !nilong did you work for him A I worked for Mr. Kats

for about u'you'. |
i Q And, as a shipping clerk, 1t was part of your tiulinon to
opin, 'oual, was 1t? A Yes. - ' .

BY MR, DONOHUE: ity

. Q@ Andyou used an instrument like that to open them (mdioat—»
ing People's Exhibit 1)? A Well, not exactly u' big as that,
& case opener.

Q Well, at any rate, you didn't know what was in that pack
that he had until you got back into the car? A No, eir. -

Q And never suspected what was in Lt? 4 No, sir. -

Q Up to thistime you didn't you didn't know where you ‘wori
‘ ho go or what you were to do? A No, eir. | |

Q And where did you go after he got back into the car?
A Why, Mr. Schwartz said something about having an appointment
with a girl Sriend, or a couple of girl friends, and asked us to |
go back as far as 32nd Street; and Wwe went up to“ 32nd Street, ul )
then from there we come down to 37th Street, and hg told us to .
wal t. ’

' Q Where were you in 37th Street? A In the middle of ih.'. k
blook, just in front of tho restaurant, botwun Sixth and Scna

Q Go ahead. ‘ Andmau-toodmutoznmtuhm”




- Q Ibo wun tho oar with ycur A Rosenberg and l(r. lotw '

Q And where was tho chauffeur? A ’!'hcohanffcur was there.
'" S Q And what wae your idea in sitting there‘ for an hour?
o : Y | 'hy, we were walting foi- a couple of girle to come &m.
- Q Who ’told you thery 'werc‘ooming down? A Mr Sohwartz.
B0 06 46 weit them a4 BYAN Street and Seventh Avenus,
Q Well, why did you sit in the sutcmobile, them, down nesr
nsﬂonth Avenue? A Because we stopped off at a restaurant
and had coffee and cake.
Q And you sat in the automobile for an hour;t A Yes.
Q Andvhhe others, too? , Yes.
Q Why did you sit in the automobile for an hour? A. ‘We we ’bj
waiting. there.
. Q And, after f’qu sat there for a whole hour, what did you ¢ o
A We notox.:ped out and had some coffee, and got into the car

again, and hnd smokes, and took the car across the street, in

front of the premises 166 West 37th Street., Mr, Schwartz ltoppol.;,
out and said, "I'm going upstairs,” and he went up and stayed
L upstairs about 15 minutes, and he come down and he had two bags

, in the hallway of 166 West 37th Street, and he said to Rosenberg,

b --+"lgzy, put these in the car, and meet me at 14th Street and m;-d .'

Avuiu_o,l and 1 got out with Mr. Rosenberg and put the two .b\lrhp'f
’ e

bage in the ocar; and when we got to the corner, the officers



@ And didn't suspect that any was being committed? j No.

Q” Did you get out of the car, at all? , Yes, sir; when
Mr. Roio‘nborg and I put the bags in the car,

Q When was this? At what hour? A About seven o'clook.

And the building was closed, was it not? , VYes, sir.
Q And didn"t you think 1t was funny for Schwartz to go.i.-n
there, and take out two bage? A I didn't go into the building, )
Q (Question repeated.) j Why, ﬁe had gone in there bofor'o.-':
 that time. _
Yes, he had been in therebefore, hadn't he? , Yes.
And how many times did you see him go in therel A Once.
When was that? A About 6:30.
And what did he say he was going in then for? A n.'-;.
going in to see somebody, he said.
: Q Al!ow, did he go in before or after you sat in the automo-

- bile for an hour? A I sat in the automobile before that. He

went into 168 West 37th Street, about 8:30, That's the first

Did anybody go in besides Schwartz? A No, sir.
Didn't you go in? A No, sir.

‘Are you sure of it? A No, sir,

O © o O

What do you mean? Are y&l;‘or are you not sure?! A I

B

Q You didn't go into the building at all, did you? A lo-.l'l. ‘

»:




m out of the mtonobuo. did ;ur ; ¥o,
'lﬂ.n ut utu seven o'olook. when 1 got out with Mr, Reunu
n.nd we ltcppod 1nto the doorway, and there were two burlap bag.

; % and
.thpre. d each of us took one/miput it in tho oar.

Q- Bow old are you? A 87 ‘ i F?
AT Q And where were you working on this pn.rti«oula..r day? A T j
| : - wasn't worked at all. 2o , , f
Q And you hadn't worked for some time, had your A Yes, ut.‘
Q When was the 1ast time you worked? A Up until Augult.
Q You hadn't worked between August and October, had you?
g lo. Bir. ; .
‘ Q What were you doing during that time? A Doing nothing. :-{’
Q You were pretty well 1n need of money, weren't you? :
A Vot exaotly. '
- Q@ How did you live? .A I had money saved.
Q@ Where did you save 1t from?‘ A From wornng..

Q You saved your money, and you were able to ta.kb a vaca-

tion, is that the idea? A ©Wo, sir; not exactly.

Q What was the matter? 5 I was sick. Beoanse I oonldn't

1 &

continue the work, going up and downstairs. |
Q Who committed this burglary? A I don't know. Why uk i‘

me those questions?

J

Q Do you mean to say that you didn't have any idea that a

i b;rgluy wu'bomg committed? A No, &r; not in the least.




i i
QS R e 5

g »nm A 1 was framed by this llr; ‘Sohwartx. He ;

‘ lured me uptown and Mr. Rosenberg, who was e with me, ‘f'_tﬁ.;

time,
Q And he lured you too, did he? A Yes; it seems to me le

your Honor. I didn't know anything about any burglary being

g commi tted; when I took out .thone burlap bags from the houoé.

Q And when you picked up those burlap bags in the whallway .

~of that place, you had no idea that the contents had been ltolion?j-r

A Vo, sir.

BY MR. DONOHUE:

Q Now, did you work for a man named Katz? A Yes, sir.

Q .loren't you duohafged by him? A No, sir,

UL e

Q ' Didn't you steal money from him? Ien't that the reason
disoha:gbd_'yon? A No, sir.

Q Are you sure of 1t? A Not that I know of.

.Q Well, don't you know that you were discharged by him? .f'
A I wasn't discharged. I remember leading the place.
Q Now, weren't you disohuged by Mr. Katz because you

gstole his money from him? A No, sir.

Q How long ago did you leave him? A A géw years ago.

Q Two years? A No, sir; six years ago.

b »

Q ‘And where was Mr. Katz's place of business at that tin?

A At Broadway, 708 Broadway.

R | What was his business? A Flowers and feathers. .




Q ‘He ﬁn't'in"bulinou nbw. is hc? A Yes. .

Q As a matter of fact, did.n't you steal ‘so much monoy fron

nn thnt he had to give up his business? A No, ur, 1 didn't. :
‘ Q Didn't you steal any money from him? A llo. sir,

Q Not a cent? A ¥o, sir.
I8 ‘ Q So that you want me to understand here, Mr. Witness, that » -;

you hn,d no idea a burglary was being oomitted? A No, sir.

MR. ROS_EIIBERG: I object to that, as a.lready tOItlfl.‘.r

THE COURT: Objection overruled.
- MR. ROSENBERG: Exoeption

A I didn't kno'.
BY KR. DONOHUE:

Q Wnhat? , I didn't know,
BY THE COURT:

Q Do you mean to give that answer? - The District Attorney
asks if it is true that fou had no idea that a burglary was bei

committed on this occaion, A I had no idea, your Honor.

- BY MR. DONOHUE:
% 2 ] Q Now, did you"know Rosenberg's coriminal record? A No, si

Q When did you first meet him? A About four weeks pre-

vious to th; day of the arrest.

Q Where? A In‘Ohnton"%troet. Clinton and Delancey "




' Q 1t wasn't around Grand Stroép, was it? A No, sir;
| Dclmoy ltrut.

Q Ama that is where the Axlers uve. isn't 1t? A I don't |
*_ know, -1:. ‘

Q You iuver knew that, of olouiu? A YNo, sir.

Q You live in ‘St. Marks Place, do you not? A No,sir.

Q. Where do you live? A 89 Avenue C.

Q Well, you froqucntly go to Clinton Bfreet. don't yout
That is your hangdut, is it ﬁot‘r A VNo, sir.

Q Didn't you go down there very of ten, to this oandy ltoro‘l
b A lo, eir. |
Q Well, how did you happen to be there this day? A I m--’
pened to walk down Avenue C, going down to Clinton Street, and li
Delancey Street I walked in and had a soda, and coming out I met {’ 
‘Mr. Rosenberg. ‘
Q Well, you say you.don't know him, don't you? A Vo, -1:3"_';_
1 had met him several wecks before that. I was introduced to hi |

Q Where were you introduced to him? A I have no idea;

1 don't remember.

@ Who introduced you to himt A A frieml of his that knew |

Q Did you see Rosenbegg of ten after that? .A No, sir.
£ Q fhcn did you next see him, after you first met him?
LAl A e ' Y i



ks "..‘.o

: Q Near Onnton? A lo. near Essex.

Q And how of ten did you moet him after that? , 'I'ho noxt

um I mt hin a.gun was on Ootober am;.

Q Did you know that he ‘had been convioted of orime? A lo.b
- Q Did you know that Schwartz hui been convicted of crime?
A No, sir; and I was introduced to him by Rosenberg.
Q And he 1s the one who suggested going up to 37th Street?
A Yes, sir.
Q And he is the one who suggested getting the automobile?
A Yes. ‘
Q And going back to 37th Street? , Yes, sir.
Q And lfopping there an hour 61' so? A Yes, sir.
Q And he is the one that went into the building, and brov
the bags down to the doorway? A Yes, 7-1:. ;

Q ‘And you and Rosenberg went into the building and brought

out the bags? A Yes.
BY THE QOURT:
Q What hour was this? A After seven o'clook.’
Q #nd that was after business hours? A Yes, sir.
Q And that is right up in the heart of the fur district,
27th Stroﬁ; and Seventh Avenue, 18 it not? A I don't know, li.r.gu-.‘jj

Q Had you ever been in that 'neighborbood before? A lo,o!.r.__’f‘i.




ol
] .
"3l

'-m. and putting them 1n an autonou].gr A lhy, Y. dldn't uun, 4 ‘I;J;g ;

of that at the nimqto.‘ ! ; 2o
Q You didn't think about 1t? A No, sir.

BY MR. DONORUE: Now, you have mentioned the name of Shwarts

lioforo. : Hon many d.tfforent people by the name of Bohwurtl

were with you that day? A Only one.

PO

Q What was his name? A Max Schwartz.

Q When you got into the car, when did he go? A He tGid ul
when he got out of the oar, and he went up into the building, mu
he came down hé told us to get these two bags and pu}z them in the
car, and he el et e & 14th Street and Third Avenus, and
ne went east in 37th Street.

Q Iow; when you speak of Sehﬁartz, don't you mean this
dofendant, Simon Axler (indioating)t A No, sir.

Q Didn't you oall him Schwartz and known him as Bohwn.rts‘l'
A No, sir.

Q How many men were onéaged in the buiglary? A There was
Rosenberg, Sxhwartz, Blume and 'n_xyulf.

'Q Jﬁst the four? A Yes, sir.

'BY THE COURT:
Q@ What kind of a looking man is Schwartz? A About my

build, and dark complexion.




» Q Mt h. ﬂ.n feet oight and a dark omloxion? A !n :
Q Ald wlut else? A That's all.

Q 1Is ﬂut all? A Yes.
Q And that's the only way you can describe him? A -'oli.
1 only saw the man once. .
Q 'bll; you were in his company for several hours, were ygg
‘not? 4 Yes. . : ‘ B
| Q And he lured you into a orime, for which you have becn
indioted? A So it seems. | :
Q And you were riding around in an automobile with hiin and
at 27th Street and Seventh Avenue, ‘he told you to put thtpbuﬂq
bags, with their contents, in the car, and told yiou he would -
meet you away over at Third Avenue and 14th Street? A Yes,sir. ¥
25 Q Ahd_ the only description that you can give is tt_xﬁt he ui
five feet eight and has a dark complesion? A Yes, sir. |

Q Are you indicted as a first @s second offender? A No,sd

Q Have you a lawyer? A No, sir.
Q You have not had a lawyer gince iou have 'be.en indicted? i
& ; '
‘» — ‘ 'O. .1:.

THE COURT: Do you know whether he indicted as a first

or second offender?

MR. DOWOHUE: Yes, sir; a second offender.

BY MR, DONORUE: : ;
Q ‘l'o', how long did you know this man Qo'ﬁvargs?' A“:HM{‘




n“‘o :

Q 'hlt place is there? 1In front of what place?r A .In

_ front of a candy and confectionery plaoe, right next door to the

Academy of Music. 5 S x

Q What were you doing then? A Taking a walk on Fifth f
Avenue,~- at least, tha; is what we intended to do.

Q Why, didn't you and Rosenberg intend to go in and see the

5‘ showat the Academy of Music? A Yes, but we changed our mim.
i i

E? Q It was not something that Schwartz told you that

; influenced you to change your mind, was tt? ‘A No, sir.

Q And where did you go? A We went tb 33nd Street] Mr.

Schwartz told us that he had an engagement with a couple of

girls.
Q Didn't you say before that the girls' namee were not

‘mentioned until af ter you’gotvinto the aufomobile? A1 didrnotcl

G » "{‘?WTKEH;J#J&‘.;‘? = ¥

Q And now you say that at 14th Street and Irving Place he
said he had to meet some girls? A Yes, sir. : .
= : : Q And to come on and take a walk? A Yes, sir.

Q Well, where did you go? A Walked up to 33nd Street.
Q What did you do then?. A Turned back.

-Q And what did Schwartz do up there? A He was with dl.v

. Q Well, did he say anything to you at 33nd Steet?. A lo.oir.




walk down u tu as :'m ltrut.

Q And you walked down to in front of 166 West z’rth Btrooﬂ

A Yes.
Q What time was tho.t? A 1In the ltternoon.
Q What time? A I don't remember exactly.
| Q And you went to the theatre, to the Academy of Musio,
- that afternoon? A Yes, sir; abat three 6'01061:.
Q And then walked up to 32nd Street? A Yes, sir.

Q How long did that take you?! A I don't know.

: Q Did you stop on the way up there? A We sat down in the ::

B pamx for s while.

; Q@ Didn't you .Just say that you walked up to 33nd Street,
and looked a.rm'md a 1ittle, and then walked back to 27th Street?
A But you‘;:.::o: me what I did, in the meantime,

- Q Well, wfxat did you do? X will ask you now, A We sat inr_'

the park foi' about an hour.

e Q And you were moving around for about an hour before you

arrived in 27th Stre: t, or an hour and ghalf? A Yes, and perh‘p-i'

more than that.
] ! ]

Q And you must have got'into 37th Street again about nine

O

o'clock? A It was later than that.

Q Well, you reached the Academy of Music, you iay, Qbout PR
three o'clock? A Yes.

Q And you then walked to 37th Street? A Yes, but we sat




did;s_'i your A

~ Q Ana g_. bgot .to é?-ui Street? A Yes. i

Q And that was five o'olook,’ was 1t not? A Yes.

Q And how m.my' times were you in front of 166 ioot 37th
Str*btt'»‘tl-togothor‘l 4 Tice.

o SR Whenwas the first time? A The first time, coming down

4 -

to 37th. Street, and we went _through' 37th Street to Fifth Avenue

. and down to 33rd Street, and we came back to 37th Street, and

that'swlen they arrested me.

. . MR. DONORUE: That is all.

- ' it 2k MR. ROSENBERG: That's all, The defense rests.:
MR. DONOHUE: May I recall the defendant that I was

cross examining, your Homi.

§ e THE COURT: Yes, he may be recalled.

A BR :A HAM AXLER, being recalled for furthor-_

cross examination, testified as follows:

CROSS EXAMINATION (Continued) BY MR. DONOHUE:

. Q Now, you said a little while ago that you worked for ,
L. Weiner up until October, 1921, is that right? A Yes. ‘
Q Now, as matter of fact, you went to work there, did you } ' |

not, on Bopteﬁbe;' 10th, 1919, and left March 10th, 19307 j
A I worked ther& for two years. I dmn 't remember what uonﬂ; I i

started or when I stopped.




. udn'-s youtr A
Q And o-n ba.ot Yo B'Nh Mroot? A Yes. A

- Q And that was five o' olpok, was 1t not? A Yes.

B e P i, T AT G Fir by S

Q And how many times were you in front of 166 West 27th

Street altogether? A Twice.

Q Whenwas the first timo‘r A The first time. coming down 9

to B'Ith Street, lnd we went through 37th Stroet to Fifth Avenue
and down to 33rd Street. and we came back to 27th Street, and |
that'swlen they arrested me.
DONOHUE: That is all.
MR. »FAtOBElIBERG: That's all., The defense rests.
MR. DONOHUE: May I recall the defendant that I was
oross examining, your Honor.

THE COURT: Yes, he may be recalled.

ABRAHRAM .A XL ER, being recalled for furthor ;
oross examination, testified as follows:
OROSS EXAMINATION (Continued) BY MR. DbNOHUE:
Q TNow, you said a little while ago that you worked for
L. Weiner up until October, 1921, is that right? , Yé-.
Q Now, as matter of fact, you went to work tﬁere. did you
not, on Béptembor. 10th, 1919, and left March IOth; 19307
A I worked there for two years. I dmn't remember what month I

started or when 1 stopped.




Q Ihoh.you said two weeks, did you mean two weeks or two
years? A Two yeir.! was working there. '

BY MR. DONOHUE:

i
Q Who is the manager up there? A There is no manager thc?c@i

Q Who is the lady in oharge there? A It used to bé his
sis ter.

Q What is her name? A Lena Neker.

Q@ Did you work on October 34th? A One day I didn't work.

I don't remember if it was the 34th or 25th.

Q And you didn't leave there on March 10th, 1930, Mr.

Weiner's placet A No, sir.
MR. DONOHUE: That is all.
THE COURT: Just a minute.
Bf THE COURT:
Q ~You are not the one that worked for Birnbaum, are you?

A VNo, sir.

Q That is the other defendant? A Yes, sir.

THE COURT:. Step down,

It is after one o'clock. At the reconvening of the ooﬁrt.

I expect to have another witnbol to put on the stand.




ourt admonished the jury in .'omum' '
uth lootion 415 of tho Code of Oriminu Prooodun. .

aad took a recess untn 3:20 p. m.)

AFTER RECESS:
: g REBUTTAL: '
DORA GOODMAN, of 1087 Hall Place, the Bronx,

|
e

a witness called on behalf of the People, in rebuttal,
being duly sworn, teéstified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. DONOHUE:

Q Wow, Miss Goddman, what is yo.ur business? A Bookkupor."?

Q WNow, won't you talk upf 80 that the last juror can hear
Ymn A Bookkeeper.
Q For whom are you bookkeeper? A L. Weinor, 11 West 17th
.. Street. ‘

Q 4nd how long have you been bookkeeper there? A Two lml
a half youl. 1

.Q Among your dutios as bookkoepef, is the keeping of the
timo book,is it not? A Ye-. - .

Q And the amount of money that has been paid out by L.
lo'iner. by way of salaries? A Yel. .

Q And do ﬁqu keep a list of all employes? A Yes, sir. ;

Q Bow, look at this defendant, Abe Axior. Do you know him
A Yes,

Q When did you ﬁrnt become anquunfod with him? A In

BQt-ha. m.o.



A s o
ks oo hen -
:

q And, as bookk«per. yon kept his rooordr A Yoo, sir.

Q Have you brought the book- of »L. 'oinor & compa.ny here?

A Yes.

©Q And they are kgpt by you, in your own hiuidwr;ting? A Yes..

Q And does that book which you hand me oontain a record

.of the enti‘moe 1nto the employ of L. Weiner of all employes,

und whether they are still employed or not? A Yes, nir.

Q low, turn to that book, and tell us, if you please, wheﬁlt_._'

Abe Axler ever worked for L. Weiner? A Yes, he did.

Q  Beginning when? A In the beginning of September.

And do you remember that of your own accord? A Yes, sir.

Q
Q You remember it, do you?! A Yes.
Q

iow, when did he leave the employ?

'BY THE COURT:

Q September; 1929 K Yes, sir.

'u MR. DONOHUE:

Q Now, when did he leave that employment, the amployunt

of Mr. Weiner? A March, 1930.
Q What 'partioular day in March? A

of March, about the 10th or 13th.

It was a.bout themiddle -

Q And have you a record of all the people employed by that §

March

firm, from @stskax/l0th up to October of this year? A Yes, sir. A

-

"Q Do you know when he ceased to be in the employ of .

b o e




‘"crch, 1920, did he? A Yes, sir.

receiving $35 a week, af ter March, 19301 A After that he
: wasn't working steady, and so he wasn't on thelist of permanent

- employes.

_ ber, 1930.

m there after tcﬂ A wm.. he

m ﬂhl !et a wnt or two now and thon. of £ nnd on.

was
; Q And/he worung for Mr. Weiner in October, 19317 A Yes,

_about two weeks.

Q What two weeks were they? A Well, from the middle of
October. | ‘ :

Q Until when? A About the end of October.

Q@ Did he cease then? , Yes, sir..

Q. .And he ‘didn't work there on October 34th, didhe? A I
don't know the exact date. '

Q Iell. he left the employment as a permanent employe, in

Q Can you tell us how much money he drew trom March, 1930,
up to dater A Yes —— as a whole?
Q Yes? A No. I didntt figure it up.

Q Ioll was he on the payroil as a permanent unploye,

-

Q WNow, have you produced the books up to datet A No, sir;

i.
4
J
3

it isn't up to date.

Q Up to what date have you produoed them? A Up to Bepton-

Q leptﬁbir, 1930t A Yes, sir.
" o Well. have you Produced the books for 19311 A BNo.



w '1 M are ut uu cftteo. 1
| Q m moro ie your place? A In 17th stroot.

MR, DONOHUE: l(q 1 look at the books, pleue‘l’ tho ,

phoo to which yo\ﬁeforred boforot Where is that place?

m WITNESS: Here (indicating).

e e
ML k

BY m. DONOHUE:

ot

Q lhioh putaoular entry do you rei'er to, Miss Witness?

S S s o T

A This one (indicating).
| Q Well, what was his salary while he was working for 'you.?
. A Well, he started at a low salary, and --
BY THE ‘COURT: len, we don't know what a low salary means.
: Ilut a1d he start witht A $13.
BY MR. DONOHUE: .

Q 4nd what was ho'getting when he left there, as a pemo;t:
iwloy'ﬂ A $15 a week, |

Q And what was his position there? A He was an all aro
m.-‘ but he used to assist the ocutter at .times.

Q 4nd what was his salry in 1930, ;vhen he left? A He left
in March, the permanent employ. A

Q 4nd what was his salary then? A '$15.A

Q And can't you tell us from your own knowledge how of ten _
he was paid , from Maroh, 1920, wp to October, 19311 A I couldn_v_-" '
tell you. | . “

Q Well, you were there yourulf‘l A Yes, I know; but 'I
_-n't m« 1t without the book. :




months steady?. A No, sir. He did work for

two monthe, at a _l;fretoh. & i

Q At a stretoh? A Yes, sir.

Q Now, Ipust wish to see if I can refresh your roool:ldotion.
- Miss Gpd;lnm._ Dmn't you tell mé, during recess, that he left :
your ﬁployment in March, 19207 A Yes, sir; perm;nent qnplomt.ﬂ
BY THE COURT: ' )

Q Can you give us any better idea thah you have as to how
lmuoh time he put 1n there, since March of last year? A No, sir; 4
because I didn't look up my records.

- Q But, 1ndep§ndent of your records, did he work a week at

a time.or a month at a time? Have you any idea whether he
worked six months at a time? A It is possible that he did,
1 couldn't tell you exact.

Q You don't know? A WNo, sir.

BY MR. DONOHUE:

Q Miss Goodman, have you -- after fou talked to me, did you
talk to Mr. Birnbaum, the defendant's brother in law? A I divdn't:-‘
talk to anybody. -

MR. DONOHUE: Come forward, Mr. Bi rnbaum.

Q Didn't you talk to this ganﬁ;eman, out in the hall (indi-
cating)? A Yes, out in the hall I did.

; Q Do you know who he is? A ©¥o, sir. '
MR. DONOHUE: ~He is Charles Birnbaum, if your Honor . 3

,;nnq00~




mﬂ ut cyunq du-ootly to one another at all. !_horc "),

nro quto a tow peoplo tharo.

~him? A T didn't get into comversation with him directly;
- I was talking to Mr. Ettinger.

 were brought down here for? A Yes, sir.

55

 him tut ho worked until lu.roh, 1930, that ‘he ud wrk ttoa

Q ;lon; how did you mnage to get into conversation with

Q This man, do you mean (indicating)? A He was in the
crowd _tﬁore.
Q And did he come over and speak to you? A Yes.

Q Did you tell him and those other people there what you

Q How did you come to talk to those people? A‘ Because I
knew Mr. Ettiqgar.

Q Then you éhanged your séeyy after you spoke to me, d.idn'iy'
you? A How did I change the story? | | ]

Q Didn't you tell me thar. Abe Axler left the em‘ploy- of
your firm, of the concern, in March, 19201 A Yes, l_u'. 2

Q And then, after that, you spoke to these men that I have 3
pointed out?‘ A No, sir; it was before I spoke to you.
BY THE COURT: T

Q Why didn't you ;911 the Dint_riot _A}tqrney that af ter lh.ro

1930, this man did work ococasionally tbry*ur concern? A Be-




'!‘ IR. nououm

Q 'rm. 10 the officer who brought you down hore, is it not

_' (1pdid.,t1ng),‘ officer Foray? A Yes, eir. But we didn't come'
down together. He come over to the place, and he had a lﬁbpooh i

for lﬁ.-. loino‘r.

Q And didn't he ask you up there how long Abe Ax;ler workod

for your oompany? A Yes, sir. .

Q And what d1d you tell him? 4 Just what I told you.

Q What did you tell him? A I told him that he was in
permanenf employ from September to March. ..
- Q Didn't you say to the ofﬁ.(}:er,.von th_o. way down, Miss :
: Goom; that he left the employ of your. company in Ma.rch; 192017 -
A AYe-,,he did, ‘

Q And _did yoﬁ mention anything abou‘t his géing back ftor
tempoary empbyment‘l A lo. I didn't,

Q It was only after you spoke to these men in the audionco ',

] that you said he worked temporarily for your concern after Muoh.

o1

19207 A I didn't speak to these men at all, not to those poopld.~ 1

Q What were you talking to them about? A I knowthat man
for a long time, and I spoke about things in general.

Q You mean Mr. Ettinger'r A Yes.

Q Who e Mr. Ettinger? ‘A A brother in law of Abe Axler..

Q And 18 he the gentleman who 18 in B\uinan uth Mr. Bi.rn-s #

,\ml L I don't know._



Q m 18 in mtnouhtp with somebodyt A I don't kaw.
Q low. you have a book, you say, up at 7our pluoe. ct your
ofﬂoo. that would show whether Ave Axler worked for the concern

n.fto: March, 19807 ‘A Yes, -1:.

Q In your own handwriting? A Yes, sir.

BY THE COURT:

el
T S ;
v

L 2

Q Why didn't you bring that book with you? A  Because I

L : didn't think it was necessary.
BY MR. DONOHUE:

Q Didn't the officer ask you to bring your books? 4 This :5,_

book (indicating). I showed it to him, T

THE COURT: All right. Ppoduce the ¥ook, | Bis utnuo

. ‘ will remain 1n sourt, and someone else will go up and get

the book. Are you through with-the witneu, Mr. Donohue?

MR. DONOHUE: Yes, sir.

o PR o e b S S

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. ROSENBERG: :
Q You are a bookkeeper of thefirm of L. ielin'er?' A Yel,ur‘..
Q Did yoﬁ come down to this courthouse with Ofificer Foray? |
A 1 did not. : :
Q Dia "you come down alone? A Yes, sir.
.Q Mr. Donohue seemed, by his questions, to think that you
b came down with Mim. A No, I didn't. 1 met him in the lobby.

the hcllway.

Q When did you firet hear about this case? 4 When the




kel R e

fat did the o r say? A He asked me for Mr. We
© and 1 sasd
business, and that I could teke Mr. Weiner's place.

he was out. And then he told me the uﬁu. of his ‘

- Q And you came down with the booke? A 1 did.
. MR, ROSENBERG: hat 1s all.

THE COURT: Now, do you want the book, Mr. District

S

Attorney? £ % 4

'~ MR, DONOHUE: Yes, sir; I think the jury would like to .

s S RS e

,ioo it.

it

THE COURT: Officer Foray, accompany this young lady

T

= e M

up to her place of business, Where 1is 1“t1

THE WITNESS:  17th Street and Fifth Avenue.f

THE COURT: This officer, will go up with you, Miss,
i ' ’ tb get that book. And dbring it down immediately, with any

other.records, cards, or memoranda that in any way indicate

i e

the time that this defendat spent in your employ, after

March, 1930, together with the amounte that were paid him

BRI L Ty, % i kel B

: for that work, WNow, do you understand?

 THE WITNESS: I do. j ly
THE COURT: Very well. The officer will go up with

you. An’d return as soon as possible, |
MR. DONOHUE: In the meéntimo may I rooail of ficer
Bottaent - ; ’ :

THE COURT: - Yes, you may call any witness that you

desire.
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‘arrest did you search them? A I did, sir.

them? A About 10:30 in the morning.

WITHESS: Wo, sir. , |
' THE COURT: Nobody that oould be telephoned to?

- R

A

A' -
4
4

THE WITNESS: No, eir.

| THE QOURT: A1l right. Tien you and the officer may go

together,

HENRY F. HOTF F M AN, being recalled by the District
 Attormey, testified as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, DONOHUE:

Q VNow, officer, when you placed these defendants under

Q And about what time of the day was 1t‘tha.t yoﬁ searched
Q And how much money did you find on Simon Axler? A Sovon
cents. ' |
Did you find a hundred dollars in his pocket? A Wo, "13,:.-'
Of ahy bille at all? A No, sir. ' 1
You just found seven cents? A Yes, sir.

.Did you search Abe Axlerf A Yes, sir.

Did you find any money on him? A None at all.

Absolutely none at all? A Yes, sir.

| .

There was only seven cents between them? A Yes, sir.

O o o o L © O ©O

And thet was at 10:30? 4 Yes, sir.

L-.._, -.L‘.-:f‘_ R




(Objected to. Allowed.)

!

A No, sir.

Q Yoo knew 14 wes against the law to search them, _didn't"'
MR. DONOHUE: I object to that. | _

THE COURT: Objection sustained. It is not againet

the law, It is the officer's dufy to search any man that hi

makes a prisoner. :

. BY MR. ROSENBERG:

Q And did you take the fingerprints of these young men?
¥ _‘ A Yes, sir. |

Q And you knew that wae against the law, didn't you?

s

% : (Objected to. Sustained. Excep tion.) ; :
’L Q g Did you have fhese young men‘photogra_phed- for the Roguu:’i'f:
L' Gallery? A Yes, sir. | » i ' :

Q Did you know that was against the law? o

A

(Objedted to. Allowed.)
A VNo, sir.

MR, ROSENBERG: That's all.

MR. DONOHUE: That is all. If your Honor please,
: I think that 4s all we can do until the girl returns with
the books, and theﬁ, I think, both sides will rest. i

THE COURT: You have nothing further to prount.' Mr.

~ Rosenbey ;
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Bet? A Yes, sir,

' DONOHUE:  They went up in a machine, and so

‘7 bc m¥'laon.' |
; THE COURT: We will take a recess gor hnhtr minutes.
Don't leave the oourtroom..gentiemcn. If you want to
”‘ll'noko you can go back to the jury room, or stay here, or
do anything that you like, but don.'t go out nlxto the
corridor,  You had better s tay either here ‘or in the jury
room, |
Don't talk about the case among youselves, even at this °
i time, It 15 very important that you should not discuss .
the case among yourselves, or form or express any oi:iuioﬁ
about it. <

We will take a recess now until five minutes past

three o'clook.

AFTER RECESS:

DORA  GOODMAN, . being recalled by the District
Attorney, for redirect examination, téatified as follawi:
REDIRECTEXAMINATION BY MR. DONOHUE: " :
Q Now, Miss Goodman, since you left the stand, did you go

back to your office? A Yes, sir.

@ 'And did you endeavor to locate the book thast you went to

.

o "
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' m you are tho bookkuper there, are you not? A Yn,
Q And you In.von't tho combination of tho safe? A I have
the combination, but not the key for the inside door.

Q Well, you knew that when you were on thestand here bofoz‘?

A Well, Mr. Weiner then was in,at that time. \ 5 ""l'ia
Q low. were there not _two people in the office when you '- %

~ left there? , Yes. :
Q And weren't they there when you got back? , Yes, but

' they are only working people.

Q Didn't you, in the presence of the officer, when you left.,!.;'
" tell them where you were going and when you would be back? A YO!
Q Now, do you mean to tel»l us that there is really a book
ouoh' as you have desoribed? A Yes, sir. '
Q Kept by you? A Yes, sir. |
Q _A'nd you couldn't bring it downfr A Yes, l'il‘.
Q Beda.uu you haven't the combination of the inside part ij‘:

the safe? A I haven't got the key.

. | i -~ Q Where dd you keep this book, do you say? p In the s'n.to-. i |
. ‘ Q Well, the outﬁide door of the safe was open, was .:l.t nﬁt?
A Yes, sir.

Q You opened this morning, didn't yout , Yes.

.Q- And you haven't got the key of the doorlinudo of the

safe? A No, sir.

:
|
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_ THE COURT:  Proceed.
'BY MR. DONOHUE:

.

And you have ‘not been able to produce the book? A ilo, .

Do you know where Mr. Weiner is? A No, sir.

Q
Q
Q And have. no idea? A No, eir.
Q

lgll, have you refreshed your recollection as to when this

Rt
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defendant Abe Axler worked fgr the concern, sino‘e March, 1920,
how of ten he worked for your .piaoe? A lld, sir; I don't know
d.efini.teiy_'withotit. the books. |
Q Now, let us see. Pid you hear when he was arrested?
A VNo, sir,
‘ Q When did you first hear about this case? , When the
officer came up. | :
- Q You had never heard of it before? A WNo, sir. .
Q And you can't tell us when the last time ygix saw him in
your :plaoe was? - In October. A
8 Are you sure you éaw him in October? A Yes, sir. 4
. Q And how long ih October was he there? A About two weeks.
Q Which two weeks? A Which twé weeks? |
Q Yes. The first, last, or middle, or when? _A The first
two weeks. - y :
Q Pardon me? A The firet two weeks.

Q beg_inning on October lst?t p Yes.




Q Whioh week was. thaty A _About the third week.
L Q Tho'tﬁirﬁ to the fourth? A Yes, sir.
; ;:f‘ Q Then, as matter of fact, didn't he work the first two
weeks in October, and the last week in Septepbﬁr? A Yes.
'  Q Three ioeka iteady? A Yes, sir. |
Q Now, are you sure of'thaf1 A Yes, sir.
kQ And whenrdid he work there before that?t A Judy or
August, I can't remember definitely. i ®
: Q Are you sure that it was not in the early part of
September? A No, sir. | ‘
Q_ He just worked omeweek in sethmber, and that was thoiialf;
week? A Yes, iir; .

Q And did he work there in August? A 1 can say Whether it

was lnguct or July. ¢
] is not _ o
Q You say this book -- fkat/this Xx the book that you have..

in

in mind, as being/the ineide part of the safe? Isn't that

kept by daily entriee? A No, sir.

~4 Q How often do you take it out of the safe? A Once a week. '

Q How do you get 1t? Where do you get the key? A Busino-o;

18 dull nowand we have no occasion to use it, and, therefore,
~ I don,t have any key. : J
Q Don't you use the book all the time? A 1 did, once a 7
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tbnk. mo a wut? A The only book I use is tho payron book.
Ve hwe ouda that we have to mark time on. _
Q low, ybu‘get your time £hat you enter in tﬁi; book from F.Ai
carde? A fo’u, sir. ’ i Tk ~ '
- Q Where are the o'ud- kept? A Well, a gt boy that worked
there like thgt.»we never kept any cards for him,
' Q How was he paid when he worked there steadily? A By tﬁo
week.
‘Q ‘On what day of the week? A On lednelday.‘
Q lﬂd.did he present himself to you for his pay? A Yel.litj
Q And when he came on a !edneaday, we will say, in Saptdnhot;
for hie pay, how would you know how much pay to give him? A iolll
it was the same cvery week. ;
| Q But it wasn't the same since Mnroh, 1920, was 1t? A lo,li!T
Q Nlon.‘my question 1skduring the time that you say he

was working on and off, how would you know how mahy days & week

he worked, when he came to get his pay on Wedneedays? A Well,

he always worked a full week, if he worked at all. 2
Q Did he work for the whole week in September? A Yes, sir. i

Q And how much did he receiver 4 $35.

Q Although the highest amount he was getting in March

and 5eforc.thut. was $151 -A Yes, sir. But, when we needed him

L RSN

to work for just a week or so, we paid him more.
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" October? A No, sir.

Q .Did'uo ever :ooeivo'Oss a week? A io, eir,

Q' And what was it in Septqhhor{_ Azltéga

Q How would you know that he worked the full week when he

. came to you #or hise pay? A I am there all the time, ahd I wduld

. see him all the time.

Q So that he could not have worked there without you lbotng

“him? A VNo, sir.

Q Now, this is December, 1931. Two months ago you say he

workoa tpére for yqu? A Yes, sir.

0 Bor how many weeks? A Three weeks.

Q Three weeks in October? A Two in October andxonﬁ in
September. ‘

-Q Only one week in Septémbor? A Yes, sir.

Q And do iou know when he quit vori in botober? A About
B8 1. B woiked Ahe fives W waeks in OSveber..

Q So that you say he didn't work there after the 15th of

Q You are quite sure about thatf A Yes, sir,

Q - You are sure that he was not working there on the 30th?
A lo,‘cir. -

Q Of October?t A No, sir.

THE COURT: I have nothing further.

i e e




Q Now, this is the book for 19207 A Yes, sir.
Q And that shows all the employes who worked for your firm
during 19207 A Yes, sir. ‘

Q And the 1ant entry you have of Abe Axler working for yon

in that year 1- Haroh IOﬁh? A Yes, sir.
Q And there is no further entry in this book relating to hllﬂ B
A Ye-, sir. ‘
Q And that is the only book you kept for 19207 A Yes, llr.v{
Q 8o that you can say positivoly that he did not work for 3
your firm aftef March, N9307 vA But that book isn't fqr the 'hél‘?a
year 1920, ie it? '
Q It 1i up to September 15th, 1930 A Yes, sir.
Q@ You aré sure, are you, that he did not wo:k for yourifig.fﬁ
from March 10th up until September 15t£: the last entry in this 1i
_book? A Yes, sir. » | ‘ | .

MR. DONOHUE: That is all. Theireople rest, if your

Honor please.

THE COURT: Do both sides rest? _ ‘ 1@
MR. ROSENBERG: Yes, sir. e &
Now, I move fhat the Dicfrict Attorney be compelled to '
oleot on which count of this indictment he intendes to proooc‘.d _'

or go to the jury. ~ : 2 i -,r




 MR. DONOHUE: May I say, your Horor, that the Distrs

; Attornoy would nko to go to the jury on both the counts of‘;

Fid
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in the Penal Law, Section 406, which authorizes the sub-

_dioho_nt upon which a pleader charges one orime, committed
" : - ] ] 3 ::f

burglo,ry and grand larceny? .

IIR. ROS];IB!:RO: This being the first 1nt1muon that |
the DistriotAlttorney intended to prooeed upon two counts of
thg'indiotment, or i;pon the charge of larceny and bul;gln.ry,

oombined, the defendants object to the submission of thie

case to the jury upon those counts, upon the ground that thi

indictment is not predicated or framed upon the law descri

mission of both charges to the jury, ‘This indictment is
predicated upon an indictment whioh ‘sets out thrae'orin!l;i,
or rather, one crime, oomitted in three different ways,
and 1t was nos Latendes by this indictment, and the defend- f?
ants ha.ve not been advised by this indictment, but it m ‘
intended to charge them with thie aggravated bﬁfglary, or
aggravated larceny, that is, the burglary with the larc'ony.
or the iaroeny wi ththe burglary.
THE COURT: The indictment charges the deronu;nf.-

vﬂth burglary in the third degree and with grand larceny in

the first degree.

MR. ROSENBERG: Yes, sir; that is th;ordinary 1n?

e s
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three 'ocunt-, he intends to rely upon. But, ﬁord there

is an aggravated ;b'urgh.ry-or' larceny, under thies section of
tﬁo Code, I ‘claim that the indictment should mo‘de.fond&ntl,’ i
'_lnd advise i:hem b_y the indictment; that they are to be :
chirged with this aggravated crime. '
mﬁOOURT: I do not understand thit the Code provi-

i
, i
sion, or the provision of the Penal Law, says anything = ]

about an aggravation of the orime. The provision is that

. : : such
a burglar who, having entered a building, under/circumstances
as to constitute burglary in any degree, commits any orim'

therein, is punishable therefqre, as well as for the

burglary, and may be prosecuted for each orime spparately,
or in the same indictment.

Now, as I mead the indictment, they are éharged with
burglary, and, in a.dditién‘theroto, are bhgrgéd nth-hl..viag r\
commi tted grand larceny, upon the same ﬁremisee. and in
B connection with the burglary, and it does appear to me thlt.-".

if there ie any case ‘which this aeotion'of the law that you -
~ " eite was designed to cover, it is this case.

| _ MR. ROSENBERG: But, where the People intend to rely

upon that law, I claim that it is necessary to gllege in i

- the indictment, as one count, the charge of burglary and

larceny.




'cmutc gharge of Itrclny or Imrghry.

I was first advised that it was intended to charge the

THE COURT: There is no obnguuon on the part 6! the

People to pro_nht separate indioctments.

in. ROSENBERG: ‘Then, if they don't prosecute them
by separate indictments, if they want to come within the
provision or purview of that statute, 1 claim that _1£ is
necessary to include in the one count the oﬁargo of burglary
and lgroony. ;

low; this i8 not a mtter entire free f:rom foubt,

the claim that I make, your Honor; and in all fairness,

I will say that thequeatlon came up in the Appellate Divi- 'j'

lion. in the case of the People against Pobolowsky, and also f

in the case ofs of Maloney and !'errick.

Now, in the Ferrick caee, the question was not rn-od

on tho trial, and I raised the question, for the tiret tiu,_}

at the Appellate Division, and I was be_aten. The conviouon,f

was affirmed, without an opipion.
And the Maloney and Ferrick case I tried before Judge
Mulqueen, and I took exception to the court submi tting the

case upon both counts, after the case was closed, and when

double offense, and the Appellate Divieion affirmed fhut

case, without an opinion.




too late in those cases.

i

‘when Ir.nomm. for the first time, advised us that he

intends to olaim a conviction on both counts, 1 take the
; objidﬁon now, for the first time, and that i1s why I say ‘

I think T am entitled -~ that I am in uﬁe. rather, -~

ﬂu_.t' the objection is 'timly taken.

THE COURT: Have you any authority for the suggestion

that you make? |
e : L MR. ROSENBERG: The only authority that I have - |
e | SR 00URS:  Jusy & pomend. . Thab thers must be ¥

: ’ lpeoiq and particular form of indictment, in which the

: » crime of burglary and the orime of grand laroeny shall be
merged into one count? Have you any authority for .thutt

‘ ', : MR. ROSEIBtRG: Yes, eir, if your Honor will send up
k. ' e the District Attorney's library., They have the case of
r : b4 ‘Maloney g'nd Ferrick there. | : ;
: 3 ) THE COURT: Yes, but the Appellate f)iviﬁion. on the

preoisé point raised by you, has decided against you.

MR. ROSENBERG: But I was late.

THE (‘;OURT: But. the Appellate Division does not say lu.,fiﬁi
¥ . |
1

3 : .
They did not write an opinion at all, did they?
; MR. ROSENBERG: No, sir. Ahd, in the second caﬁe,
b . I took objection when Judge Mulqueen charged the jury and

apparently I was late then.




on T & ﬂ.ut mz«a. and the Muldlntl are ﬁnt
G uvind. that 4t ie intended to hold them on thu doublo

; ohargo, undor the ohargo contained in the 1nd.10tnent, 1 take

the on.rly opportunity to say that we object to that pro-

oodnro.

B, S

. e THE COURT: ~ The Court will submit this case to the jury

on the first count of the indiotment, charging burglary im

the third degree, and on the second count of the 1n¢nqtlunt.

charging gra.nd larceng in the first dogree. under the

Lt L e et e I

authori ty of Section 406 of the Penal Law, and to thnt you . o
may ta.ke"yo,ur ox’oept;qn. and that will protect your rig_h,tq.‘
R MR. ROSENBERG: We take ‘exception, sir. Will your

; Honor adjourn now? It is a quarter of four o'olook.. Are

we expected to sum up now?

THE COURT: 'oil. Proceed for the pro_sei;t.

(Mr. Rosenberg then summed up for the defenlo,'

"and Mr. Donohue closed the case for the People.) -

A
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. Talley, J.

" of the value of four hundred dollars each, seven other costs,

Gentlemen of the Jury:
_ ' The defendants in thim case
were indicted for the orime of burglary in the third degree
‘tnd grand larceny in the first degree. The names 5: the
defendants are Abraham Axler and Simon Axler, and they are
oharged with the orime of burglary, im that, on the 34th of
October, 1921, they feloniously and burglariously broke and
entersd the premises of & firm doing busimess under the name
of Schelnick, Friedman & Appelbaum, with intent to commit &
ort‘iithorotn, and to steal the property of that co-partner-
ship. )

 There is a further count in the indictment which
charges them with grand larceny in the first degree, in that, U

o

on the same day and at the same place, they took five coats,

of the value of two hundred dollars each, and certain pieces

of fur, of the value of tweanty dollars each, the property of
this co-partnership, and that they stole and carried those

articles away.
Now, gentlemen, this is the indictment to whioch I

have called your attention (indicating the indictment), and
I charge you that you are not to indulge in any presumption
against these defendants, or either of them, merely because

théy have been indiocted, because an indiotment is nothlagr
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‘more or less than an aococusation in writing, its purpose
" being to bring the defendants into court, aﬁ‘ to advise

them of the details and partioculars of the orime which
thoy'urd_roqntrod to meet.

3

At the outset, let me advtlobyou that it is tin
law that a person ocomcerned in the oon-tooton'ot & orime,
vhothor he: direotly commits the lct constituting the o!-
fon-o, or aids and abets in its commission, and whoth.r

present or absent, and a person who directly or indireotly

counabls, commands,!induces or procures amother to commit
a orime, is & principal. In othor'-ordn, gentlemen, the
law recognizes no distinction in responsibility for orime
as between those who are concerned in the commission of

the orime and one who takes any part in briaging about the

result which we call the commission of the orime, and that
person is equally guilty with everybody else concermed in X

the commission of that orime.

Perhaps the best w;y to 1llustrate that principle
of law is by this illustration: A man may go up to the
third floor of a building, and there commit a orime of any
dooortption, and he may h;v§ an dacoiplico standing upon
the oidnwtlk,'or'acroos the street from that building,
acting as a look~-out, and vatohin; for the police. The
look-out acfose the street, who never enters the building,

‘Af he 1s there for the purpose of giving warning to his

accomplice on the third floor of that building, is held,




under ihp law, to an equal degree of_ri.pqli;btiity with
" the man who ie on the third floor of that building, be-

. onuse he is conocerned in the commission of that orime.

He is there, it is true, only as a sentinel, only as & :
look-out, his hand may never touch zhe stolen article, or
: tﬁo person who ie assaulted, but he is reguxded as equally
culpable with the man who is inside of the bullding, as
thoﬁgh he héad hi-aclf entered it, and actullly taken part
g ; - in the crime, becau-o there are no degrees of responsibility °
for orime, once a man goes into the project of committing a
crime with other men.

You, gentlemen, are the exclusive judges of the facts
in this case. Your province as judco. of the faocte is to
determine where the truth lies. Both sides of this case
cannot be tilling the truth, that is sure. The otf&ogrl'

" testimony must be false, with regard to both of these de-

L  femdants, if these defendanta have told you the trath, be-

| cause they cannot possibly stand together; and, l;vj“d‘Cl
of the facts, your task i1e to find out where the truth lies;

and, in arriving at that conclueiom, you have the right to

bring into play in this case, your common sense, your ex- '

p&rionoo and your knowledge of mankind. You havorthn right
to judge the manner of all the -1tno-io- in this case, their
manner of to-tttying, and determine from all of the olo-onto
whioh you bring imto the jury box, when you begin yon: ts-k _
as judges of the fscts in this case. You have a right to J;Q

htln; them ip, and apply them to each bit of testimonmy, .a‘ JQ
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each witness who appears upon the stand. 3

You might inquire imto the interest that each wit~
ness has inthe outoome of this case. You might tmtu as
to ny these two ponom., who undoubtedly did -no an
nrnt of the persons who were in this tmlu ou and
oarrying away this complaining uromt'u goods, and you

.might inquire why they came to this place in the oar. The
officers testified that they trailed them, these two de-

fendants, around from about three o'clock in the after-
noon until seven o‘'clock in the e'nninc of this day, and
they desoribed to you in detail their ocircuitous movements
from 83rd to 37th Streets, and through those streets to
4th and Sov.ont'h'heimu; and you might consider what motive,
Af any, they have in coming into this court-room,and saying,
"These are the two men whom we trailed, and who entered that
building 166 West 37th Street, and who conferred with
Rosenberg and Fershing, and were there when theyarrested
Rosenberg and Fershing, and Blume, the driver of the oar.
You may inquire what interest these defendants had, :
this being the trisl of the indictment against them, to coler :

‘" or fabricate their testimony, because of their imnterest in

the oase. In other words, you may examine and sorutinise
the testimony of every witmess by these common-place but
intensely pruuo’u teste, whioh the average man applien” to
every statement, the truth of 'h'ioh _bpconn an issue, as it

does in thie case.




There were oc:tsin rulings during this case that

.'O!. made by the Court. You have no oo-norn.tn them,
'l.oan-o they are matters of lnw nud they are determined
by the Court as matters of law, bocause he is the judgs . )
fef thn law, while you are the judges of the faots, and ‘ :
bofh of us are supreme in our respective domain, and

one province must not overlap the other. ,

These defendants are entitled to, and must receive
certain sxtremely important safeguarde whioh our form of |
law throws around ﬁho form of every defendant in a oriminal ;ﬁ
oude. ' “

The firet of these is that these twd defendants are
presumed to be innooent until their guilt is proven, and
the second is that their guilt must be proven to your
nuttofﬁotlon, beyond & reasonable doubf. :

_ ¥When we say that they are presumed to be innocent
unitl their guilt is proven to your satisfsction, beyond a
reasonable doubt, we mean this, that trey are not required

to oome into court because they have been indicted, and

prove that they are inmnocent of this orime. On the com-
trery, the burden is on the People to prove their guilt,
and they could remain in their seats, without saying & word
in thie case, they could stand mute, and demand that the
distriot sttorney prove that they were guilty of this orime .
of burglary and larcemy. That is the burden which the Pbbpiqgﬂ

have undnit-kon to sustain, the burdenm of satisfying you »
beyond & reasonable doubt that these two defendants are m



and, if you believe that they did those things, then you '

‘charged .

‘oumstances. It is not a mere guess, it is not a whim or

_where all must stand equal before the law, and be ldmu

men who did the things that the officers state they did;

may find them guilty of the orime with which they are

B e L e RS

A reasomable doubt is a doubt that arises ia raaeon .

It is & doubt that any sensible man might have about any

of the ordinary affaire of his business or domestioc life,

after a oaroml and oconsciencious review of all tho oir-

surmise, and it sust mot be used as a subtédruge to avo“
doing a disagreeable duty. If there is a reasonable doubt
in your mimd, it must be an homest doudbt that arises from
the testimony, and from nothing else. It must not arise
through sympathy or prejudice of any oharacter,for those
emotions have no place in & jury box or im a oourt room,

by the testimony in the ocase, and by nothh' else.

The law does not require that the guilt of th de~ -
fendants be proved to a jury to #thoutlul certainty.
So few of the things of life are subject to that omtnu

of proof that, to put such a burden upon the district attormey |

‘of this county would be giving him a heavier load than he

could possibly be expected to carry. It would be placing upon
him too great a burden for him to sustain. It is mot. : )

" mathematical certainty that a jury must have, but it is

proof beyond a reascnable doubt that they must have, before

" they are called upon to comviot; and if, after a careful



' Teview of all the testimony in this case, you have a
reasonable doubt that these two defendants were the men
who participated, or were comcerned in the burglary of ‘
these premises, thenm you must aoquit them. But if you e
have u reasonable doubt that they were the men who were |

£d ' voomiud in the commission of this ori-&, then it would be

; an unthinkable thing, gentlemen, if, being satisfied of that

faot, you failed to do your duty, and failed to coaviot
them of the orime charged; because, after all is sald and
done, the ultimate enforoement of the law of this land de-
pends ﬁp,on whether or not jurors do their duty. If twelve
men like you shrink from your duty, if you exercise the
power that is yours to send guilty men out, unwhipped of
justice, after being satisfied by the evidence, beyond &
reasonable doubt, of thotlr-mtit, it needs no words to in-
. dlcate the seriousness of such a situation. All that is re-

quired of you twleve men u.t-hat you do exact justioce, .
justice that is exaot with respect to these two defendants,

and justice that is exact with respect to the People of the
County of New York, who are equally entitled to ooutdotsu'n.; ¥
The defense in this case gyontlom, 1s what is known as

an alibi. They say that they were oluvh.ro, that they were
not at '27th Sereet and Seventh Avenue, in the County of New
York, on the day and at the time that the police ottnor-

say that they saw them, and they have taken the stand im thedr 4
m‘doﬁuo, and their testimony may and must be scrutinised
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fifﬂi"-‘ll'qllllt as that of any other witnees. They

-  have aoldrzbod to you thot: whereabouts on the 24th of

_ Ootober, and they have told you what they did fto- the
Ol:l! lorainc of that day until late that ntght.

lﬁlll qu}to,lpnifo.t that, if what they have testi-
‘ fipd to 1s fxud, what the officers testified to is false.
The officers do not say that there 1o uny doubt in their
minds that these are the men about whom they were talking.

They say they trailed them around from three o'clock in fho

afternoon until about seven o'clock that evening; that tioy
were watching them; that every move they wmade, these of-
ficers were on their traok. They Qo not'luy'thoy were
tralling two other men, in addition to Rosenberg and
Fershing and Blume, two mén other than these. They say
theae are the two men whose movements they had under ob=-
servation for & period of three or four hours, and that

these are the men that tley put under axr..t, when, by an’

scoxdont; by & coincidente, aes the defendgnts claim, they

-hlppoftto be in the same ocourt room in whioh the men who
were oaught in th.‘nutonobile, with the complainant‘'s
property, were being arraignod before the Iagtutrato.

Now, you see, there is an issue of faot that .gives a
reason for the existence of the jury system. How are we
to determine -hb is telling the truth, how are we going to.
" gtrike & balance between the testimony of the policemen and
these defendants?

Soience has not given us any mechaniocal appltannl hg
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lillblt us who are charged with thn enforcement of th. law

then you are at liberty to dieregard his entire testimony.

" point in thie case.

iii_ we oan n'notruto 1ato the recesses of th!: -iull
ua‘ we have no delicately adju.tof instrument that would

to determine who is tolltng tho ttuth.. |

But the law doo- not loavo'un entirely helplese in
that regard. It says, "We will supply the lack of a
mechaniocal device by the common sense and good judgment of
twelve men, selected from the citizenry of the community,
and we will ansenbli them together, men without interest in
the result, men ooeiing only to do their duty as oitizens,
and ikoill let them determine what witneses or what set of

vitnesses is telling the truth."

R SRR

: " If you believe that any witness in thie case has wil-
fully testified falsely about any matorlul_point in the d;o.,;f

You may throw it out, in ite entirety, if you think that any
witness has doltberatply testified falsely upon any Ilt.!l‘i‘i

Ae to the defense of alibi, you may consider that in

conjunction with all the.othor circumstances of the case. T!f}‘
rule is that, taking the whole case together, taking the

evidence for the prosecution and the evidence respecting the

~alibi, if the jury has any reasolable doubt of the guilt of

the defendants, they must aoquit. 1If, ae I have said, taking
the whole case together, the evidence for the prosecution

and the evidence of the alibi, you have no.rennoncblq doubt
as to the guilt of ‘h. defendants, then it is youi‘duty tp
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proval

It is your recollection of the testimony that mi
1. It i not what the learmed counsel for the
defendant says was testified to, or what the learned _
distriot attorney says was tuﬂ.gtu to; 1t is your recol-
lection -that prevalls.  .

1 do not see any nooonhy for reminding you of the
testimony, or for reading any portioms of it to you, It
must be as fresh in your mind as it is in that of the Oourt.
You are mot to reach a verdiot, gentlemen, based on any
oﬁ“&vdr to ascertain what the Court thinks of the guils
or innocence of the defendant. The Court has mo right to
bave an opimion on that matter at all, at this stage of the
case, because whether they are guilty or imnocent is a ’
question of fact, and that is in your domain. It does mot
come within the province of the Court.

With the comsequences of your verdiot, you -io not
concerned, gentlemen. What happens after your verdict is
rendersd must be of no -”nt to you. That is the res-
ponsibility of the Court, & responsibility which the Court
ie unwilling to share with the jury. Your provxnﬁo is simply
to do exaot Ju.fico to both sides of this case; neither

more nor less than that.

Your verdict will be guilty of burglary im the third
degree, or guilty of grand larceny in the first degree, or
guilty of burglary ia the third degree and grand larcemy ia
the first degres, or not guilty. '

- s . oo



the unutso- of burglary in the third degree as uuuc

‘extermal, of a building, or the opening, for the purpose

‘sage from one part thereof to another.

lov. in oruz that you mey nomny uunnu b
th law says oonuntu those orimes, I will read to m

by the law: - L
‘A person who, with intent to commit a orime therein, ;.
breaks and enters & hmn‘, or a roo-, or any part of a
mudn., is guilty of burglary in tho third degree."
‘The word "break® is defined in the statute as the

breaking or violemtly detaching of any part, internal or

of entering therein, by any means whatever, any outer door
of a building, or any spctnnt, or set of apartments, or
any window, shutter, socuttle or other thing used for cov-
ering or ocloeing and oponiu thereto, or which gives pas- :

If & door is locked, and & mam, with intemt to Gommit
a orime, opens that door, the law says that is a sufficieat
breaking; and, if he crosses the threshold, it is a suf-
ficient entering to comstitute the breaking ud entering

-

which the law requires to constitute burglary.

The complainant testified that, when he left his place
of buliiiui, the night preceding, he looked the doox, m
that, when he next came to his premises, the look was brokea,
and & new look, & police lock, was in its place. If you

bolhio the complaining witnese's testimony, there is evi- :
dence that you may comsider of the breaking of the premises
of the gomplainant. :



'o. that you may understand why the indioctment names ._

v ununaantnudynuluuuoruuuqxaw;’ 7;

| ~ first or second degree, let me indicate to you that th.o "

essential elements of burglary in the first dn;rn' are the
entering of a.dwelling house in the night time, with the

intention to commit & orime, when the person aocused of
burglary in the firet degree is armed with a dangerous
weapon, or is aoccompanied by an accomplice. Burglary in |
the second degree 1s committed by one iho enters a dwelling
house, in which at the time there is a human being, but not
necessarily in the night time. That is burglary in the
4uooﬂ degrees .

These premises, mot being & dwelling house, but & :
business building, brings the orime » Af a orime was eo-nu‘;
4into the grade of burglary 1n the third degree, which is, g
as 1 have defined to you, braking and entering a building,
not & dwelling house, with the intention of committing &
orime therein. | |

I have stated to you that your verdiot may be guilty of
burglary in the third degree, or it may be guilty of grand
isroony in the first degree, or it may be guilty of both

the orimes, or not guilty.
Larceny is defined, the charge here

and grand laroeny in the firet d

e u «-nn‘ by one iﬂak




property that was taken from his premisesi

‘charged in this 1ndiot-nut. Be not confused as to the form

_jury their right to find the defendants guilty, under this

m m : ¥ of the value of more than five m

dollars. The co-plnla-at toottttod here that the pco’otty
ta question was worth lora than five huadxod dollars, the

8o those are the elements of the orimes that are

your verdict may take. You may find the defendants guilty
of burglary in the third degree, or you may ftn‘ them .utltf
of grand laroeny in the first degree, or you may find them
guilty of burglary in the third do;roo and grand 1.:.031 in
the first degree, both togothor or you may find th.- not
guilty.

Are thorc any requests to charge?

MR. ROSENBERG: Well, I would 1ike to except to‘
that portion of your Homor's charge where you submit to the .

1ndlo§-ont, of burglary and laroeny.

And I aleo cxdopt to that portion of your Homor's
charge wherein you charge the jury on the .-ubjnt that the
jury may disregard the testimony of any witness who, they

find, hae testified falsely, and I ask your Homor to ohnri¢9-, 
THE COURT: No. Just a moment. I did mot so charge.
I said that the Jury may disregard the testimony of any wite
no--; who thby believe; has wilfully testified falsely as to
any material particular of thie o;-o.
MR. ROSENBERG: Then, so far as that io_oonoornci, 1
don 't oz;opt. lht may I ask your Homor to charge in con-

mection with that that the jury are mot bousd to disregerd
3 . s )-}-éé
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‘the testimony of any witness who, they may find, had
testified falsely on a material faot, but that they may,
n.vttthclioo, believe such witness, and the testimony of

o ‘such witness, on matters which they believe to be true,
‘;;§¢A' ‘ even though & witness may have testified falsely on &
E?‘ i material faot?

THE COURT: Yes, I ®0 charge. You are not bound,
g.ntlclnn, to disregard the to-ttlony of any witness that
you may believe has testified falsely on & material matter;
you may OF may not, just as you see fit. Is that all?

| MR. ROSENBERG: Yes,sir, that is all.

Tﬁl COURT: Gontlo-.n, the case is in your hands.

(Thl jury retired at 5:30 P.M., and returned to
the oourt room at 5:40 P.M., finding the defendants guilty
of burglary in the third degree and grand larceny ia the
first degree) ; - '

MR. ROSENBERG: May the motions be reserved, your

- Homorx? : el

THE COURT: Yes. VWill Friday, the 16th, be satis-

factory for sentence? _
MR. ROSEWBERG: Yes,sir. And may 1 reserve all
B X motions to set aside the verdict until that day?
TBE‘OOURT: Yes, 1 hzvo nlro:dy indicated that.
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